

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-2-2013

Mechanisms Of Cytokine-Induced Metabolic Dysfunction Of The Pancreatic Beta-Cell

Abiy Mussa Mohammed *Wayne State University,*

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations Part of the <u>Medicinal Chemistry and Pharmaceutics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Mohammed, Abiy Mussa, "Mechanisms Of Cytokine-Induced Metabolic Dysfunction Of The Pancreatic Beta-Cell" (2013). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. Paper 786.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



MECHANISMS OF CYTOKINE-INDUCED METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION OF THE PANCREATIC BETA-CELL

by

ABIY MUSSA MOHAMMED

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2013

Major: PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES

Approved by:

Advisor

Date

المنسارات المستشارات

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to all my family members who supported me throughout my educational career.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Anjaneyulu Kowluru for his continuous support and guidance throughout the program, without his support and acceptance I would not have completed the program. I would like to extend my appreciation for previous and current members of Dr. Kowluru's lab especially Dr. Arora, Dr. Veluthakal and Khadija for their support and morale while I was doing my project and write-up. I would like also to extend my appreciation to Dr. David Thomas for his guidance and support while I was in his laboratory.

Concerning my project, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Commissaris, Dr. Chen, Dr. Yi and Dr. Hadden for their advice, comments and suggestions through the course of the project.

I would like also to extend my special thanks and appreciation to all my families especially, my wife Bruktawit for their support and encouragement throughout my educational life.

Last but not least, I would like to be thankful for the Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Wayne State University for giving me the chance to join the program; without the support of the department and Dr. Corcoran, all these would have been impossible.



iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedicationii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tablesvi
List of Figuresvii
List of Abbreviationsix
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods 20
Chapter 3: Cytokines activate phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase in pancreatic β -cell 26
Chapter 4: Studies of downstream signaling events involved in cytokine-induced
dysfunction of the islet β-cell
Chapter 5: Preliminary studies to determine potential difference, if any in NOX2
subunit expression and ROS generation in islets from pre-diabetic NOD
mice and the control BALB mice62
Chapter 6: Discussion
Chapter 7: Conclusion and Future directions78
Appendix A Mohammed et al 2013 80
Appendix B Mohammed and Kowluru 2013
Appendix C Arora et al 2013
Appendix D Mohammed et al 201397



Abstract	127
Autobiographical Statement	129



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1: Top fifteen countries of the world with diabetes mellitus in 2012	2
Table 1-2: Projection for top ten countries of the world with diabetes mellitus by 2030	2
Table 1-3: ROS generation and NO release in cytokines-induced pancreatic β-cell dysfunction.	. 17
Table 4-1: Summary of the effects of three pharmacological inhibitors on stress signaling kinases	. 61



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Insulin and its receptor4
Figure 1-2: Beta-cell mass and autoimmune reactivity5
Figure 1-3: Autoimmune destruction of the pancreatic β-cell
Figure 1-4: Pathogenesis of type I diabetes in the NOD mice
Figure 1-5: Biosynthesis of farnesyl and geranyl pyrophosphates
Figure 1-6: Steps implicated in post-translational modification of small G-proteins
Figure 1-7: The prototypical isoform of NADPH oxidase [NOX] and its subunits in pancreatic β-cell
Figure 1-8: A model for oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways and the corresponding antioxidants system
Figure 3-1: IL-1 β , but not TNF α and INF γ , activate ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells 28
Figure 3-2: Cytomix induces phosphorylation of p47 ^{phox} in INS-1 832/13 cells
Figure 3-3: Cytomix increases the expression of gp91 ^{phox} in INS-1 832/13 cells
Figure 3-4: IL-1 β increases apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity in INS-1 832/13 cells
Figure 3-5: Cytomix-induced ROS generation is inhibited by NSC23766 and GGTI-2147 35
Figure 3-6: 2-BP attenuates cytomix-induced ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells
Figure 3-7: Cytomix induces transient activation of Rac1 in INS-1 832/13 cells: inhibition of this signaling step by NSC23766
Figure 3-8: 2-BP attenuates cytomix-induced Rac1 activation
Figure 3-9: Cytomix-induced NO release is inhibited by 2-BP
Figure 3-10: 2-BP attenuates high glucose-induced Rac1 activation
Figure 3-11: Exposure of INS-1 832/13 cells to high glucose leads to apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity
Figure 3-12: Model to implicate the role of palmitoylation in cytokine-induced metabolic dysregulation and apoptosis of the pancreatic β-cell



Figure 4-1: MAP kinase signaling cascade
Figure 4-2: Cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation is inhibited by 2-BP
Figure 4-3: Long term incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with cytomix and 2-BP 48
Figure 4-4: Proteins that regulate Rac1 function
Figure 4-5: Cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation is inhibited by EHop-016
Figure 4-6: Cytomix-induced JNK2 activation is inhibited by NSC2376651
Figure 4-7: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by 2-BP
Figure 4-8: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by EHop-016 53
Figure 4-9: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by NSC23766 54
Figure 4-10: Cytomix-induced CHOP [C/EBP homologous protein] expression is not inhibited by 2-BP
Figure 4-11: Cytomix induces caspase-3 activation
Figure 4-12: Cytomix increases FTase/GGTase α degradation
Figure 4-13: Etoposide induces caspase-3 activation: Protection of this signaling step by Z-DEVD-FMK, an inhibitor of caspase-3
Figure 4-14: Etoposide induces FTase/GGTase-α degradation: Protection of this signaling step by Z-DEVD-FMK, an inhibitor of caspase-3
Figure 5-1: NOX2 subunits expression in the islets of NOD and BALB mice
Figure 5-2: ROS generation and Rac1 activation in the islets of NOD and BALB mice 64
Figure 5-3: The effect of cytomix in the islets of NOD and BALB mice



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- APC: Antigen presenting cell
- BB rats: Bio-breeding rats
- 2-BP: 2-Bromopalmitate
- CAT: Catalase
- CER: Cerulenin
- CHAP: 3-[(3-Cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate hydrate
- CHOP: C/EBP homologous protein
- CMT: Carboxyl methyltransferase
- DCHFDA: 2`7-Dichlorofluorescein diacetate
- ER: Endoplasmic reticulum
- ETC: Electron transport chain
- FPP: Farnesyl pyrophosphate
- FTase: Farnesyl transferase
- FTI: Farnesyl transferase inhibitor
- GAPs: GTPase activating proteins
- GDIs: GDP dissociation inhibitors
- GEFs: Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
- GGTase: Geranylgeranyltransferase
- GGTI: Geranylgeranyltransferase inhibitor
- GPCRs: G-protein coupled receptors
- GSH: Reduced glutathione
- GSSG: Oxidized glutathione
- GSIS: Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion



GSHPER: Glutathione peroxidase
GSHRED: Glutathione reductase
IDDM: Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
IKK: IkB kinase
iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase
IR: insulin receptor
IRS: insulin receptor substrate
JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase
MAPK: Mitogen-activated protein kinase
NFkB: Nuclear factor-kappa B
NO: Nitric oxide
NOD mice: Non obese diabetic mice
NOX: NADPH oxidase
PI3K: Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PKB/AKT: Protein kinase B
PMT: Palmitoyltransferase
ROS: Reactive oxygen species
SAM: S-adenosyl methionine
SOD: Superoxide dismutase
Tiam1: T-lymphoma invasion and metastasis
Type I DM: Type I diabetes mellitus
Type II DM: Type II diabetes mellitus
UPR: Unfolded protein response



1

Chapter 1: Introduction

Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes is a disease characterized by elevated blood glucose level either due to deficit in insulin production and/or the inability of the body to utilize it. Diabetes mellitus can be broadly classified as Type I DM [Type I Diabetes Mellitus] and Type II DM [Type II Diabetes Mellitus]. Type I DM is manifested by relative lack of insulin secretion due to loss of pancreatic β -cells by autoimmune aggression. Type II DM is a metabolic disorder characterized by an increase in blood glucose levels either due to a decrease in insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells, or tissue resistance to the secreted insulin and accounts for 90% of the disease. Hypersecretion of insulin by the β -cells due to tissue resistance to insulin worsens the situation leading to hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia [1]. According to the WHO, 346 million people are living with diabetes mellitus globally and 80% of deaths associated with the disorder occur in middle- and low- income countries [Table 1-1 and 1-2].



www.manaraa.com

1

Country	Millions
China	90.0
India	61.3
United States of America	23.7
Russian Federation	12.6
Brazil	12.0
Japan	10.1
Mexico	10.3
Bangladesh	8.4
Egypt	7.3
Indonesia	7.0
Pakistan	6.4
Germany	5.0
Philippines	4.2
Italy	4.0
Thailand	4.0

Table 1-1: Top fifteen countries of the world with diabetes mellitus in 2012 [2, 3].

Country	Millions
China	129.7
India	101.2
United States of America	29.6
Brazil	19.6
Bangladesh	16.8
Mexico	16.4
Russian Federation	14.1
Egypt	12.4
Indonesia	11.8
Pakistan	11.4

Table 1-2: Projection for top ten countries of the world with diabetes mellitus by 2030 [2, 3].



Insulin and its receptor

The discovery of insulin in 1920s by Drs Frederick Banting, Charles Best and John Macleod revolutionized the treatment of diabetes in young patients where starvation therapy was the only option for those in need. Insulin is a peptide hormone secreted by the β -cells of the pancreas that facilitates the uptake of glucose, amino acids and fatty acids by the body cells and inhibits the hydrolysis of their precursors namely glycogen, proteins and fats, respectively thereby maintaining the plasma blood glucose concentration between 4-7mM [4-6].

The physiologically active form of insulin in human has two chains. The A chain and B chain having 21 and 30 amino acids respectively. With the exception of few organs in the body such as brain, the majority of body cells depend on insulin for glucose uptake. Insulin binds to its receptor which is tetrameric in nature with two extracellular α - and intracellular β -subunits localized on the cell surface of target organs such as liver, kidney and muscle **[Figure 1-1]**. Upon binding of insulin to extracellular subunits, the β -subunits which have a tyrosine kinase activity autophosphorylate and transduce the signals to intracellular targets. The biological action of insulin such as expression of GLUT4, enzyme activation [increase in the synthesis of glycolytic and fatty acid synthetic enzymes; eg., acetyl-CoA carboxylase] and enzyme deactivation [decrease in gluconeogenic enzymes; eg., glucose-6-phosphatase] are mainly due to the concerted actions of IR/IRS, PI3K and AKT/PKB pathways **[5, 7 8]**.



3



De Meyts, Bioessays. 2004;26(12):1351-1362

Insulin receptor

Figure 1-1: Insulin and its receptor.

Structure of the A chain [red; 21 amino acids] and B chain [yellow; 30 amino acids] of human insulin linked by two disulfide bridges [A7–B7 and A20–B19] and insulin receptor which is a tetramer consisting of two extracellular α - and two intracellular β -subunits [5].

Pathogenesis of Type I DM

Based on the therapeutic approach and epidemiological occurrence, it is also known as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus or juvenile onset diabetes mellitus. It is characterized by an absolute insulin deficiency due to a chronic recurring immune-mediated attack on functional β -cells by the auto-reactive effector T-cells which dominate over the regulatory T-cell through time that leads to major loss in β -cell mass **[Figure 1-2]**. The presence of auto-antibodies against insulin, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65, islet cell antigen 2, islet



specific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit related protein, glial fibrillary acidic protein puts susceptible individual at risk for acquiring the disease [9, 10].



Figure 1-2: Beta-cell mass and autoimmune reaction.

The loss of β -cell mass over time due to autoimmune reaction leading to a deficit in insulin secretion and an increase in blood glucose level, and the opposing effect of regulatory T-cells over the autoreactive effector T-cell at the earlier time point followed by an increase in number of auto-reactive effector T-cells [9].

Although the exact cause of the disease is under scientific scrutiny, it is widely accepted that environmental [e.g., viral infection, presence of nitrosamine in food] and genetic [e.g., susceptibility loci in human leukocyte antigen region] predisposition factors play a role in autoimmune mediated destruction of the pancreatic β-cells. Studies from animal models of type I diabetes and human type I diabetic patients revealed that antigen presenting cells [APC] for instance macrophages and dendritic cells, lymphocytes [CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells] and proinflammatory cytokines released by those immune cells exert significant roles in the pathogenesis of the disease. The auto-antigens such as islet cell antigen 2 and/or



insulin are processed by antigen presenting cells and serve as immunologic signals that disturb the balance of the regulatory and effector T-cell function **[Figure 1-3]**. The hyperactivation of the effector T-cell further activates cytotoxic T-cell [CD8+] and macrophages that lead to the destruction of pancreatic β -cells either through generation of reactive oxygen and/or nitrogen species, through Fas/FasL, granzymes, perforin and release of proinflammatory cytokines. Among known cytokines, IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ have been shown to play a major role in mediating the disease progression **[11-14]**.



Rabinovitch A and Suarez-Pinzon WL, Biochem Pharmacol.1998;55(8):1139-1149

Figure 1-3: Autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cell.

Self antigen processed by antigen presenting cell disturbs the balance of effector and regulatory T-cell functions leading to autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cell. The hyperactivation of effector T-cell function mediates pancreatic β -cell destruction through proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species [14].

The two principal pathways of apoptosis in pancreatic β-cell due to cytokine insult are

the intrinsic pathway and the extrinsic pathway. In intrinsic pathway, cytokines disturb the

balance of anti-apoptotic and pro-apoptotic activities of the Bcl-2 family of the mitochondrial



proteins which leads to the release of cytochrome complex to the cytoplasm and activation of the initiator [e.g., caspase-9] and effector caspases [e.g., caspase-3]. The extrinsic pathway is initiated by binding of cytokines to death receptors [e.g., CD95] located on the cell surface followed by activation of adaptor proteins, kinases and transcription factors which culminate in the activation of the initiator and effector caspases that cleave different cellular substrates such as prenylating enzymes [eg., FTase and GGTase] and nuclear envelop proteins [eg., lamin B] **[13, 15, 16-18]**.

Animal models

Non obese diabetic [NOD] mice and bio-breeding [BB] rats are the two commonly used genetic animal models for type I diabetes. Both NOD mice and BB rats share similar pathogenetic mechanisms and diabetic symptoms. The incidence rate of the disease is much higher in the female NOD mice than their male counterparts, whereas both sexes of BB rats equally manifest the disease symptoms. The major histocompatibility complex products namely RT1^{u/u} in BB rats and I-A^{g7} in the NOD mice make them genetically susceptible to the disease [19-21].

NOD mice were established as animal model for type I diabetes in the 1970's in Shionogi Aburahi Laboratories in Japan by Makino and colleagues from out bred JC1-ICR mice that are prone to cataracts. Unlike other breeds of mice, there is an increased frequency and localization of antigen presenting cells in the pancreas of NOD mice since their birth. This is followed by pre-insulitis, peri-insulitis and intra-insular insulitis **[Figure 1-4]** caused by auto-reactive T-cell, dendritic cell, CD4+T cell, CD8+T cell, macrophage and Bcells leading to a complete destruction of the islets, and the mice show diabetic symptoms starting from 12 weeks of age and die from the complications around 30 weeks of age, if not treated **[22-24]**.





Bluestone JA et al. Nature. 2010; 464(7293):1293-1300

Figure 1-4: Pathogenesis of type I diabetes in the NOD mice.

Localization of antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cell to the pancreas starts around 3 weeks of age and the different stages of the inflammatory conditions [pre-insulitis, peri-insulitis, and intra-insular insulitis] ensue up to 12 weeks of age. Complete islet destruction and clinical manifestation start from 12 weeks onwards [22, 24].

GTP-binding proteins in islet function

There are three different types of G-proteins in pancreatic β -cell: trimeric G-proteins consisting of α -[39-53 kDa], β -[~37 kDa] and γ -[7-10 kDa] subunits, small molecular weight [17-30 kDa] monomeric G-proteins consisting of Ras, Rho, Rab, Sar1/Arf, Ran families and the elongation factors and *Tau* proteins. The trimeric G-proteins are involved in receptor mediated cellular activation primarily due to hormones and neurotransmitters; the monomeric G-proteins function in vesicular transport and cytoskeletal organization, and the elongation factor and *Tau* proteins have a role in protein biosynthesis **[25-27]**.



Post-translational modification of G-proteins

The functions of small monomeric G-proteins are regulated by post-translational modifications such as prenylation, palmitoylation and methylation. Prenylation is the addition of either 15 carbon [farnesyl group] or 20 carbon [geranyl group] derivatives of mevalonic acid into the carboxyl terminal of the cysteine residues by a thioether linkage. Acetyl CoA, which is an important intermediary metabolite in energy production in the body and the starting material for cholesterol synthesis, is the precursor for farnesyl and geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate **[Figure 1-5] [25]**.

9

Prenylation is catalyzed by a group of enzymes called prenyltransferases which include farnesyltransferase [FTase], geranylgeranyltransferase [GGTase] I and II **[28, 29]**. Based on the specific structural motif of the substrate proteins for prenyltransferase and the subfamily of the protein they prenylate, the FTase and GGTase-I are referred to as CAAX prenyltransferase and GGTase-II is called non-CAAX prenyltransferase or Rab GGTase, where C stands for cysteine, A is aliphatic amino acid and X is the terminal amino acid. Addition of farnesyl group, the 15 carbon derivatives of the mevalonic acid, is catalyzed by FTase, and examples of farnesylated proteins include H-Ras, Lamin A or B and Gγ subunits. Incorporation of geranyl group, the 20 carbon derivatives of mevalonic acid, is catalyzed by GGTase and some of the geranylated proteins include Rac1, Rho and Cdc42 **[25, 30]**.





Kowluru A, Endocr Rev. 2010; 31(1):52-78

Figure 1-5: Biosynthesis of farnesyl and geranyl pyrophosphates.

HMG-CoA synthetase and reductase catalyzes the synthesis of mevalonate from acetyl-CoA and acetoacetyl-CoA. Mevalonate then serves as a precursor for farnesyl pyrophosphate [farnesyl-pp], geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate [geranylgeranyl-pp] and cholesterol. The farnesyl pyrophosphate and geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate are incorporated into substrate proteins catalyzed by FTase and GGTase respectively. Lovastatin inhibits mevalonate synthesis; FTI and GGTI inhibit FTase and GGTase, respectively [25].

Prenylation is the first step of the post-translational modifications and it is followed by protease-dependent removal of the three amino acids of the CAAX motif after the prenylated cysteine. In the presence of S-adenosyl methionine [SAM] as a methyl donor, the exposed carboxyl group is methylated by carboxylmethyltransferase. Moreover, certain proteins require an additional palmitoylation [addition of palmitate] step upstream of the prenylated



cysteine. These modifications will help the proteins to associate with the membrane and/or activate other proteins in the signal transduction pathways [Figure 1-6] [27].



Kowluru A, Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003 ;285(4):E669-E684

Figure 1-6: Steps implicated in post-translational modification of small G-proteins.

Farnesylation/Geranylgeranylation is the first modification followed by protease dependent removal of three amino acids after the prenylated cysteine. These proteins then undergo carboxylmethylation reaction in the presence of S-adenosyl methionine and/or palmitoylation at cysteine residue upstream to the prenylated cysteine. These post-translational modifications are requisite for the functions of G-proteins [27].

Inhibition of G-protein activation

Studies using Clostridial toxins, molecular biological techniques [siRNA and dominant negative mutants] and pharmacological inhibitors have shown that G-proteins play important roles in pancreatic β -cell function including insulin secretion [31-36]. G-proteins are also involved in the metabolic dysfunction of β -cells. Studies from our laboratory and others have indicated that small G-proteins, namely H-Ras and Rac1, are involved in nitrosative and oxidative stress-induced pancreatic β -cell death. Both H-Ras and Rac1 are monomeric G-



proteins with molecular weight of ~21 kDa that shuttle back and forth between cytosol and membrane thus acting as molecular switches in signal transduction pathways between the receptor and effector systems. Both H-Ras and Rac1 proteins undergo post-translational prenylation, which is catalyzed by FTase and GGTase, respectively **[25, 37-39]**.

I. Clostridial toxins: Clostridial toxins irreversibly glucosylate and inactivate small Gproteins. Our laboratory provided the first evidence that small G-proteins [e.g., H-Ras] are involved in cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell. These studies were further confirmed using pharmacological inhibitors **[40]**.

II. Inactive mutants and siRNA: Overexpression of an inactive mutant of the regulatory α -subunit of protein prenyltransferase markedly attenuated glucose but not KCI induced insulin secretion [35]. siRNA mediated knockdown of α - and β -subunits of GGTase II, Rab escort protein 1 and isoprenylcysteine carboxyl methyltransferase markedly attenuates glucose stimulated insulin secretion [41].

III. Pharmacological inhibitors: Generic [eg., lovastatin] and site specific inhibitors of protein prenylation [eg., 3-vinyl farnesol, 3-vinyl geraniol, GGTI-2147] as well as the inhibitor of carboxylmethylation acetyl farnesylcysteine [AFC] indicated that G-proteins are involved in nutrient induced insulin secretion [**30**, **32**, **34**]. The significance of palmitoylation reaction in pancreatic β -cell was also confirmed by using two structurally different inhibitors of palmitoylation reaction, namely, cerulenin and 2-bromopalmitate. These inhibitors protected the insulin-secreting β -cells against noxious effects of cytokines [IL-1 β] [**42**].

Regulators of G-protein function

There are three major types of proteins that regulate the activity of small G-proteins. These include GEFs [Guanine nucleotide Exchange Factors], GDIs [GDP Dissociation Inhibitors] and GAPs [GTPase Activating Proteins]. During the inactive state, GDI causes G-



proteins to be in the GDP-bound form. Following appropriate stimulation, GDI dissociates from the corresponding G-protein and GEF facilitates the exchange of GTP for GDP, causing the G-protein to be in the active form to regulate its effector proteins. The intrinsic GTPase activity of G-protein along with GAP causes GTP hydrolysis converting the G-protein into inactive state [25].

NADPH oxidase in islet function

NADPH oxidase [NOX] represents a class of enzymes that has a membrane and cytosolic components, and it is involved in the generation of intracellular reactive oxygen species [ROS] in phagocytic and non-phagocytic cells. From the different isoforms of NOX that exist in the mammalian cells NOX1, NOX2 and NOX4 are found in pancreatic β -cells **[43, 44]**. NOXA1 [NOX Activator Protein 1] and NOXO1 [NOX Organizer Protein 1] constitute the cytosolic components for NOX1. gp91phox, p22^{phox} and Rap1 makes the membrane bound catalytic subunits and p67^{phox}, p47^{phox}, p40^{phox} and Rac1 form the cytosolic subunits for NOX2. Rac1 is the only cytosolic component for NOX4 **[44, 45]**.

NOX catalyzes one electron reduction of molecular oxygen using NADPH as a cofactor and this process is associated with the generation of superoxide $[O_2^{-}]$ [Figure 1-7]. In addition to the normal physiological stimuli, a number of chemical, physical, and inflammatory stimuli activate the NOX system. The activation of a prototypical NOX with proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ causes Rac activation which in turn activates, phosphorylates and translocates other cytosolic components to the membrane-associated components to complete the holoenzyme assembly and function [25, 45, 46].

Rac1, part of the cytosolic components of the NOX2 enzyme system, undergoes geranylgeranylation reactions. It is also regulated by GEF such as T-lymphoma invasion and



metastasis 1 [Tiam1] and Vav2. Blocking the Rac1-NOX2 signaling pathway using pharmacological inhibitors such as NSC23766 and GGTI-2147 prevented cytokine-induced reactive oxygen species generation and mitochondrial membrane damage in pancreatic β -cell [47, 48].



Taylor-Fishwick DA, Front Endocrinol. 2013;4:40

Figure 1-7: The prototypical isoform of NADPH oxidase [NOX] and its subunits in pancreatic β -cell.

NOX1, gp91^{phox} [NOX2] and p22^{phox} constitute the membrane/catalytic subunit. For the membrane bound catalytic subunits to become active and generate superoxide, they require association with the cytosolic components which slightly varies between the different isoforms. NOX2 requires Rac, $p67^{phox}$, $p40^{phox}$ and $p47^{phox}$ where as NOX1 needs NOX01, NOXA1 and Rac proteins [45].

Oxidative and Nitrosative stress

Pancreatic β -cells, like other cells in the body, use oxygen to fulfill their energy demand; therefore, they are constantly exposed to oxidants that result from metabolism. In contrast to majority of the cells in the body, pancreatic β -cells have low antioxidant machinery; this makes the islet β -cells more vulnerable to damage by oxidative and nitrosative stress due to reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, respectively. The reactive oxygen and nitrogen species include superoxide radical [O₂⁻], hydrogen peroxide [H₂O₂], hydroxyl radical [OH⁻], nitric oxide [NO⁻] and peroxynitrite [OONO] [Figure 1-8] [49-52].



Newsholme P et al. J Endocrinol. 2012; 214(1):11-20

Figure 1-8: A model for oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways and the corresponding antioxidants system.

Stimuli such as proinflammatory cytokines activate NOX and iNOS gene expression and these activations lead to the generation of superoxide and nitric oxide, respectively. In the presence of iron, superoxide and hydrogen peroxide will be converted to hydroxyl radical through Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions causing cell damage. Superoxide also reacts with nitric oxide leading to the generation of a highly reactive species called peroxynitrite. The presence of antioxidants such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase and reductase counteract the oxidant effect and prevent the cell damage [52].



Although physiological levels of reactive oxygen species are needed for islet function and insulin secretion, excessive ROS-mediated oxidative stress has been shown to be detrimental to the cells **[47, 51]**. The two well known cellular sites for the generation of the reactive oxygen species are the mitochondria respiratory system and phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase system. Nutrient-induced insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cell depends on glucose metabolite, ATP production and ROS generation. The NOX in the pancreatic β -cell is the major contributory factor for pathological roles of ROS in β -cell **[53, 54]**. Proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ also induce iNOS gene expression through NF κ B **[Figure 1-8]** leading to generation of reactive nitrogen species such as NO, culminating in β cell death **[52]**. Several extant studies demonstrating the role of oxidative and nitrosative stress in cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunctions are summarized in **Table 1-3**.



Model	Cytokines	Findings	Ref.
Rat islets, RINm5F cells	IL-1β/IL-1β,TNFα,INFγ	ROS dependent	17
Human and mouse islet, INS1,			
βTC3 cells	IL-1β/ TNFα,INFγ	ROS dependent	55
MIN6 cells, mouse islets	ΤΝFα, ΙΝFγ	ROS dependent	56
Rat islet, BRIN BD 11	IL-1β/ TNFα,INFγ	ROS dependent	57
HIT-T15 cells	IL-1β	NO dependent	40
HIT-T15, INS-1	IL-1β	NO dependent	42
RINm5F cells, rat islets	IL-1β, INFγ	NO dependent	58
RINm5F cells	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO dependent	59
Rat (LEW.1W and BB/OK) islets	IL-1β, INFγ	NO dependent	60
Pancreatic islet, RINm5F cells	IL-1β, INFγ	NO dependent	61
RINm5F, rat islets	IL-1β, INFγ	NO dependent	62
Mouse islet, RINm5F cells,	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO dependent	63
RINm5F, rat islets	IL-1β, INFγ	NO dependent	64
RINm5F	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO dependent	65
INS1E cells	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO dependent	66
Rat islets	IL-1β, TNFα	NO dependent	67
Mouse islet	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO independent	68
Bank vole	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	NO independent	69
iNOS knock out mouse Islets	IL-1β, INFγ	NO independent	70
INS 832/13 cells	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	ROS and NO dependent	47
RINm5, rat islets	IL-1β/IL1β,TNFα, INFγ	ROS and NO dependent	71
BRIN-BD11 cells, mouse islets	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	ROS and NO dependent	72
RINm5F cells	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	ROS and NO dependent	73
Human islets	IL-1β/ TNFα, INFγ	Peroxynitrite dependent	74

Table 1-3: ROS generation and NO release in cytokines-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunction.

Endoplasmic Reticulum [ER] stress

Endoplasmic reticulum is one of the major cellular organelles involved in the synthesis and folding of cellular proteins and maintaining physiological concentration of calcium in the cell. In the pancreatic β -cell, both physiological and pathological factors cause ER stress. Mutant proteins, hypoxia, viral infection, environmental toxins, proinflammatory cytokines are some of the pathological factors causing ER stress. The three principal ER membrane bound proteins that detect the ER stress are: inositol requiring 1 [IRE1], double-stranded-RNA-dependent protein kinase-like ER kinase [PERK] and activating transcription factor 6 [ATF6] **[75-78]**.



The ER stress initiates a signaling network called unfolded protein response [UPR] and, depending on the nature of the stimuli and extent of damage, the UPR has either a homeostatic outcome that helps to resolve the stress or an apoptotic consequence. Studies have shown that proinflammatory cytokines deplete endoplasmic reticulum calcium by interfering with sarcoendoplasmic reticulum pump Ca²⁺ATPase2b [SERCA2b] causing pancreatic β -cell apoptosis through ER stress [77, 79].

Stress kinases

c-Jun N-terminal Kinase [JNK] and p38 are part of the Mitogen-Activated Protein [MAP] kinase family that are activated by protein kinase cascade following various stress inducing agents that affect cell survival **[80-82]**. There are three isoforms of JNK; JNK1 and JNK2 are expressed ubiquitously in different tissues of the body and JNK3 is expressed only in brain and heart tissues. There are four different isoforms of p38; p38- α , p38- β , p38- γ and p38- δ **[82, 83]**. Depending on the nature of the stimuli when these protein kinases get activated, they cause ER stress, activate mitochondrial apoptotic protein and transcription factors in the nucleus **[83, 84]**. Studies in pancreatic β -cells have shown that p38 MAP kinase and JNK are activated following exposure to proinflammatory cytokines and stress induced during islet isolation process **[85-88]**.



Proposed working model

The overall objective of my doctoral dissertation is to determine putative cellular mechanisms underlying proinflammatory cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction and demise of the islet β-cell. To accomplish this goal, I propose to:

- test the hypothesis that cytokines induce ROS generation and oxidative stress via activation of phagocyte-like NADPH-oxidase [NOX2];
- test the hypothesis that protein palmitoylation is a key regulatory step involved in cytokine-induced nitrosative and oxidative stress;
- determine the identity of palmitoylated G-proteins, which are involved in cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β-cell; and
- test the hypothesis that pharmacological inhibition of palmitoylation of specific G-proteins [e.g., H-Ras and Rac1] attenuates cytokine-induced activation of oxidative, nitrosative and other stress signaling pathways [e.g., JNK1/2] thereby halting metabolic dysregulation of the islet β-cell.

Based on the results obtained from my studies, I conclude that protein palmitoyl transferase is a novel therapeutic target for the prevention of cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell.



Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials

Chemicals: IL-1β, TNFα, INFγ and Z-DEVD-FMK, a caspase inhibitor, were from R & D Systems [Minneapolis, MN]. 2`,7-Dichlorofluorescein diacetate, 2-bromopalmitate, Griess reagent, N,N`-dimethyl-9,9`-biacridiniumdinitrate [lucigenin], 4'-hydroxy-3' methoxyacetophenone [apocynin] and 50 mM phosphate buffer solution were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich [St. Louis, MO]. NADPH and NSC23766 were from Calbiochem [Billerica, MA] and EHop-016 was kindly provided by Dr Vlaar, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Pharmacy, University of Puerto Rico.

Antibodies: Antisera directed against phospho-p47^{phox} [NCF1] and p67^{phox} were from Abcam [Cambridge, MA]. Total-p47phox, phospho-p38, total-p38 and FTase/GGTase-α subunit were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology [Santa Cruz, CA]. Rac1 and gp91^{phox} were from BD Biosciences [San Jose, CA]. Antisera directed against CHOP, phospho-JNK, total-JNK and cleaved caspase-3 [active form] were from Cell Signaling [Danvers, MA]. Anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase conjugates were from Amersham Biosciences [Piscataway, NJ].

Assay kits: Enhanced chemiluminescence kits were from Amersham Biosciences [Piscataway, NJ]. Re-blot plus strong antibody stripping solution was from Millipore [Billerica, MA]. Rac1 activation assay kit was from Cytoskeleton [Denver, CO]. All other reagents used in these studies were from Sigma Aldrich [St. Louis, MO] unless stated otherwise.

Animals: NOD/ShiLtJ and BALB/cJ mice were from Jackson Laboratory [Bar Harbor, ME]. Picolab Rodent Diet was from Lab Diet [Brentwood, MO]. The laboratory animal bedding, Bed-o'Cobs 1/8", was from Anderson [Maumee, OH].



2.2. Insulin-secreting cell line and mouse islets

INS-1 832/13 cells were kindly provided by Dr. Chris Newgard, Duke University Medical Center, Durham. INS-1 832/13 cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% heat inactivated FBS supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 IU/ml streptomycin, 1mM sodium pyruvate, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol and 10 mM HEPES [pH 7.4]. The cultured cells were subcloned twice weekly following trypsinization and passages 53-61 were used for the studies. Islets from 7-8 weeks NOD/ShiLtJ and control BALB/cJ mice were isolated by collagenase digestion method **[89]**. All protocols, including isolation of pancreatic islets from mice, were reviewed and approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Wayne State University.

INS-1 832/13 cells or mouse islets were incubated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] or individual cytokines [25 ng/ml] for 0-24 hrs as indicated in the text. In select studies, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] in the presence and absence of different pharmacological inhibitors for 0-24 hrs as indicated in the text. At the end of the incubation period the cells were harvested and lysed in RIPA buffer [50 mM Tris-HCl, pH7.4, 1% NP-40, 0.25% sodium deoxycholate,150 mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄ and 1 µg/ml protease inhibitor cocktail].

2.3. Isolation of membrane fraction

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix for the designated time points as indicated in the text. At the end of the incubation period, cells were washed with ice-cold PBS, harvested and pelleted by centrifugation at 2,000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. After resuspending in the homogenizing buffer [50 mM Tris-HCI [pH 7.4], 250 mM sucrose, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PIC, 1 mM PMSF and 1 mM Na₃VO₄] and sonication, unbroken



cells and nuclei were separated by centrifugation at 1,300 rpm for 10 min. The cleared supernatant was further centrifuged at 40,000 rpm for 30 min [OptimaTM MAX Ultracentrifuge]. The cytosol fraction was separated and the membrane fraction was dissolved in 2% CHAPS [10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 1.5 M NaCl, 1 mM PIC, 1 mM PMSF and 1 mM Na₃VO₄].

2.4. ROS generation assay

INS-1 832/13 cells were plated in a 6 well plate and treated with cytomix [IL-1β, TNFα and INFγ; 10 ng/ml each] or individual cytokines [25 ng/ml] for 24 hrs as indicated in the text. Subsequently, the media was removed and the cells were incubated further with 2`7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate [DCHF-DA] at 37°C for 30 min. The cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS and harvested, followed by loading equal amount of protein [50 µg] and reading the fluorescence using luminescence spectrophotometer [Ex:485nm and Em:535nm] [PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA].

2.5. NOX2 assay

INS-1 832/13 cells were plated in a 6 well plate and co-incubated with IL-1 β [25 ng/ml] and apocynin [100 µm] for 30 min. The NOX2 activity was measured using the method described by Hwang and associates **[90]**. Control, cytokine [IL-1 β] and glucose-treated cells were homogenized using 50 mM phosphate buffer solution [pH 7.0] containing 1 mM EDTA and 1 mM PMSF. The homogenates were centrifuged at 3,000 g for 10 min and the clarified lysates [250 µg protein/ml] were then incubated with N, N-dimethyl-9,9`-biacridinium dinitrate [lucigenin] for 2 min followed by the addition of NADPH [100 µM]. The chemiluminescence signal resulting from reaction of superoxide anion and lucigenin was recorded every 1 min for



15 min using BioTek Synergy HT, Gen5 [Winooski, VT] and the activity was expressed as chemiluminescence units per mg lysate protein per minute.

2.6. NO release assay

INS-1 832/13 cells were plated in a 6 well plate and treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs as indicated in the text. At the end of the incubation period, the media was collected and centrifuged at 1,000 g for 5 min. Equal amount of media and Griess reagent were mixed and the absorbance [540nm] was measured using a microplate reader [Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA].

2.7. Rac1 activation assay

Pull-down assay: INS-1 832/13 cells were pretreated with NSC23766 [20 μ M] followed by treatment with cytomix for 15 min in the absence and presence of the inhibitor [20 μ M]. Cell lysates [250–300 μ g] were clarified by centrifugation. Then PAK-PBD [p21-activated kinase-p21-binding domain] beads [20 μ I] were added to the supernatant, rotated for 1 h at 4°C, and pelleted. The resultant pellet was washed and reconstituted in Laemmli buffer. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted for Rac1 **[47]**.

GLISA: Activated Rac1 was quantitated using the GLISA activation assay kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, lysates were clarified by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm for 2 min. Equal amounts of protein were incubated in the Rac1-GTP affinity plate for 30 min at 4°C. The wells were washed twice with washing buffer and incubated with anti-Rac1 primary antibody and secondary antibody, followed by additional incubation with horseradish peroxidase-detection reagent. Horseradish peroxidase-stop buffer was added to stop the reaction, and the absorbance was measured at 490 nm using a microplate reader.



2.8. Protein phosphorylation assay

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1β, TNFα, and INFγ, 10 ng/ml each] in the presence and absence of pharmacological inhibitors for 0-24 hrs time point and the cells were lysed with RIPA buffer containing 1 µg/ml protease inhibitor cocktail, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM PMSF, and 1 mM Na₃VO₄. The samples were incubated on ice for 10 minutes followed by clarification and determination of the total protein content by Pierce 600 nm Protein Assay. Equal amount of proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE on 10% [w/v] polyacrylamide mini gels and electro-transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were immunoprobed with corresponding primary phospho-antibodies and developed as indicated below. The same blots were used to probe for total-proteins for the respective phospho-proteins to ensure equal loading and transfer of the proteins.

2.9. Western blotting

Proteins [30-40 µg/lane] were separated by SDS-PAGE on 10% [w/v] polyacrylamide mini gels and electro transferred to nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA or 5% non fat dry milk in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 1.5 M NaCl and 0.1% Tween 20 followed by incubation with corresponding primary antibody and secondary polyclonal rabbit or mouse antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase. The protein signal was enhanced by chemiluminescence system and developed using Kodak Pro Image 400 R [New Haven, CT]. The same blots were used to probe for β -actin to ensure equal loading and transfer of the proteins.

2.10. Pharmacological inhibitors

INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] or [IL-1 β ; 25 ng/ml] in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate [100 μ M],



apocynin [100 μ M], EHop-016 [5 μ M], NSC23766 [20 μ M] for 0-24 hrs and their effect on cytomix/IL-1 β induced ROS generation, NO release, Rac1 and NOX2 activation, CHOP expression, JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation were analyzed as indicated in the text.

2.11. Statistical analysis of experimental data

Results are expressed as mean <u>+</u> SEM. Statistical significant difference between groups was evaluated by ANOVA followed by SNK Post-Hoc test where appropriate. P < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.


Chapter 3: Cytokines activate phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase in pancreatic β-cell.

 Portions of this work have been published [copies of the published manuscripts are appended]

Mohammed AM, Syeda K, Hadden T, Kowluru A. Upregulation of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase by cytokines in pancreatic β -cells: attenuation of oxidative and nitrosative stress by 2-bromopalmitate. Biochemical Pharmacology 2013; 85(1):109 -114.

Mohammed AM, Kowluru A. Activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase [NOX2] activity in INS-1 832/13 cells under glucotoxic conditions. Islets 2013; 5(3).

Type 1 diabetes is characterized by an absolute insulin deficiency arising from progressive autoimmune destruction of insulin-secreting pancreatic β -cells [1, 24, 91]. During the progression of this disease, several proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , TNF α and IFN γ are secreted into the islets by infiltrated and activated T cells and macrophages, which, in turn, elicit damaging effects on pancreatic β -cells. However, putative mechanisms and the underlying signaling mechanisms involved in cytokine-induced loss of β -cells remain only partially understood [55, 92]. Among numerous mechanisms proposed, IL-1 β has been demonstrated to mediate its effects via the induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which, in turn, promotes cytotoxic NO release culminating in β -cell demise. In addition, TNF α and IFN γ elicit regulatory effects on β -cell function via regulation of individual metabolic signaling steps leading to cell death [16, 40, 71]. Along these lines, previous studies have suggested that IFN γ sensitizes human islets to the effects of IL-1 β [93]. In addition to NO, several recent studies including our own have suggested that phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase [NOX2] contributes to loss of β -cell function, metabolic dysregulation and



the loss of β -cell mass under the duress of pathological conditions such as glucolipotoxicity and exposure to cytokines. Specifically, we have demonstrated that chronic exposure of isolated β -cells to cytomix leads to NOX2 holoenzyme activation, ROS generation, mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death **[44, 47, 53, 94]**. Moreover, using selective inhibitors of Rac1, a small G-protein, which is a member of NOX2 holoenzyme, we have been able to demonstrate that inhibition of Rac1 activation leads to prevention of ROS generation and mitochondrial dysregulation in isolated β -cells **[47, 51, 95]**. Interestingly however, we failed to see any clear effects of Rac1 inhibitors on cytomix-induced NO generation suggesting involvement of a Rac1-independent mechanism for cytomix-induced NO release in these cells.

A recent Editorial Focus by Jastroch **[96]** appropriately pointed out a need for the development of pharmacological probes/reagents that can block both ROS and NO generation in pancreatic β -cells exposed to cytomix as simultaneous release of both ROS and NO could lead to the formation of peroxynitrite, which may be more damaging to the β -cell compared to ROS or NO alone. Therefore, as a logical extension, we undertook an investigation to assess the roles of protein palmitoylation in the cascade of events leading to cytomix-induced ROS and NO generation in INS-1 832/13 cells.

IL-1β promotes ROS generation

Our laboratory recently reported a significant increase in NOX2-mediated generation of ROS in INS-1 832/13 cells. In the current set of experiments we examined effects of individual cytokines on ROS generation in order to determine which of the three cytokines exert stimulatory effects on ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells. Data in **Figure 3-1** indicated that of all the three cytokines tested, namely IL-1β, TNFα or IFNγ [25 ng/ml each; 24 hr] only IL-1β significantly augmented [~2.5 fold] ROS generation; these values were



27

comparable to those demonstrated in the presence of all the three cytokines combined [referred to as cytomix throughout]. A modest, but insignificant, effect of TNF α [bar 1 vs. 3] or IFN γ [bar 1 vs.4], was demonstrated under these conditions. Therefore, we determined the effects of cytokines on NOX2 activation in most of the studies described from here on since the cytomix represents an appropriate model to determine effects of cytokines on islet β -cell dysfunction.



Figure 3-1: IL-1 β , but not TNF α and INF γ , activates ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with individual cytokines [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 25 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs and the amount of ROS generation was measured with 2`7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate assay. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control. **P* < 0.05 versus control.

Cytomix induces p47^{phox} phosphorylation

Recent studies from our laboratory and others have shown that cytokines induce the expression of p47^{phox}, and siRNA-mediated depletion of endogenous pools of p47^{phox}



markedly attenuated cytokine-induced NOX2-mediated ROS generation in insulin-secreting cells **[47]**. Furthermore, evidence in other cell types indicates that $p47^{phox}$ is phosphorylated subsequent to agonist activation **[97, 98]** and the phosphorylation step is necessary for its translocation to the membrane fraction for association with other members of the NOX2 core proteins to complete holoenzyme assembly leading to the activation of NOX2. This has not been examined before in islet β -cells exposed to cytokines. Data in **Figure 3-2 [Panel A]** suggested a time-dependent activation of p47^{phox} [0-60 min] following exposure to cytokines. We observed nearly a 2-fold increase in the phosphorylation of p47^{phox} by cytokines within an hour of incubation **[Panel B]**. These data suggest that cytokines induce phosphorylation of p47^{phox}.





Figure 3-2: Cytomix induces phosphorylation of p47^{phox} in INS-1 832/13 cells.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for different time intervals as indicated in the figure. Degree of phosphorylation of p47^{phox} was determined by Western blot [Panel A] followed by densitometry [Panel B]. Data are normalized to total p47^{phox} content in corresponding lanes. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as percent control of the ratios between phosphorylated- and total-p47^{phox}. **P* < 0.05 versus control.

Cytomix induces gp91^{phox} expression

We next investigated alterations, if any, in the expression of gp91^{phox} in cells following

exposure to cytomix. To address this, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated in the presence of

cytomix for different time intervals [0-60 min] as above [Figure 3-2]. Relative abundance of



A)

B)

gp91^{phox} was determined in the total membrane fraction isolated by a single-step centrifugation method by Western blotting for gp91^{phox} [Figure 3-3; Panel A] and densitometry [Figure 3-3; Panel B]. These data indicated a time-dependent increase in the expression of gp91^{phox} in INS-1 832/13 cells following exposure to cytomix. A significant increase in the expression was seen as early as 20 min [~2 fold], which appear to plateau with time. Together, these data are indicative of positive modulatory effects of cytomix on NOX2 in INS-1 832/12 cells. Such effects are comprised of increase in the activation of Rac1 [47], phosphorylation of p47^{phox} and expression of gp91^{phox}; such conditions are essential for activation of NOX2 enzyme.





Figure 3-3: Cytomix increases the expression of gp91^{phox} in INS-1 832/13 cells.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for different time points as indicated in the figure. Degree of gp91^{phox} expression was measured by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data are normalized to β -actin content in individual lanes. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as percent control of the ratios between gp91^{phox} and β -actin. **P* < 0.05 versus control and # *P* < 0.05 versus 20 min and 40 min.

IL-1β increases apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity

It is well documented that in addition to the phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase, other cellular organelles such as mitochondria, peroxisomes and endoplasmic reticulum produce reactive oxygen species **[99-102]**. Physiological amounts of ROS is required for normal functioning of the β -cells such as glucose stimulated insulin secretion. The presence and chronic activation of NADPH oxidase by high glucose, palmitate and proinflammatory



cytokines could lead to excessive amount of ROS in the β -cell. Hence, follow up studies were carried out in INS-1 832/13 cells to specifically measure the NOX2 activity under cytokine [IL-1 β] condition. To exclude other oxidoreductase enzyme activities in the assay, a relatively selective pharmacological inhibitor for NOX2 [apocynin] was used. The results showed that apocynin has no significant effect on basal NOX2 activation [bar 1 vs. bar 2]. However, exposure to IL-1 β [25 ng/ml] activates the enzyme [~1.7 fold] as early as 30 min [bar 1 vs. Bar 3] and it was significantly blocked by apocynin [100 µM] [bar 3 vs. bar 4] **[Figure 3-4].**



Figure 3-4: IL-1β increases apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity in INS-1 832/13 cells.

INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with IL-1 β [25 ng/ml] in presence and absence of apocynin [100 μ M] for 30 min and NOX2 enzyme activity was measured for 15 min. The enzyme activity was expressed as chemiluminescence units per mg lysate protein per minute. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from six independent experiments and expressed as percent of control. **P* < 0.05 versus control; #*P* < 0.05 versus IL-1 β .



2-Bromopalmitate inhibits cytomix-induced ROS generation

Recent studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that activation of Rac1 is necessary for cytokine-induced NOX2 activation and ROS generation. In this context we reported that prior incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with GGTI-2147, an inhibitor of geranylgeranylation of Rac1 or NSC23766, a known inhibitor of Rac1 mediated by Tiam1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac1 markedly attenuated cytomix-induced ROS generation [Figure 3-5]. Therefore, in the present study we determined the effects of 2-bromopalmitate, a known inhibitor of protein palmitoylation on cytomix-induced ROS generation. These studies are based on the recent reports of palmitoylation of Rac1 at a cysteine residue upstream to the C-terminal cysteine. To address this, cytomix-induced ROS generation was quantitated in INS-1 832/13 cells incubated in the presence of diluent alone or 2-BP [100 µM; 24 hr]. Data depicted in Figure 3-6 indicated no significant effects of 2-BP on basal ROS generation [bar 1 vs. bar 2]. However, cytomix-induced ROS generation was completely abolished by 2-BP [bar 3 vs. bar 4]. These findings suggest that a palmitoylation-dependent signaling step is necessary for cytomix-induced ROS generation.



34



Figure 3-5: Cytomix-induced ROS generation is inhibited by NSC23766 and GGTI-2147.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with either diluent or cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] in the presence and absence of NSC23766 [20 μ M] or GGTI-2147 [10 μ M] for 12 h **[Panel A]** and 24 h **[Panel B]** as indicated in the figure, and intracellular levels of ROS was measured using DCHF-DA assay. Data are representative of three independent experiments, expressed as a percentage of control and represent means ± SEM. Bars with different symbols (*, **, ***) are significantly different at P < 0.05 [47].







INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μ M] and the amount of ROS generation was measured with DCHF-DA assay. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control. **P* < 0.05 versus control and #*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix.

2-Bromopalmitate inhibits cytomix-induced Rac1 activation

Rac1 is one of the components of the NADPH oxidase and its activation is required for assembly and activation of the holoenzyme. Recent study from our laboratory has shown that Tiam1 inhibitor [NSC23766] inhibited Rac1-GTP bound form [Figure 3-7] [47]. In the present study we hypothesize that in addition to geranylgeranylation Rac1 also undergoes palmitoylation, the addition of palmitate to a cysteine residue upstream to prenylated cysteine [Figure 1-6]. To address this, cytomix-induced Rac1 activation was quantitated in INS-1 832/13 cells incubated in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μM; 15 min]. Data shown in Figure 3-8 indicated no significant effects of 2-BP on basal Rac1 activation [bar 1 vs. bar



36

2]. However, cytomix-induced Rac1 activation was blocked by 2-BP [bar 3 vs. bar 4]. These findings suggest that a palmitoylation-dependent signaling step is necessary for cytomix-induced Rac1 activation.



Figure 3-7: Cytomix induces transient activation of Rac1 in INS-1 832/13 cells: inhibition of this signaling step by NSC23766.

Cytomix causes transient activation of Rac1 in INS-1 832/13 cells, as determined by the pull-down assay followed by Western blot analysis, **Panel A**. Pooled activation data from three independent experiments are shown in **Panel B**. NSC23766 inhibition of cytomix-induced activation of Rac1. Pooled data from three independent studies are depicted in **Panel C**. *, represent the values that are significantly different from control at P < 0.05 [47].





Figure 3-8: 2-BP attenuates cytomix-induced Rac1 activation.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 15min in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μ M] and Rac1 activation was measured with GLISA. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as fold change. **P* < 0.05 versus control; #*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix.

2-Bromopalmitate inhibits cytomix-induced NO release

It is widely felt that both oxidative [ROS] and nitrosative [NO] stress could contribute to impairment of the overall health of the islet β -cell **[25, 56, 73, 74]**. Such concerns were raised indeed by investigators in the area warranting additional studies to investigate potential targets which could regulate both ROS and NO generation signaling steps under the duress of cytokines. To this end, we have previously reported that a palmitoylationmediated signaling step may be necessary for cytokine-induced iNOS gene expression and NO release **[42]**. Herein, we revisited those earlier studies to demonstrate that inhibition of protein palmitoylation by 2-BP inhibits cytomix-induced NO release in INS-1 832/13 cells. Data in **Figure 3-9** suggested no direct effects of 2-BP on basal NO release [bar 1 vs. bar 2].



However, as in the case with ROS generation **[Figure 3-6]**, 2-BP treatment also attenuated cytomix-induced NO release [bar 3 vs. bar 4]. Together, our findings highlight the importance of palmitoylation as a unifying mechanism involved in the induction of NOX2-mediated oxidative stress and iNOS-mediated nitrosative stress in pancreatic β -cells.





INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs time point in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate [100 μ M] and the amount of nitric oxide release was measured using Griess assay. 2-Bromopalmitate significantly decreased cytomix-induced nitric oxide release. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments. **P* < 0.05 versus control and #*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix.

2-Bromopalmitate inhibits high glucose-induced Rac1 activation

Studies from our laboratory have shown that Rac1 has both positive as well as negative regulatory roles in pancreatic β -cell function. Inhibiting the Rac1 function with pharmacological and molecular approach affects glucose stimulated insulin secretion. Inhibiting the Rac1 function also protected pancreatic β -cell from oxidative stress due to



chronic exposure to glucose, palmitate and proinflammatory cytokines **[39]**. In the present study we determined the role of palmitoylation on glucose-induced Rac1 activation. Similar to cytomix effect, incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with high glucose induces Rac1 activation. Data shown in **Figure 3-10** indicated no significant effect of 2-BP on Rac1 activation [bar 1 vs. bar 2]. However, glucose-induced Rac1 activation was inhibited by 2-BP [bar 3 vs. bar 4] indicating that both cytomix- **[Figure 3-8]** and glucose-induced Rac1 activation is dependent on palmitoylation.



Figure 3-10: 2-BP attenuates high glucose-induced Rac1 activation.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with low glucose [LG; 2.5 mM] and high glucose [HG; 20 mM] for 15 min in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate [2-BP; 100 μ M] and Rac 1 activation was measured with GLISA. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as fold change. **P* < 0.05 versus LG; #*P* < 0.05 versus HG.

لاستشارات

High glucose increases apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity

Emerging evidence from *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies provides strong support to the hypothesis that chronic exposure of β -cells to elevated glucose [i.e., glucotoxicity], lipids [i.e., lipotoxicity], or glucose plus lipids [e.g., glucolipotoxicity] results in a significant metabolic dysregulation eventually leading to cell demise **[103]**. Published evidence also suggests a marked increase in the generation of ROS, which manifests in increased oxidative stress in cells under the conditions of glucotoxicity **[25, 44]**. Several mechanisms have been put forth in this context, including depletion of intracellular redox state via the oxidation of reducing equivalents [e.g., reduced glutathione] and activation of superoxide-generating enzymatic machinery **[25, 103]**.

One of the enzymatic steps involved in the increased generation of ROS and associated induction of intracellular oxidative stress in the pancreatic β -cell includes activation of the phagocytic NADPH-oxidase [NOX2] system **[25, 44]**. NOX2 is a highly regulated membrane-associated protein complex that catalyzes the one electron reduction of oxygen to superoxide anion involving oxidation of cytosolic NADPH. The phagocytic NOX is a multicomponent system comprised of membrane as well as cytosolic components. The membrane-associated catalytic core is a complex comprising gp91^{phox}, p22^{phox}, and the small G protein Rap1. The cytosolic regulatory components include p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, and the small G protein Rac. After stimulation, the cytosolic components of NOX translocate to the membrane fraction for association with the catalytic core for holoenzyme assembly. Available evidence suggests that a protein kinase C ζ -sensitive phosphorylation of p47^{phox} leads to its translocation to the membrane fraction. It has also been shown that functional activation of Rac [i.e., Rac-GTP] is vital for the holoenzyme assembly and activation of NOX **[25]**.

Several recent studies have demonstrated localization and functional activation of the NOX in clonal β-cells, normal rat islets, and human islets under the duress of various stimuli



known to cause metabolic dysregulation **[44, 94]**. Some of these stimuli include, but are not limited to, high glucose, saturated fatty acids, and proinflammatory cytokines **[47, 95]**. Recently, our laboratory has reported increased ROS generation in islets from the diabetic Zucker Diabetic Fatty [ZDF] rat and Type 2 DM human islets. In that study, we also provided evidence to implicate Rac1-NOX2-ROS-JNK1/2 signaling cascade in glucose-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet. However, we have not directly quantitated NOX2 activity in isolated β -cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions to conclusively demonstrate that NOX2derived ROS generation is critical for high glucose-mediated effects on β -cell dysfunction. Therefore, a brief study was undertaken to quantitate NADPH oxidase activity in INS-1 832/13 cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions. To further demonstrate that such an activity represents NOX2, we included apocynin, a selective inhibitor of NOX2, in the assay.

Data in **Figure 3-11** suggested no clear effects of apocynin on NADPH oxidase activity in INS-1 832/13 cells under basal [low-glucose] conditions [bar 1 vs. bar 2]. However, exposure of these cells to high glucose resulted in a significant increase [~ 2-fold] in the enzyme activity [bar 1 vs. bar 3]. Furthermore, coprovision of apocynin to these cells markedly attenuated the ability of glucotoxic conditions to stimulate NADPH oxidase activity. These data suggest that glucotoxic conditions promote activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase activity in isolated β -cells.

Our findings provide further support to recently published evidence to suggest increased generation of ROS in cell culture models of glucotoxicity and in islets from Type 2 DM animals and humans. Biochemical and cell biological studies have also demonstrated increased expression of p47^{phox}, a member of the cytosolic core of NOX2 in these model systems **[25, 89]**. Furthermore, activation of Rac1 [GTP-bound conformation] has also been demonstrated in cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions or in islets from animal models of Type 2 DM **[89]**. Lack of no effects of apocynin on basal [LG] NADPH oxidase activity



suggests very little activation of this enzyme under basal conditions. Along these lines, recent studies by Koulajian and associates have demonstrated significant activation of NADPH oxidase activity in rat islets following prolonged exposure to non saturated fatty acids, such as oleate. Furthermore, they have demonstrated a significant reduction in the activation of NADPH oxidase by apocynin **[104]**, thus affirming critical regulatory roles for this enzyme in metabolic dysfunction induced by elevated glucose and lipids.



Figure 3-11: Exposure of INS-1 832/13 cells to high glucose leads to apocynin-sensitive NOX2 activity.

INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with low glucose [LG; 2.5 mM] and high glucose [HG; 20 mM] in presence and absence of apocynin [Apo; 100 μ m] for 48 hrs and NADPH oxidase enzyme activity was measured for 15 min. The enzyme activity was expressed as chemiluminescence units per mg lysate protein per minute. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as percent of control. **P* < 0.05 versus LG; #*P* < 0.05 versus HG.



Together, findings in this chapter of my thesis highlight the importance of palmitoylation as a unifying mechanism involved in the induction of NOX2-mediated oxidative stress and iNOS-mediated nitrosative stress in pancreatic β-cell.



Figure 3-12: Model to implicate the role of palmitoylation in cytokine-induced metabolic dysregulation and apoptosis of the pancreatic β -cell.



Chapter 4: Studies of downstream signaling events involved in cytokineinduced dysfunction of the islet β-cell

 Portions of this work have been published [copy of the published manuscript is appended]

Arora DK, Mohammed AM, Kowluru A. Nifedipine prevents etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation, prenyl transferase degradation and loss in cell viability in pancreatic β-cells. Apoptosis. 2013; 18(1):1-8.



Figure 4-1: MAP kinase signaling cascade.

Cytomix activates JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase at 30 min

Previous studies have demonstrated a role for mitogen-activated protein [MAP] kinase signaling cascade in cytokine-induced dysfunction in multiple cell types including pancreatic β-cell **[105-107]**. Once the mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase families



[MAPKKK] are activated by cytokines [stress], the immediate downstream MAP kinase kinase [MAPKK] get activated followed by phosphorylation and activation of either p38 MAP kinase by MAPKK3 and MAPKK6 or JNK by MAPKK4 and MAPKK7 at the threonine and tyrosine residues which lead to the downstream signaling pathways such as activation of mitochondrial apoptotic protein, transcription factors and ER stress [Figure 4-1]. Studies have shown that the stress [proinflammatory cytokines] signals are delivered to the protein kinases through small GTPase such as Rac1 and Ras proteins [107-109].

2-Bromopalmitate inhibits cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation

Recent study from our laboratory has shown that high glucose and palmitate activate JNK1/2 in INS-1 832/13 cells and this result has also confirmed in Zucker Diabetic Fatty [ZDF] rat islets, an animal model for type II diabetes **[89]**. To study the effect of cytokines on JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase and the role of protein palmitoylation in the signaling pathway, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix [0-24 hrs] in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate [100 µM]. Short term [30 min] incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with cytomix significantly increased JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation **[Figure 4-2 and Figure 4-7]**. However, long term incubation [12 and 24 hrs] with cytomix had no notable effect on JNK1/2 activation at 30 min **[Figure 4-2]** and had no effect on p38 MAP kinase activation **[Figure 4-3]**. 2-Bromopalmitate significantly inhibited cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation at 30 min **[Figure 4-2]** and had no effect on p38 MAP kinase activation. Interestingly, unlike short term incubation, long term incubation [12 and 24 hrs] of 2-BP increased JNK1/2 activation at the basal level **[Figure 4-3]** implying that there is/are palmitoylated proteins which suppress JNK1/2 activation in the absence of stress inducing agents.





B)



Figure 4-2: Cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation is inhibited by 2-BP.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μ M]. JNK1/2 activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between pJNK1/2 and total-JNK1/2. Cytomix significantly increased JNK1/2 activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control] and it is inhibited by 2-BP [#*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix for pJNK1 and \$*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix for pJNK2].





Figure 4-3: Long term incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with cytomix and 2-BP.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 12 and 24 hrs in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μ M] and JNK1/2 activation was determined by Western blot. Both at 12 and 24 hrs, there is no difference in JNK1/2 activation between control and cytomix treatment [lane 1 vs. lane 3; 12 and 24 hrs]. However, 2-BP increased basal JNK1/2 activation [lane 1 vs. lane 2; 12 and 24 hrs].

EHop-016 and NSC23766 inhibit cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation

Rac1 is regulated by three major types of proteins. These include GEFs [Guanine nucleotide Exchange Factors], GDIs [GDP Dissociation Inhibitors] and GAPs [GTPase Activating Proteins]. During the inactive state, Rac1 binds to GDI in the cytoplasmic compartment. Up on arrival of appropriate stimuli, GDI dissociates from the Rac1 and GEF namely Tiam1 and/or Vav2 facilitate the exchange of GTP for GDP causing the Rac1 to be in active form and regulates its effector proteins. Once the downstream events are activated by Rac1, the intrinsic GTPase of Rac1 and/or GAP hydrolysis the GTP loaded on Rac1 returning it to inactive state [Figure 4-4].



We utilized two pharmacological agents that inhibit Rac1 function. The first being EHop-016 which is more potent inhibitor than NSC23766 **[25, 94]**.



Gregg D et al. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2003; 285(4):C723-C734



To study the role of Rac1 activation in cytomix-induced JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of EHop-016 [5 μ M] and NSC23766 [20 μ M]. Both compounds had no effect on basal JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation where as cytomix consistently increased JNK1/2 [Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6] and p38 MAP kinase activation **[Figure 4-8 and Figure 4-9]**. While cytomix induced JNK1/2 activation is inhibited by EHop-016 and NSC23766 [Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6], their effect on cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation has not been observed in this study [Figure 4-8 and 4-9] indicating that p38 MAP kinase activation does not require Rac1 activation.







Figure 4-5: Cytomix-induced JNK1/2 activation is inhibited by EHop-016.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of EHop-016 [5 μ M]. JNK1/2 activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between pJNK1/2 and total-JNK1/2. Cytomix significantly increased JNK1/2 activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control] and it is inhibited by EHop-016 [#*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix for pJNK1 and \$*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix for pJNK2].





Figure 4-6: Cytomix-induced JNK2 activation is inhibited by NSC23766.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of NSC23766 [20 μ M]. JNK1/2 activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between pJNK1/2 and total-JNK1/2. Cytomix significantly increased JNK1/2 activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control] and cytomix-induced JNK2 activation is inhibited by NSC23766 [#*P* < 0.05 versus cytomix for pJNK2].





Figure 4-7: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by 2-BP.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of 2-BP [100 μ M] and p38 MAP kinase activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between p-p38 over total-p38. Cytomix increased p38 MAP kinase activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control]; however, the activation is not inhibited by 2BP.





Figure 4-8: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by EHop-016.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of EHop-016 [5 μ M] and p38 MAP kinase activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between p-p38 over total-p38. Cytomix increased p38 MAP kinase activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control]; however, the activation is not inhibited by EHop-016.







Figure 4-9: Cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation is not inhibited by NSC23766.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 30 min in the presence and absence of NSC23766 [20 μ M] and p38 MAP kinase activation was determined by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between p-p38 over total-p38. Cytomix increased p38 MAP kinase activation [**P* < 0.05 versus control]; however, the activation is not inhibited by NSC23766.



Cytomix-induced ER stress is not inhibited by 2-bromopalmitate

It is well established that ER stress underlies cytokine-mediated metabolic dysregulation of the islet β -cell **[66, 75, 76]**. Furthermore, recent studies by Baldwin and associates have suggested a critical requirement for protein palmitoylation in palmitate-induced CHOP expression [a marker for ER stress] in that, 2-BP significantly attenuated palmitate-induced CHOP expression in insulin-secreting RINm5F cells **[111]**. Therefore, we investigated if cytomix-induced CHOP expression in INS-1 832/13 cells is sensitive to 2-BP. To address this, cytomix-induced CHOP expression was measured in cells incubated in the presence of diluent alone or 2-BP.

Data depicted in **Figure 4-10** represents a Western blot for the expression of CHOP. It suggested no clear effects of 2-BP on CHOP expression under basal conditions [lane 1 vs. lane 2]. Exposure of these cells to cytomix significantly increased CHOP expression [lane 1 vs. lane 3]. However, provision of 2-BP to cytomix-treated cells did not exert any significant effect on CHOP expression [lane 3 vs. lane 4] suggesting that protein palmitoylation is not necessary for cytomix-induced CHOP expression.





Figure 4-10: Cytomix-induced CHOP [C/EBP homologous protein] expression is not inhibited by 2-BP.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs time point in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate [100 μ M]. The level of CHOP expression, a marker for endoplasmic reticulum [ER] stress, was measured by Western blot. Equal protein loading was confirmed by β -actin content in individual lanes.

Cytomix induces caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α degradation

Apoptosis, a genetically encoded programmed cell death, plays major role in cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunction and death. The release of cytochrome C from mitochondrial intermembraneous space causes the initiation and activation of caspase family of cysteine proteases [112]. Studies from our laboratory have shown that palmitate, ceramide and proinflammatory cytokines cause loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and caspase-3 activation [47, 95]. In the present study, the downstream effects of cytomix-induced damage on mitochondrial membrane have been examined. Incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24 hrs significantly increased caspase-3 activation [Figure 4-11]. Cytomix also caused a significant degradation of FTase/GGTase α [Figure 4-12], one of the substrate protein for active caspase-3.

To further elucidate that caspase-3 activation leads to FTase/GGTase α degradation, studies have been carried out using caspase-3 inhibitor and etoposide, a known genotoxic agent that causes a roboust activation of caspase-3. Incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with etoposide [60 μ M; 6 h] significantly activated caspase-3 [Figure 4-13] and caspase-3 inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK, [25 μ M; 6 h] blocked the activation. Similarly, etoposide induces



significant amount of FTase/GGTase-α degradation **[Figure 4-14]** that was inhibited by the peptide inhibitor indicating that caspase-3 activation causes degradation and inactivation of FTase and GGTase that leads to defective activation of key G-proteins, defective nuclear assembly of lamins and loss of cell viability.



Figure 4-11: Cytomix induces caspase-3 activation.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24hrs and the expression of cleaved caspase-3 was measured by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between cleaved caspase-3 and β -actin. Cytomix significantly induces caspase-3 activation. **P* < 0.05 versus control.





Figure 4-12: Cytomix increases FTase/GGTase α degradation.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ , 10 ng/ml each] for 24hrs time points and the expression of FTase/GGTase α degradation product was measured by Western blot [**Panel A**] followed by densitometry [**Panel B**]. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiment and expressed as fold change of the ratios between degraded FTase/GGTase α and β -actin. Cytomix significantly increases FTase/GGTase α degradation. **P* < 0.05 versus control.



 Active caspase-3

 Actin

 Etoposide (μM)

 60
 60

 Z-DEDV-FMK (25μM)
 +



A)



Figure 4-13: Etoposide induces caspase-3 activation: Protection of this signaling step by Z-DEVD-FMK, an inhibitor of caspase-3.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with either diluents or etoposide [60 μ M] in the presence or absence of peptide inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK [25 μ M; 6 h]. Caspase-3 activation was determined by Western blotting. Equal amount of lysates protein were resolved by SDS-PAGE [10 %]. Protein loading was determined by β -actin content in individual lanes. Representatives blot indicating the caspase-3 activation **[Panel A]** is provided. Quantitative analysis of data obtained from three independent experiments for caspase-3 activation **[Panel B]** was carried out by densitometry. Results are shown as mean ± SEM. **P* < 0.05.



60



B)

A)



Figure 4-14: Etoposide induces FTase/GGTase- α degradation: Protection of this signaling step by Z-DEVD-FMK, an inhibitor of caspase-3.

INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with either diluents or etoposide [60 μ M] in the presence or absence of peptide inhibitor, Z-DEVD-FMK [25 μ M; 6 h]. FTase/GGTase- α degradation was determined by Western blotting. Equal amount of lysates protein were resolved by SDS-PAGE [10 %]. Protein loading was determined by β -actin content in individual lanes. Representatives blot indicating the FTase/GGTase- α degradation [Panel A] is provided. Quantitative analysis of data obtained from three independent experiments for FTase/GGTase- α degradation [Panel B] was carried out by densitometry. Results are shown as mean ± SEM. ***P < 0.001.



In conclusion,

- I have studied the effect of cytokines on stress signals namely, JNK1/2, p38 MAP kinase, ER stress, NOX2 activation, NO release and downstream effect of mitochondrial dysfunction.
- I have assessed the effect of three pharmacological inhibitors namely, inhibitor of palmitoylation [2-BP], Vav2-Rac1 [EHop-016] and Tiam1-Rac1 [NSC23766] axis.

Stress Signals	2-BP	EHop-016	NSC23766
JNK1/2	Inhibition	Inhibition	Inhibition
p38 MAP kinase	No effect	No effect	No effect
ER stress	No effect	Not determined	Not determined
NOX2	Inhibition	Not determined	Inhibition
NO	inhibition	Not determined	No effect

Table 4-1: Summary of the effects of three pharmacological inhibitors on stress signaling kinases.


Chapter 5: Preliminary studies to determine potential difference, if any in NOX2 subunit expression and ROS generation in islets from pre-diabetic NOD mice and the control BALB mice.

Type I diabetes is an autoimmune disorder that results from the destruction of insulin secreting pancreatic β -cell. Although the exact causes of the disorder are still under scientific scrutiny, studies have shown that cytokines play a major role in the pathogenesis of the disease **[12, 14, 16]**. To reveal the pathophysiological mechanisms, non obese diabetic [NOD] mice, a well known animal model for type I diabetes, have been used for more than 30 years.

The NOD mice develop diabetes spontaneously around 12-14 weeks of age and the incidence rate is higher in the female mice than the male mice **[23]**. Based on the hypothesis that NOX2 hyperactivation plays a role in mediating cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunction in the NOD mice, the present study examined the basal status of NOX2 subunit expression and activation in the islets of female NOD mice and age matched BALB control mice [7-8 weeks]. Preliminary results have shown that both islets of NOD and BALB mice express NOX2 subunits namely phospho-p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, Rac1 and gp91^{phox}. There is no difference in the expression as well as activation of the NOX2 enzyme system between the two groups **[Figure 5-1 and 5-2]**. Incubation of the islets with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml] for 24 hrs increased gp91^{phox} expression in both BALB and NOD mice islets preparation **[Figure 5-3]**.





Figure 5-1: NOX2 subunit expression in the islets of NOD and BALB mice.

There is no difference in NOX2 subunit expression in the islets of NOD and control BALB mice. Pancreatic islets were isolated from female NOD and control BALB mice using collagenase digestion of the pancreas and the expression level of phospho-p47^{phox}, p67^{phox} gp91^{phox} and Rac1 were determined by Western blot.



Ш

Ш

I



Figure 5-2: ROS generation and Rac1 activation in the islets of NOD and BALB mice.

There is no difference in ROS generation and Rac1 activation in the islets of NOD and control BALB mice. Pancreatic islets were isolated from female NOD and control BALB mice using collagenase digestion of the pancreas and the amount of ROS generation and Rac1 activation were determined using DCHF-DA assay and GLISA respectively. Data represent mean <u>+</u> SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control for ROS generation and fold change for Rac1 activation.



للاستشارات

64



Figure 5-3: The effect of cytomix in the islets of NOD and BALB mice.

Cytomix induces gp91phox expression in the islets of NOD and control BALB mice. Pancreatic islets were isolated from female NOD and control BALB mice using collagenase digestion of the pancreas. The isolated islets were incubated with cytomix [IL-1 β , TNF α , and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each] for 24hrs and the expression level of gp91^{phox}, phospho-p47^{phox} and p67^{phox} were determined by Western blot.

In summary, the results obtained in this preliminary study are inconclusive and are yet to be confirmed. Future experiment will determine whether or not NSC23766, EHop-016 and 2BP prevent cytokine-induced damage *ex vivo* and delay or prevent the onset of diabetes in

the NOD mice.



65

Chapter 6: Discussion

 Portions of this work have been published [copy of the published manuscript is appended]

Mohammed AM, Chen F, Kowluru A. The Two Faces of Protein Palmitoylation in Islet β-Cell Function: Potential Implications in the Pathophysiology of Islet Metabolic Dysregulation and Diabetes. Recent Patents Endocrine Metabolic and Immune Drug Discovery. 2013 [Epub ahead of print].

The uptake of glucose by the body cells is dependent upon the availability of insulin and the loss of functional pancreatic β -cell mass leads to a condition called "starvation amidst plenty" where there is an excess amount of glucose in the blood yet the body cells are starved. In type I diabetes, proinflammatory cytokines namely IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ are involved in the loss of pancreatic β -cell mass. However the precise mechanisms underlying the loss of cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cells are relatively poorly understood. Therefore, the objective of my doctoral work is to study the putative mechanisms of cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the pancreatic β -cell and identify a novel therapeutic target for the prevention of cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell.

Studies have shown that phagocytic-like NADPH oxidase [NOX2] has a significant role in exerting detrimental effects on the pancreatic β-cells following exposure to high glucose [glucotoxicity], palmitate [lipotoxicity] or proinflammatory cytokines **[25, 56, 72, 94]**. Results from our laboratory have shown that incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells and normal rat islets with high glucose and palmitate increased Rac1 activation, p47^{phox} expression, ROS generation and mitochondrial damage. Follow up studies in islets from Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rats, an animal model for type II diabetes, and diabetic human islets confirmed the



above results including an increase in expression of p47^{phox}, Rac1 and gp91^{phox} and activation of p47^{phox}, Rac1 and ROS generation **[39, 51, 89]**.

Studies using proinflammatory cytokines and INS-1 832/13 cells have shown many similarities in identifying the NADPH oxidase [NOX2] as a common pathway for metabolic dysfunction of the pancreatic β-cell under gluco-lipo-toxicity and proinflammatory cytokine conditions. Those previous findings include, incubating INS-1 832/13 cells with cytomix [IL-β, TNFα and INFγ; 10 ng/ml each] transiently [~15min] increase Rac1 activation, p47^{phox} expression, ROS generation and mitochondrial damage. The use of pharmacological and molecular biological approach indicated the role of Rac1 and p47^{phox} in cytomix-induced ROS generation and mitochondrial membrane damage. Inhibiting the Tiam1-Rac1 axis using NSC23766 and the use of GGTI-2147, a geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor, attenuated Rac1 activation, ROS generation and mitochondrial damage. siRNA p47^{phox} transfection and apocynin also inhibited cytomix-induced ROS generation **[47]**.

As a logical extension of these studies, we further explored the mechanism of NOX2 activation during the challenge with proinflammatory cytokines condition. To study the effect of individual cytokines [IL-1 β , TNF α and IFN γ ; 25 ng/ml] on NOX2 activation, first, the amount of ROS generation was measured after 24 hrs incubation and the results showed that IL-1 β alone can activate the NOX2 system. As there are other cellular sources for ROS such as mitochondria and since NOX2 activation specifically produce superoxide we measured the NOX2 activity following cytokine [IL-1 β] and high glucose exposure by lucigenin [N, N⁻-dimethyl-9, 9⁻-biacridinium dinitrate] assay. The assay is based on detection of chemiluminescence signal that results from reaction of superoxide anion and lucigenin. The result showed that both glucose and IL-1 β activate NOX2. IL-1 β [25 ng/ml] activated the NOX2 as early as 30 min and the enzyme activity is completely blocked by apocynin, which



is relatively a selective NOX2 inhibitor, and the enzyme time kinetics coincide with activation of the cytosolic [p47^{phox}, Rac1] and membranous [gp91^{phox}] components of the Nox2 system.

The complex nature of human being cannot be explained only using the number of genes in our genome which is ~4-5 times higher when compared with the simple eukaryotic organisms such as yeast **[113, 114]**. Hence, post-translational modifications of proteins such as methylation, phosphorylation, prenylation and palmitoylation play major role in diversifying protein functions that make specific characteristics for a given species. The present study discloses that p47^{phox}, one of the cytosolic subunits of the NADPH oxidase enzyme system undergoes phosphorylation in INS-1 832/13 cells following cytomix exposure.

Similar results have been found in other cell types such as alveolar epithelial cell **[97]**, endothelial cell **[98]**, seabream head kidney **[115]** under different stimulatory conditions. The above studies also indicated that protein kinase C [PKC] might be responsible for the addition of phosphate group to p47^{phox} that participates in initiating the cascade for activation of the NOX2 enzyme system. Moreover, studies using protein kinase C [PKC] knockout mice have shown partial protection from multiple low dose of streptozotocin-induced hyperglycemia and cytokine mediated islet apoptosis *in vitro* **[116]**. Beside p47^{phox} phosphorylation, the present study also examined the effect of cytomix on gp91^{phox} expression, which is a membrane component of NOX2. The result showed acute regulation [~20 min] by cytomix along with other cytosolic components such as Rac1 [~15 min] and p47^{phox}.

In the context of the currently described studies, our laboratory has recently published evidence to suggest that exposure of isolated β -cells to proinflammatory cytokines results in increased expression of p47^{phox}, a member of the cytosolic core of NOX2, within 12-24 hr. It has also shown that Rac1, another cytosolic component of NOX2, gets activated transiently [~15 min] following exposure to cytokines **[47]**. More importantly, the data also suggested



that inhibition of p47^{phox} function via siRNA-p47^{phox} or Rac1 functions using inhibitors of Rac1 prenylation [i.e., GGTI-2147] or its GTP-exchange functions by Tiam1 [e.g., NSC23766] significantly attenuated cytokine-induced ROS generation and loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. Interestingly, neither GGTI-2147 nor NSC23766 prevented cytokine-induced NO generation [47] suggesting that NOX2 activation is not upstream to iNOS induction and NO release, and the two signaling steps are regulated by two distinct mechanisms.

Existing body of evidence clearly implicates novel regulatory roles for protein palmitoylation in cellular functions. Unlike isoprenylation, palmitoylation steps are subject to acute regulation at the level of the "on" steps [addition of palmitoyl group] as well as the "off" steps [removal of palmitoyl group]. The protein palmitoyltransferases [PATs] catalyze the transfer of palmitate into the cysteine residues of proteins containing DHHC [Asp-His-His-Cys] cysteine-rich domains [CRD] via a thioester linkage. Typically, these reactions are known to occur at the cytoplasmic face of membranes in the secretory pathway [e.g., endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi] and the plasma membrane **[117, 118]**. At least two types of PAT activities have been reported. The first group catalyzes palmitoylation of farnesylated proteins including Ras GTPases [e.g., H-Ras and N-Ras], whereas the second group of PATs mediates palmitoylation of *Src* family of tyrosine kinases. A distinct class of palmitoyl thioesterases, namely protein palmitoyl thioesterases 1 and 2 and acyl palmitoylesterase 1 mediate depalmitoylation via hydrolysis of the ester bonds to complete the palmitoylation-depalmitoylation [i.e., activation-inactivation] cycle **[Figure 6-1] [117, 118]**.





Figure 6-1: Palmitoylation and depalmitoylation cycle for a classical farnesylated G-protein.

Protein palmitoylation plays key regulatory roles in cellular function including subcellular localization of proteins, trafficking and stability **[117-119]**. It is widely felt that palmitoylation dictates interaction of peripheral membrane proteins. Potential regulatory roles of palmitoylation of integral membrane proteins still remain unclear. Several cellular proteins have been demonstrated to undergo palmitoylation. Some of these include, but not limited to, A-kinase anchoring protein 79/150 **[120]**, phospholipase scramblase **[121]**, ankyrin-g **[122]**, glutamic acid decarboxylase **[123]**, cytoskeletal-associated protein 4 **[124]**, integrin α 6 β 4 **[125]**, and calnexin **[126]**. In addition, several GPCRs, including μ -opioid receptor **[127]**, protease-activated recpetor-2 **[128]**, β 2 adrenergic receptor **[129]** somatostatin receptor **[130]**, regulator of G-protein signaling [RGS4] **[131]**, neurotensin receptor **[132]**, and p63Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor **[133]** appear to be regulated by palmitoylation-depalmitoylation signaling steps.

Despite considerable experimental evidences on the identity and functional properties including subcellular distribution of PATs and palmitoylesterases are described in a variety of cell types, very little is known about the identity and regulation of palmitoyl transferases and esterases in the islet β -cell. However, pharmacological evidence appears to support key



roles for these signaling steps in islet β -cell function. For example, cerulenin [CER] has been shown to inhibit insulin secretion induced by glucose, α -ketoiso-caproic acid, and long chain acyl CoAs **[34, 134-136]**. CER also inhibits glucose-induced incorporation of radio labeled palmitate into islet proteins and inhibition of palmitoylation of a 24 kDa protein **[137]**, and palmitate-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor **[138]**.

Interestingly, studies by Metz and associates have demonstrated that CER failed to inhibit insulin secretion facilitated by non-nutrient secretagogues, such as a membranedepolarizing concentration of potassium, activators of protein kinase A, or mastoparan **[34]**. More recent studies by Abdel-Ghany and associates **[139]** have demonstrated significant incorporation of $[^{3}H]$ palmitate into islet β -cell proteins, which was stimulated by glucose. Furthermore, 2-aminobicyclo heptane-3-carboxylic acid, a non-metabolizable analog of leucine and an insulin secretagogue, also promoted incorporation of labeled palmitate into β -cell proteins. Autoradiographic analysis of these proteins separated by gel electrophoresis demonstrated glucose-mediated increase in palmitoylation of at least four β -cell proteins with apparent molecular weights of 30, 44, 48 and 76 kDa. More importantly, CER inhibited incorporation of labeled palmitate into these proteins under basal as well as glucose-stimulated conditions indicating the role of protein acylation in islet function **[139]**.

In addition to CER, some studies utilized 2-BP to understand the roles of acylation/lipid metabolism in islet functions including insulin secretion. For example, original studies by Warnotte and associates demonstrated partial inhibition of palmitate-induced potentiation of glucose-induced insulin secretion [140]. Studies by Parker and coworkers [141] have suggested significant inhibition, by 2-BP, of palmitate esterification into cellular lipids in isolated rat islets. Furthermore, they also demonstrated partial inhibition of palmitate-mediated potentiation of glucose stimulated insulin secretion [GSIS]. Cheng and associates [142] reported significant protection of distal inhibitory effects of norepinephrine on



physiological insulin secretion by CER and 2-BP. Based on these observations these investigators proposed novel roles for protein acylation signaling steps in exocytotic secretion of insulin. Together, pharmacological evidence suggests that protein acylation, specifically palmitoylation, plays critical regulatory roles in islet β -cell function, including insulin secretion.

Recent studies have implicated novel roles for small G-proteins [Arf6, Cdc42 and Rac1] in glucose stimulated insulin secretion [GSIS] **[25, 27, 143, 144]**. Furthermore, using various pharmacological and molecular biological approaches, our lab and others documented a requirement for post-translational prenylation and carboxylmethylation of G-proteins [e.g., Cdc42, Rho, Rac1] for physiological insulin secretion **[25, 27]**. More importantly, despite the above described pharmacological evidence to indicate inhibition of GSIS by CER and 2-BP, very little is known if Rac1 and Cdc42 also require palmitoylation to facilitate GSIS. In this context, recently published evidence suggests that Rac1 and bCdc42 [a splice variant of Cdc42 with predominant localization in the brain] undergo palmitoylation.

For example, Navarro-Lerida and associates have recently demonstrated that Rac1 undergoes palmitoylation at cysteine 178 to facilitate its targeting for stabilization at actin cytoskeleton-linked ordered membrane regions **[145]**. Interestingly, they observed that palmitoylation of Rac1 requires its prior prenylation and the intact C-terminal polybasic region and is regulated by the triproline-rich motif. In addition, palmitoylation step appears to be required for Rac1 activation [i.e., GTP-binding] since non-palmitoylated Rac1 exhibited decreased GTP loading and lower association with detergent-resistant membranes. Further proof that palmitoylation of Rac1 is critical for cellular function was afforded in these studies since cells lacking Rac1 exhibited spreading and migration defects. Based on this compelling evidence, the authors concluded that palmitoylation of Rac1 is requisite for its role in actin cytoskeleton remodeling and regulation of membrane organization.

Along these lines, Kang et al [146] have demonstrated palmitoylation of a brain-



specific Cdc42 splice variant [bCdc42]. Additional studies by Nishimura and Linder have documented that bCdc42 undergoes classical CAAX processing as well as prenylation and palmitoylation at the CCAX motif **[147]**. Interestingly, the prenylated and palmitoylated bCdc42 interacted less efficiently with RhoGDI [a signaling step critical for Cdc42 activation-deactivation cycles] when compared to canonical Cdc42, which is only prenylated and carboxylmethylated, but not palmitoylated. Additional studies are required to determine if palmitoylation of Rac1 and/or Cdc42 is necessary for GSIS to occur.

In addition to small G-proteins, heterotrimeric G-proteins also control islet function including GSIS **[25, 27]**. Along these lines, our laboratory has demonstrated non-receptor dependent activation of trimeric G-proteins by glucose. For example, we have reported phosphorylation of G_{β} subunits at critical histidine residues in clonal β -cells, normal rat islets and human islets, which, in turn, is transferred to $G_{\alpha,GDP}$ to yield biologically active GTP-bound G_{α} subunits **[148, 149]**. In addition, previous studies have also demonstrated glucose-mediated activation of the carboxylmethylation of G_{γ} subunits **[33]**. Together, these observations provided the first evidence to indicate activation of trimeric GTPase via signaling steps generated during glucose metabolism culminating in insulin secretion. It is noteworthy that recent findings from the laboratory of Gautam **[150, 151]** have suggested critical roles for protein palmitoylation in the shuttling of trimeric G-protein subunits between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes, which is inhibited by 2-BP. Potential involvement of protein palmitoylation in glucose-induced activation of trimeric-proteins in the islet β -cell remains to be verified experimentally.

In addition to their positive modulatory roles, accumulating evidence supports the view point that protein palmitoylation plays negative modulatory roles in the induction of metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell under the duress of noxious stimuli such as proinflammatory cytokines and saturated fatty acids. Original studies from our laboratory



suggested that a protein palmitoylation step controls IL-1 β -induced iNOS gene expression and NO release in insulin-secreting β -cells **[40, 42]**. In those studies, H-Ras, a small Gprotein, was identified as one of the palmitoylated proteins, which is involved in IL-1 β induced NO release. These conclusions were confirmed via the use of two selective inhibitors of protein palmitoylation, namely CER and 2-BP **[42]**. 2-hydroxymyristic acid, an inhibitor of protein myristoylation, failed to affect IL-1 β -induced NO release suggesting the relevance of palmitoylation, but not myristoylation, in these signaling steps.

It is also demonstrated that there is a significant accumulation of H-Ras in the cytosolic fraction in cells incubated with CER indicating that inhibition of palmitoylation leads to mis-targeting of G-proteins in islet β -cells **[42, 152]**. Furthermore, it has also been able to demonstrate that selective inhibitors of protein farnesylation [e.g., allylfarnesols, manumycin, damnacanthal, FTI-277] markedly attenuated cytokine-induced NO release suggesting that farnesylation as well as palmitoylation of H-Ras are necessary for IL-1 β -mediated effects on NO release **[25]**. Identity of H-Ras as one of the regulatory proteins involved in cytokine-induced NO release in β -cells was also confirmed through the use of bacterial toxins **[40]**. In addition to the H-Ras, iNOS also undergo palmitoylation **[153]** and the inhibitory effect of 2-BP and cerulenin on cytokine-induced NO release may be in part due to inhibition of iNOS palmitoylation.

Interestingly, the current findings demonstrated that 2-BP also inhibited cytokineinduced NOX2 activation and ROS generation suggesting that protein palmitoylation might be crucial to cytokine-mediated effects. To address the question of potential identity of the protein, cytomix-and glucose induced Rac1 activation was quantitated in the presence of palmitoylation inhibitor [2-BP]. 2-BP completely blocked Rac1 activation suggesting that for the Rac1 to become active and initiate NOX2 activation, it requires palmitoylation reaction. Along these lines, recent studies from Corbett's laboratory have demonstrated a requirement



74

for a palmitoylation step in palmitate-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell [111]. Interestingly, they reported a significant inhibition in palmitate-induced CHOP expression and associated metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell in the presence of 2-BP. While the present results further validate such a model in the context of cytokines, we failed to observe any significant effects of inhibition of protein palmitoylation with 2-BP on cytokine-induced CHOP expression suggesting distinct mechanisms underlying palmitate and cytokine-induced ER stress and CHOP expression.

Evidences are out there indicating that c-Jun N-terminal kinase [JNK] and p38 which are part of the MAP kinase family mediate the downstream effect of cytokine-induced apoptosis in pancreatic β-cell [85-88]. Findings from the present study also confirmed that, short term exposure with cytomix increased JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation. To further explore the role of small G-proteins and their post-translational modification in cytomix-induced JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation, the effect of three pharmacological inhibitors namely, inhibitor of palmitoylation [2BP], Vav2-Rac1 [EHop-016] and Tiam1-Rac1 [NSC23766] axis were assessed on cytomix-induced JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation. The result showed that palmitoylation is required for short term cytomix induced JNK1/2 activation. Long term incubation with 2-BP increases JNK1/2 activation at the basal level and this may imply that a palmitoylated protein/s suppress JNK1/2 activation in the absence of stress inducing agents. In addition to the small G-proteins such as Rac1, Ras or bCdc42, there may be a condition that JNK1/2 undergoes palmitoylation following cytomix exposure although this needs to be verified experimentally in the β -cell. This is because palmitoylation of JNK3, one of the isoform of the JNK, regulate axonal branching and development in cortical neuronal culture [154].

The upstream role of Rac1 over JNK1/2 activation in gluco-lipotoxic conditions [89], cytokine-induced apoptosis of intestinal epithelial cell [107] and JNK1 mediated epithelial cell



migration during wound healing **[155]** have shown in this study using Vav2-Rac1 and Tiam1-Rac1 inhibitors. Lower concentration of EHop-016 inhibits both JNK1/2 indicating that EHop-016 is more potent than NSC23766 in inhibiting Rac1 activation. The absence of inhibitory effect of 2-BP, EHop-016 and NSC23766 on p38 MAP kinase activation implies that palmitoylation and Rac1 activation are not required for cytomix-induced p38 MAP kinase activation.

As stated in those previous paragraphs, small molecular mass and heterotrimeric Gproteins play important roles in cellular signaling events leading to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion **[27, 156]**. A growing body of evidence is also suggestive of novel roles for these signaling proteins in other β -cell functions including cell cycle progression, survival and apoptosis **[25]**. It is noteworthy that the majority of these proteins undergo post-translational modifications at their C-terminal cysteine residues [e.g., prenylation, methylation and acylation], which are essential for their trafficking to relevant cell membranes for optimal interaction with their respective effector proteins culminating in optimal regulation of β -cell function **[25, 27, 34]**.

Despite the compelling evidence that FTase and GGTases are acutely regulated by glucose in the β -cell **[156, 157]**, and that they are critical for insulin secretion **[25, 31, 35]**, very little is known with regard to potential alterations in these enzymes under conditions of cellular apoptosis. Along these lines, studies by Kim and associates have demonstrated degradation of the FTase/GGTase α -subunit under conditions of caspase-3 activation **[158]**. With this in mind, we quantitated caspase-3 activation, FTase/GGTase degradation and cellular dysfunction in isolated β -cells exposed to cytomix and etoposide, a known inducer of apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells. Our findings suggested that both cytomix and etoposide induce caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α degradation, and blocking the caspase-3 activation prevented the degradation of the common α -subunit of FTase/GGTase indicating



that caspase-3 activation causes degradation and inactivation of FTase and GGTase that leads to defective activation of key G-proteins, defective nuclear assembly of lamins and loss of cell viability.

As a logical extension of the *in vitro* findings of cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunction to an *in vivo* animal model, preliminary results have shown that both NOD mice and BALB control mice islets express NOX2 subunits namely phospho-p47^{phox}[NCF1], p67^{phox}, Rac1 and gp91^{phox}; however, the results obtained in this study are inconclusive and yet to be confirmed.



Chapter 7: Conclusion and Future directions

NADPH oxidase [NOX2] has cytosolic and membranous components. $p47^{phox}$, $p40^{phox}$, $p67^{phox}$ and Rac1 constitute the cytosolic components and the membranous core is comprised of $gp91^{phox}/p22^{phox}$ and Rap1. It is well established that the cytosolic core translocates to the membrane for association with the membranous core to complete the holoenzyme assembly and catalytic activation. Several lines of evidence from multiple laboratories including our own implicated NOX2 in dysregulation of the islet β -cell exposed to a wide variety of pathological conditions, including chronic exposure to high glucose, palmitate and proinflammatory cytokines. The present study yielded some novel findings suggesting that: [i] cytokines induce $p47^{phox}$ phosphorylation, $gp91^{phox}$ expression, NOX2 activation, JNK1/2 and p38 MAP kinase activation under acute regulatory conditions; [ii] 2-BP, a classic inhibitor of protein palmitoylation significantly attenuated cytomix-induced Rac1 activation, NOX2-mediated ROS generation, iNOS-mediated NO release, JNK1/2 activation providing clues that protein palmitoylation step represents a novel therapeutic target for cytokine-induced pancreatic β -cell dysfunction; [iii] Cytokine-induced JNK1/2 activation requires Tiam1-Rac1 and Vav2-Rac1 axis.

Follow up studies to present findings will include the following:

- Evaluate if 2-BP, EHop-016 and NSC23766 prevent NOX2 activation and ROS generation in pre-diabetic islets exposed to cytokines *in vitro*.
- Demonstrate if treatment of pre-diabetic NOD mice with 2BP, EHop-016 and NSC23766 prevent the incidence or delay the onset of diabetes.
- Molecular biological studies [siRNA] of the regulatory role of palmitoyl transferase/esterase in cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the pancreatic βcell.



Study the role of other isoforms of NADPH oxidase [NOX] in cytokine-induced pancreatic β-cell dysfunction.



APPENDIX A MOHAMMED ET AL 2013

Biochemical Pharmacology 85 (2013) 109-114



Upregulation of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase by cytokines in pancreatic beta-cells: Attenuation of oxidative and nitrosative stress by 2-bromopalmitate

Abiy M. Mohammed, Khadija Syeda, Timothy Hadden, Anjaneyulu Kowluru*

Beta-Cell Biochemistry Laboratory, John D. Dingell VA Medical Center, and Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI 48201, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 August 2012 Accepted 25 September 2012 Available online 23 October 2012

Keywords: Pancreatic β-cell NADPH-oxidase 2-Bromopalmitate Cytokines Oxidative stress Nitrosative stress

ABSTRACT

Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase (Nox2) has been shown to play regulatory roles in the metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell under the duress of glucolipotoxic conditions and exposure to proinflam matory cytokines. However, the precise mechanisms underlying Nox2 activation by these stimuli remain less understood. To this end, we report a time-dependent phosphorylation of p47phox, a cytosolic subunit of Nox2, by cytomix (IL-1 β + TNF α + IFN γ) in insulin-secreting INS-1.8.32/13 cells. Furthermore, cytomix induced the expression of gp91phox, a membrane component of Nox2. 2-Bromopalmitate (2-BP), a known inhibitor of protein palmitoylation, markedly attenuated cytokine-induced, Nox2-mediated reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)-mediated nitric oxide (NO) generation. However, 2-BP failed to exert any significant effects on cytomix-induced CHOP expression, a marker for endoplasmic reticulum stress. Together, our findings identify palmitoyltransferase as a target for inhibition of cytomix-inducedoxidative (ROS generation) and nitrosative (NO generation) stress in the pancreatic β -cell.

Published by Elsevier Inc.

1. Introduction

Type 1 diabetes is characterized by an absolute insulin deficiency arising from progressive autoimmune destruction of insulin-secreting pancreatic β -cells [1–3]. During the progression of this disease, several proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , TNF α and IFN γ are secreted into the islets by infiltrated, and activated T cells and macrophages, which, in turn, elicit damaging effects on pancreatic β -cells. However, putative mechanisms and the underlying signaling mechanisms involved in cytokine-induced loss of β -cells remain only partially understood [4,5]. Among numerous mechanisms proposed, IL-1 β has been demonstrated to mediate its effects via the induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which, in turn, promotes cytotoxic NO

 Corresponding author at: B4237 Research Service John D. Dingell VA Medical Center 4646 John R. Detroit, MI 48201, United States. Tel.: +1 313 577 5490; fax: +1 313 577 2033.

E-mail address: akowluru@med.wayne.edu (A. Kowluru)

0006-2952/\$ - see front matter. Published by Elsevier Inc. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.09.024 release culminating in β -cell demise. In addition, TNF α and IFN γ elicit regulatory effects on β -cell function via regulation of individual metabolic signaling steps leading to cell death [6–8]. Along these lines, previous studies have suggested that IFN γ sensitizes human islets to the effects of IL-1 β [9].

In addition to NO, several recent studies including our own have suggested that phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase (Nox2) contributes to loss of β -cell function, metabolic dysregulation and the loss of β cell mass under the duress of pathological conditions such as glucolipotoxicity and exposure to cytokines. Specifically, we have demonstrated that chronic exposure of isolated β -cells to cytomix leads to Nox2 holoenzyme activation. ROS generation, mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death [10-14]. Moreover, using selective inhibitors of Rac1, a small G-protein, which is a member of Nox2 holoenzyme, we have been able to demonstrate that inhibition of Rac1 activation leads to prevention of ROS generation and mitochondrial dysregulation in isolated B-cells [14-16]. Interestingly however, we failed to see any clear effects of Rac1 inhibitors on cytomix-induced NO generation suggesting involvement of a Rac1-independent mechanism for cytomix-induced NO release in these cells.

Jastroch recently pointed out a need for the development of pharmacological probes/reagents that can block both ROS and NO generation in pancreatic β -cells exposed to cytomix as simultaneous release of both ROS and NO could lead to the formation of peroxynitrite, which may be more damaging to the β -cell





Abbreviations: 2-BP, 2-Bromopalmitate; ISA, Bovine serum albumin; CHAPS, 3-[3cholamidopropyl) dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate; CHOP, CJEBP homologous protein; DTT, Dithiothreitol; EDTA, Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; HSS, Petal bovine serum; HEPES, 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazimethanesulfonic acid; INOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; NO, nitric oxide; Nox2, phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase; Na₂VO₄. Sodium orthovandate; PIC, Protease inhibitor oxidail; PMSP, Phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride; RIPA, Radioimmuno-precipitation assay; and ROS, Reactive oxygen species.

compared to ROS or NO alone [17]. Therefore, as a logical extension to our recently published evidence [14], we undertook an investigation to assess the roles of protein palmitoylation in the cascade of events leading to cytomix-induced ROS and NO generation in INS-1 832/13 cells. We describe evidence to suggest that 2-bromopalmitate, a selective inhibitor of protein palmitoylation, markedly attenuates cytomix-mediated ROS and NO generation in these cells. Our findings identify palmitoyltransferase as a target for inhibition of cytomix-induced oxidative (ROS generation) and nitrosative (NO generation) stress in the pancreatic β -cell.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Materials

IL-1β, TNFα and INFγ were purchased from R & D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Antisera directed against p-p47phox (*NCF1*) and gp91phox were from Abcam (Abcam Inc, Cambridge MA). Anti-p47phox was from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). 2',7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCHF-DA), 2-bromopalmitate, Griess reagent were obtained from Sigma–Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase conjugate and enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) kits were from Amersham Biosciences (Piscataway, NJ).

2.2. Insulin-secreting INS-1 832/13 cells and culture conditions

INS-1 832/13 cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% heat inactivated FBS supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 IU/ml streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 50uM 2-mercaptoethanol and 10 mM HEPES(pH 7.4). The cultured cells were subcloned twice weekly following trypsinization and passages 53–61 were used for the study. INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix (IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) or individual cytokines (25 ng/ml) for 0–24 h as indicated in the text. In select studies, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated with cytomix (IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate (100 μ M) for 24 h. At the end of the incubation period the cells were harvested and lysed in RIPA buffer containing 1 μ g/ml protease inhibitor cocktail, 1 mM NaF, 1 mM PMSF, and 1 mM Na₃VO₄.

2.3. Isolation of membrane fraction

INS-1832/13 cells were treated with cytomix for the designated time points as indicated in the text. At the end of the incubation period, cells were washed with ice-cold PBS, harvested by scraping and pelleted by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 5 min at 4 °C. After re-suspending in the homogenizing buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 250 mM sucrose, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PIC, 1 mM PMSF and 1 mM Na₃VO₄) and sonication, unbroken cells and nuclei were separated by centrifugation at 1300 rpm for 10 min. The cleared supernatant was further centrifuged at 40,000 rpm for 30 min (OptimaTM MAX Ultracentrifuge). The cytosol fraction was separated and the membrane fraction was dissolved in 2% CHAPS.

2.4. ROS generation assay

INS-1832/13 cells were plated in a 6 well plate and treated with cytomix (IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) or individual cytokines (25 ng/ml) for 24 h as indicated in the text. Subsequently, the media was removed and the cells were incubated further with 2',7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCHF-DA) at 37 °C for 30 min. The cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS and harvested, followed by loading equal amount of protein (50 µg)

and reading the fluorescence using luminescence spectrophotometer (Ex:485 nm and Em:535 nm) (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA).

2.5. NO release assay

INS-1.832/13 cells were plated in a 6 well plate and treated with cytomix (IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) for 24 h as indicated in the text. At the end of the incubation period, the media was collected and centrifuged at 1000 g for 5 min. Equal amount of media and Griess reagent were mixed and the absorbance (540 nm) was measured using a microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA).

2.6. Western blotting

Proteins (~30–40 µg/lane) were separated by SDS-PAGE on 10% (w/v) polyacrylamide mini gels and electro transferred to nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA in 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 1.5 M NaCl and 0.1% Tween 20 followed by incubation with corresponding primary antibody and secondary polyclonal rabbit antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase. The protein signal was enhanced by chemiluminescence system and developed using Kodak Pro Image 400 R (New Haven, CT) and Carestream Molecular Imaging Software was used to measure the band density. The same blots were used to probe for β -actin and total p47phox to ensure equal loading and transfer of the proteins.

2.7. Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significant difference between groups was evaluated by ANOVA followed by SNK Post Hoc test where appropriate. P < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

3. Results

IL-1 β, but not TNFα or IFNγ promotes ROS generation in insulinsecreting INS-1 832/13 cells

We recently reported a significant increase in Nox2-mediated generation of ROS in INS-1 832/13 cells. In the current set of experiments we examined effects of individual cytokines on ROS generation in order to determine which of the three cytokines exert stimulatory effects on ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells, Data in Fig. 1 indicated that of all the three cytokines tested, namely IL-1β, TNFα or IFNγ (25 ng/ml each; 24 hr) only IL-1β significantly augmented (~2,5 fold) ROS generation; these values were comparable to those demonstrated in the presence of all the three cytokines combined (referred to as cytomix throughout), A modest, but insignificant, effect of TNFa (bar 1 vs. 3) or IFNy (bar 1 vs. 4), was demonstrated under these conditions. Therefore, we determined the effects of cytokines on Nox2 activation in all the studies described from here on since the cytomix represents an appropriate model to determine effects of cytokines on islet B-cell dysfunction.

3.2. Cytomix stimulates the phosphorylation of p47phox in a timedependent manner

Recent studies from our laboratory and others have shown that cytokines induce the expression of p47phox, and siRNA-mediated depletion of endogenous pools of p47phox markedly attenuated cytokine-induced Nox2-mediated ROS generation in insulinsecreting cells [14]. Furthermore, evidence in other cell types indicates that p47phox is phosphorylated subsequent to agonist



AM. Mohammed et al. / Biochemical Pharmacology 85 (2013) 109-114



Fig. 1. IL-1 β , but not TNF α and INF γ , activates ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells. INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with individual cytokines (IL1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 25 ng/ml each) for 24 h and the amount of ROS generation was measured with 2',7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate assay. Data represent mean ± SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control. *P < 0.05 versus control.

activation [18,19] and that the phosphorylation step is necessary for its translocation to the membrane fraction for association with other members of the Nox2 core proteins to complete holoenzyme assembly leading to the activation of Nox2. This has not been examined before in islet β -cells exposed to cytokines. Data in Fig. 2 (Panel A) suggested a time-dependent activation of p47phox (0–60 min) following exposure to cytokines. We observed nearly a 2-fold increase in the phosphorylation of p47phox by cytokines within an hour of incubation (Panel B). These data suggest that cytokines induce phosphorylation of p47phox.



Fig. 2. Cytomix induces time-dependent phosphory lation of p47 phoxin 1NS-1 832/13 cells. 1NS-1 832/13 cells. 1NS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix (IL1B, TNF α , and INF γ , 10 ng/ml each) for different time intervals as indicated in the figure. Degree of phosphorylation of p47 phox was determined by Western blot (Panel A) followed by densitometry (Panel B). Data are normalized to total p47 phox content in corresponding lanes. Data represent mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as percent control of the ratios between phosphorylated and total p47 phox. * P < 0.05 versus control.

3.3. Cytomix stimulates the expression of gp91phox in a timedependent manner 111

We next investigated alterations, if any, in the expression of gp91phox in cells following exposure to cytomix, To address this, INS-1 832/13 cells were incubated in the presence of cytomix for different time intervals (0-60 min) as above (Fig. 2). Relative abundance of gp91phox was determined in the total membrane fraction isolated by a single-step centrifugation method [see Methods] by Western blotting for gp91phox (Fig. 3; Panel A) and densitometry (Fig. 3; Panel B). These data indicated a time-dependent increase in the expression of gp91phox in INS-1 832/13 cells following exposure to cytomix, A significant increase in the expression was seen as early as 20 min (~2 fold), which appear to plateau with time. Together, these data are indicative of positive modulatory effects of cytomix on Nox2 in INS-1 832/12 cells. Such effects are comprised of increase in the activation of Rac1 [14,16], phosphorylation of p47phox and expression of gp91phox (this study); such conditions are essential for activation of Nox2 enzyme.

3.4. A protein palmitoylation step is necessary for cytomix-induced ROS generation in INS-1 832/13 cells

Our recent studies have demonstrated that activation of Rac1 is necessary for cytokine-induced Nox2 activation and ROS generation. In this context we reported a marked increase in Rac1-GTP (active conformation) formation in INS-1 832/13 cells following exposure to cytomix [14]. We also showed that prior incubation of INS-1 832/13 cells with GGTI-2147, an inhibitor of geranylgeranylation of Rac1 or NSC23766, a known inhibitor of Rac1 mediated by Tiam1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac1 markedly attenuated cytomix-induced ROS generation [14]. Therefore, we determined the effects of 2-bromopalmitate, a known inhibitor of protein palmitoylation, on cytomix-induced ROS generation. These studies are based on the recent reports of palmitoylation of Rac1 at a cysteine residue upstream to the C-terminal cysteine. To address this cytomix-induced ROS



Fig. 3. Cytomix increases time-dependent expression of gp91 phox in INS-1 832/13 cells. INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix(ILI β , TNF α , and INF γ , 10 ng/ml each) for different time points as indicated in the figure. Degree of gp91 phox expression was measured by Western blot (Panel A) followed by densitometry (Panel B). Data are normalized to β -actin content in individual lanes. Data represent mean $\pm SEM$ from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control.* P < 0.05 versus control and # P < 0.05 versus 20 min and 40 min.



112

AM. Mohammed et al. / Biochemical Pharmacology 85 (2013) 109-114



Fig. 4.2-BPattenuates cytomix-induced ROS generation in INS-1832/13 cells.INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix (L1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) for 24h in the presence and absence of 2-BP (100 μ M) and the amount of ROS generation was measured with 2',7-dichlorofluorescein diacetate assay. Data represent mean ± SEM from three independent experiments and expressed as % of control. * P < 0.05 versus control and # P < 0.05 versus cytomix.

generation was quantitated in INS-1 832/13 cells incubated in the presence of diluent alone or 2-BP (100 μ M; 24 h). Data depicted in Fig. 4 indicated no significant effects of 2-BP on basal ROS generation (bar 1 vs. bar 2). However, cytomix-induced ROS generation was completely abolished by 2-BP (bar 3 vs. bar 4). These findings suggest that a palmitoylation-dependent signaling step is necessary for cytomix-induced ROS generation.

3.5. A protein palmitoylation step is necessary for cytomix-induced nitric oxide generation in INS-1 832/13 cells

It is widely felt that both oxidative (ROS) and nitrosative (NO) stress could contribute to impairment of the overall health of the islet β-cell [7,20-23]. Such concerns were raised indeed by investigators in the area warranting additional studies to investigate potential targets which could regulate both ROS and NO generation signaling steps under the duress of cytokines. To this end, we have previously reported that a palmitoylationmediated signaling step may be necessary for cytokine-induced iNOS gene expression and NO release [24]. Herein, we revisited those earlier studies to demonstrate that inhibition of protein palmitoylation by 2-BP inhibits cytomix-induced NO release in INS-1 832/13 cells. Data in Fig. 5 suggested no direct effects of 2-BP on basal NO release (bar 1 vs. bar 2). However, as in the case with ROS generation (Fig. 4), 2-BP treatment also attenuated cytomix-induced NO release (bar 3 vs. bar 4). Together, our findings highlight the importance of palmitoylation as a unifying mechanism involved in the induction of Nox2-mediated oxidative stress and iNOS-mediated nitrosative stress in pancreatic βcells (see Section 4).

3.6. A protein palmitoylation step is not necessary for cytomixinduced CHOP expression, a marker for endoplasmic reticulum stress

It is well established that ER stress underlies cytokinemediated metabolic dysregulation of the islet β -cell [25-27]. Furthermore, recent studies by Baldwin and associates have suggested a critical requirement for protein palmitoylation in palmitate-induced CHOP expression (a marker for ER stress) in that 2-BP significantly attenuated palmitate-induced CHOP



Fig. 5. Cytomix-induced NO release is inhibited by 2-BP. INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix (IL1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) for 24 h time point in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate (100 μ M) and the amount of nitric oxide release was measured using Griess assay. 2-Bromopalmitate significantly decreased cytomix-induced nitric oxide release. Data represent mean \pm SEM from three independent experiments. * P < 0.05 versus control and # P < 0.05 versus cytomix.

expression in insulin-secreting RINm5F cells [28]. Therefore, we investigated if cytomix-induced CHOP expression in INS-1 832/13 cells is sensitive to 2-BP. To address this, cytomix-induced CHOP expression was measured in cells incubated in the presence of diluent alone or 2-BP. Data depicted in Fig. 6 represents a Western blot for the expression of CHOP. It suggested no clear effects of 2-BP on CHOP expression under basal conditions (lane 1 vs. lane 2). Exposure of these cells to cytomix significantly increased CHOP expression (lane 1 vs. lane 3). However, provision of 2-BP to cytomix-treated cells did not exert any significant effects on CHOP expression (Lane 3 vs. lane 4) suggesting that protein palmitoylation is not necessary for cytomix-induced CHOP expression.

4. Discussion

Emerging evidence from multiple laboratories including our own implicates regulatory roles for Nox2 in the metabolic dysfunction under the duress of glucolipotoxicity and cytokines [10,14–16,21]. The overall goal of this study was to further understand Nox2 regulation in pancreatic β -cells exposed to cytomix. Our studies yielded some novel clues suggesting that: (i) cytokines induce p47 phox phosphorylation and gp91phox expression under acute regulatory conditions; (ii) 2-BP, a classic inhibitor



Fig. 6. Cytomix-induced CHOP (C/EBP homologous protein) expression is not inhibited by 2-bromopalmitate. INS-1 832/13 cells were treated with cytomix (IL1 β , TNF α and INF γ ; 10 ng/ml each) for 24 h time point in the presence and absence of 2-bromopalmitate (100 μ M) The level of CHOP expression, a marker for endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, was measured by Western blot. Equal protein loading was confirmed by β -actin content in individual lanes. A representative blot from three independent experiments is shown here.



of protein palmitoylation significantly attenuated cytomix-induced, Nox2-mediated ROS generation and iNOS-mediated NO generation. Interestingly, 2-BP failed to affect cytomix-induced ER stress (CHOP expression). We believe that our current data provide clues that protein palmitoylation step may represent a novel therapeutic target for cytokine-induced ROS and NO generation.

Nox2 holoenzyme is comprised of cytosolic and membranous cores. The cytosolic core is comprised of p47phox, p40phox, p67phox and Rac1 whereas the membranous core is comprised of gp91phox/p22phox and Rap1 [12,13,21]. It is well established that the cytosolic core translocates to the membrane for association with the membranous core to complete the holoenzyme assembly and catalytic activation. Several lines of evidence from multiple laboratories including our own implicated Nox2 in dysregulation of the islet B-cell exposed to a wide variety of pathological conditions, including chronic exposure to high glucose, palmitate and proinflammatory cytokines [10,11,14,15]. More recent studies from our laboratory have also suggested hyperactivation of Nox2 in islets derived from type 2 diabetic human donors and animal models such as the Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat [29]. Together, the above studies implicate novel regulatory roles for Nox2 in the pathophysiology of diabetes.

In the context of the currently described studies, we have recently published evidence to suggest that exposure of isolated βcells to proinflammatory cytokines results in increased expression of p47phox, a member of the cytosolic core of Nox2, within 12-24 h. We have also shown that Rac1, another cytosolic component of Nox2, gets activated transiently (~15 min) following exposure to cytokines [14]. More importantly, our data also suggested that inhibition of p47phox function via siRNA-p47phox or Rac1 functions using inhibitors of Rac1 prenylation (i.e., GGTI-2147) or its GTP-exchange functions by Tiam1 (e.g., NSC23766) significantly attenuated cytokine-induced ROS generation and loss of mitochondrial membrane potential. Interestingly, neither GGTI-2147 nor NSC23766 prevented cytokine-induced NO generation [14] suggesting that Nox2 activation is not upstream to iNOS induction and NO release and the two signaling steps are regulated by two distinct mechanisms.

Original studies from our laboratory have suggested that a protein palmitoylation step controls cytokine-induced iNOS gene expression and NO release in insulin-secreting β-cells [8,24]. Therein, we identified H-Ras, a small G-protein, as one of the palmitoylated proteins, which is involved in cytokine-induced NO release. These conclusions were confirmed via the use of two selective inhibitors of protein palmitovlation, namely cerulenin and 2-BP [24]. Furthermore, we have also been able to demonstrate that selective inhibitors of protein farnesylation (e.g., allylfarnesols, manumycin, damnacanthal, FTI-277) markedly attenuated cytokine-induced NO release thereby suggesting that farnesylation as well as palmitoylation of H-Ras may be necessary for cytokinemediated effects on NO release [21]. Identity of H-Ras as one of the regulatory proteins involved in cytokine-induced NO release in Bcells was also confirmed through the use of bacterial toxins [8]. Interestingly, our current findings demonstrated that 2-BP also inhibited cytokine-induced Nox2 activation and ROS generation suggesting that protein palmitoylation might be crucial to cytokine-mediated effects, While these data do not directly address the question of potential identity of the protein, it may be Rac1 since recent studies [30] suggest that Rac1 undergoes palmitovlation at cysteine residues upstream to the prenvlated cysteine. This remains to be verified in the context of current studies. Along these lines, recent studies from Corbett's laboratory have demonstrated a requirement for a palmitoylation step in palmitate-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell [28]. Interestingly, they reported a significant inhibition in palmitateinduced CHOP expression and associated metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell in the presence of 2-BP. While our results further validate such a model in the context of cytokines, we failed to observe any significant effects of inhibition of protein palmitoylation with 2-BP on cytokine-induced CHOP expression suggesting distinct mechanisms underlying palmitate and cytokine-induced CHOP expression and ER stress. Additional studies are needed to further understand these signaling steps under these experimental conditions.

Our current findings also implicate alterations in the cytosolic and membranous core proteins under acute conditions in the presence of cytokines. For example, we have demonstrated that exposure of INS-1 832/13 cells to cytomix resulted in a timedependent phosphorylation of p47phox and expression of gp91phox within 20 min of exposure. Interestingly, we have reported a significant activation of Rac1 by cytokines under shortterm exposure conditions [14]. These kinetics are consistent with translocation of cytosolic components to the membrane fraction for holoenzyme assembly. Together, our studies further validate regulation of Nox2 function by cytokines under short-and longterm exposure conditions leading to metabolic dysregulation of the islet β -cell.

Based on the data accrued thus far we propose a working model (Fig. 7) for cytokine-induced metabolic dysregulation of the islet β-cell with an emphasis on Nox2 and iNOS signaling pathways. We propose that exposure of isolated B-cells to proinflammatory cytokines leads to generation of oxidative (increase in ROS) and nitrosative (increase in NO) stress mediated by Nox2 and iNOS, respectively. Previously published evidence from our laboratory suggested marked attenuation of cytokine-induced Nox2 activation and ROS generation by siRNAp47phox, apocynin, NSC23766 and GGTI-2147. We have also demonstrated that the above manipulations prevented mitochondrial dysfunction induced by cytokines [14]. Published evidence from our laboratory also suggested a marked diminution in cytokine-induced iNOS gene expression and NO release by Clostridial toxins [8,31], farnesyl transferase inhibitors [21], and inhibitors of palmitoylation such as cerulenin and 2-BP [24].



Fig.7. Proposed model to halt cytokine-induced nitrosative and oxidative stress by 2-BP. A model depicting roles of Nox2-mediated ROS generation and iNOSmediated NO generation in the cascade of events leading to the metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell is depicted herein. Data from our current investigation identify protein palmitoyltransferace as a novel therapeutic target for the prevention of cytokine-mediated effects on the islet β -cell (see Section 4).



114

Our current observations further implicate a palmitoylationdependent signaling step in cytokine-induced Nox2-mediated ROS generation, Together, these data suggest that protein palmitoyltransferase might serve as a novel therapeutic target for the prevention of cytokine-induced oxidative and nitrosative stress leading to mitochondrial dysfunction and accelerated cell death. In addition, our current studies are also suggestive of acute regulation of Nox2 subunits by cytokines, which has not been demonstrated before in the islet B-cell. While our earlier studies identified H-Ras as the palmitoylated protein which regulates NO release induced by cytokines, the identity of the palmitoylated protein that regulates cytokine-induced ROS generation remains to be determined. It would be interesting to see such a protein that regulates Nox2 activation and ROS generation under the duress of various pathological stimuli including high glucose, saturated fatty acids and ceramide. These are being investigated in our laboratory currently.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported in part by a Merit Review Award (to AK; 18X000469) from the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Office of Research and Development (Biomedical Laboratory Research and Development), an Innovative Grant from Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation, and by the NIH/NIDDK (RO1 DK74921). AK is also the recipient of a Senior Research Career Scientist Award from the Department of VA. We thank Prof. Chris Newgard for kindly providing INS-1 832/ 13 cells. AMM is the recipient of George C Fuller Endowed Pharmacy Scholarship, Department of Pharmaceutical sciences, Wayne State University.

References

- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus Diabetes Care 2010;33(1):862-9.
 Buestone JA, Herold K, Eisenbarth G. Genetic, pathogenesis and dirical inter-
- [2] Bluestone JA, Herold K, Eisenbarth G. Genetic, pathogenesis and dinical intervention in type 1 diabetes. Nature 2010;464(7293):1293–300.
- [3] Kaminitz A, Stein J, Yaniv I, Askenasy N. The vicious cycle of apoptotic β-cell death in type 1 diabetes. Immunol Cell Biol 2007;85(8):582–9.
- [4] Collier JJ, Fueger PT, Hohmeier HE, Newgard CB. Pro- and antiapoptotic proteins regulate apoptosis but do not protect against cytokine-mediated cytotoxicit in rat listes and beta-cell lines. Diabetes 2006;55(5):1398-406.
- cytotoxicity in rat islets and beta-cell lines. Diabetes 2006;35(5):1398–406.
 [5] Weaver JR, Holman TR, Imai Y, Jadhav A, Kenyon V, Maloney DJ, et al. Integration of pro-inflammatory cytokines, 12-lipoxygenase and NOX-1 in pancreatic islet beta cell dysfunction. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2012;358(1):88–95.
- [6] Donath MY, Storling J, Maedler K, Mandrup-Poulson T. Inflammatory mediators and islet β-cell failure; a link between type I and type II diabetes. J Mol Med 2003;81(8):455–70.
- [7] Gurgul-Convey E, Mehmeti I, Lortz S, Lenzen S. Cytokine toxicity in insulinproducing cells is mediated by nitro-oxidative stress-induced hydroxyl radical formation in mitochondria. J Mol Med 2011;89(8):785–98.
- [8] Tannous M, Amin R, Popoff MR, Fiorentini C, Kowluru A. Positive modulation by Ras of interleukin-1β-mediated nitric oxide generation in insulin-secreting donal β (HIT-115) cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2001;62(11):1429–68.
- [9] Flodström M, Eizirik DI. Interferon-gamma-induced interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) expression in rodent and human islet cells precedes nitric oxide production. Endocrinology 1997;138(7):2747-53.

- [10] Graciano MFR, Santos LRB, Curi R, Carpinelli AR. NAD(P)H oxidase participates in the palmitate-induced superoxide production and insulin secretion by rat pancreatic islets. J Cell Physiol 2011;22:6(4):1110–7.
- [11] Michalska M, Wolf G, Walther R, Newsholme P. Effects of pharmacological inhibition of NADPH oxidase or iNOS on pro-inflammatory cytokine palmitic acid or H₂O₂-induced mouse islet or clonal pancreatic β-cell dysfunction. Biosci Rep 2010;30(6):445–53.
- [12] Newsholme P, Morgan D, Rebelato E, Oliveira-Emilio HC, Procopio J, Curi R, et al. Insights in to the critical role of NADPH oxidase(s) in the normal and dysregulated pancreatic β-cell. Diabetologia 2009;52(12):2489–98.
- [13] Oliveira HR, Verlengia R, Carvalho CR, Britto LR, Curi R, Carpinelli AR. Pancreatic β-cells express phagocyte like NADPH oxidase. Diabetes 2003;52(6):1457–63.
- [14] Subasinghe W, Syed L Kowluru A. Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells; evidence for regulation by Rac1. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2011;300(1): R12–20.
- [15] Syed I, Jayaram B, Subasinghe W, Kowluru A, Tiam1/Rac1 signaling pathway mediates palmitate-induced, ceramide-sensitive generation of superoxide and lipid peroxides and the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in pancreatic β-cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2010;80(6):874–83.
 [16] Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Kowluru A. Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase generates
- [16] Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Kowluru A, Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase generates ROS in INS 832/13 cells and ratislets: role of protein prenylation. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2011;300(3):R756–62.
- [17] Jastroch M. Unraveling the molecular machinery that promotes pancreatic βcell dysfunction during oxidative stress: focus on phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells: evidence for regulation by Rac1. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2011;300(1):89–11.
- [18] lever erce JT, Medhora M, Konduri GG, Sampath V. Lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine expression in alveolar epithelial cells: role of PKCZ-mediated p47phox phosphorylation. Chem Biol Interact 2011;189(1-2):72–81.
- [19] Li JM, Fan LM, Christie MR, Shahi AM. Acute tumor necrosis factor alpha signaling via NADPH oxidase in microvascular endothelial cells; role of p47phox phosphorylation and binding to TRAF4. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25(6): 2320–30.
- [20] Kim WH, Lee JW, Goa B, Jung MH. Synergistic activation of JNK/SAPK induced by TNF-α and IFN-γ: apoptosis of pancreatic β-œlls via the p53 and ROS pathway. Cell Signal 2005;17(12):1516–32.
- [21] Kowluru A Small G proteins in islet β function. Endocr Rev2010;31(1):52–78.
 [22] Iakey JR, Suarez-Pinzon WI, Strynadka K, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV, Mabley JG,
- et al. Peroxynitrite is a mediator of cytokine-induced destruction of human pancreatic islet beta cells. lab Invest 2001;81(12):1683–92.
- [23] Zhang Z, Ding Y, Dai X, Wang J, Li Y. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate protects proinflammatory cytokine induced injuries in insulin-producing cells through the mitochondrial pathway. Bur J Pharmacol 2011;670(1):311–6.
 [24] Chen HQ, Tannous M, Veluthakal R, Amin R, Kowluru A. Novel roles for palmi-
- [24] Chen HQ, Tannous M, Veluthakal R, Amin R, Kowluru A. Novel roles for palmitoylation of Rasin IL-1 β-induced nitric oxide release and caspase-3 activation in insulin-secreting β-cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2003;66(9):1681–94.
- [25] Eizirik DL, Cardozo AK, Cnop M. The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev 2008;29(1):42–61.
- [26] Fonseca SG, Gromada J, Urano F. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and pancreatic β-cell death. TEM 2011;22(7):266-74.
- [27] Kacheva S, Lenzen S, Gurgul-Concey E, Differential effects of proinflammatory cytokines on cell death and ER stress in insulin-secreting INSTE cells and the involvement of nitric oxide. Cytokine 2011;55(2):195–201.
 [28] Baldwin AC, Green CD, Olson LX, Moxley MA, Corbett JA. A role for aberrant
- [28] Baldwin AG, Green CD, Olson LK, Moxley MA, Corbett JA. A role for aberrant protein palmitoylation in FFA-induced ER stress and β-cell death. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2012;302(11):E1390–98.
- [29] Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Jayaram R, Govind S, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru RA, et al. Increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and reactive oxygen species generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-Jun NH2terminal kinase 1/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in the diabetic islet. Diabetes 2011;60(11):2843–52.
- [30] Navarro-Lerida I, Sanchez-Perales S, Calvo M, Rentero C, Zheng Y, Enrich C, et al. A palmitoylation switch mechanism regulates Rac1 function and membrane organization. EMBO J 2011;31(3):534–51.
- [31] Kowluru A, Morgan NG. GTP-binding proteins in cell survival and demise: the emerging pictures in pancreatic β-cell. Biochem Pharmacol 2002;63(6): 1027–35.



APPENDIX B MOHAMMED AND KOWLURU 2013

Islets 5:3, 1-3; May/June 2013; © 2013 Landes Bioscience

ARTICLE ADDENDUM

Activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase (Nox2) activity in INS-1 832/13 cells under glucotoxic conditions

Abiy M. Mohammed1 and Anjaneyulu Kowluru1,*

¹Beta-Cell Biochemistry Laboratory; John D. Dingell VA Medical Center and Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences; Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences; Wayne State University; Detroit, MI USA

Keywords: islet β-cell, NADPH oxidase, reactive oxygen species, glucotoxicity

Submitted: 05/02/13

Accepted: 05/16/13

http://dx.doi.org/10.4161/isl.25058 *Correspondence to: Anjaneyulu Kowluru; Email: akowluru@med.wayne.edu

Addendum to: Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Jayaram B, Govind S, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru RA, et al. Increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and ROS generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-JNK 1/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in the diabetic islet. Diabetes 2011; 60-2843-52; PMID-21911753; http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/ db11-0809

everal lines of recent evidence pro-Several lines of recent contractions of recent contractions of recent contractions of recent contractions of the second contraction of the second co increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as causal for mitochondrial dysregulation and apoptosis in islet β-cells exposed to noxious stimuli including high glucose, lipids and proinflammatory cytokines. Studies along these lines are also suggestive of a significant contributory role for NADPH oxidase in the generation of ROS under the above conditions. We have recently reported a marked increase in the expression and activation of cytosolic components of NADPH oxidase (p47phox, Rac1) in cell culture models of glucotoxicity and in islets from T2DM animals (Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat) and humans. In this communication, we provide further evidence indicating significant activation of NADPH activity (-2-fold) in INS-1 832/13 cells exposed to chronic hyperglycemic conditions (20 mM; 48 h). We also report marked attenuation of this activity, by apocynin, a selective inhibitor of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase (Nox2) activity. Together, our findings implicate Nox2 as a source for ROS generation in β-cells exposed to glucotoxic conditions.

Introduction

Emerging evidence from in vitro and in vivo studies provides strong support to the hypothesis that chronic exposure of β -cells to elevated glucose (i.e., glucotoxicity), lipids (i.e., lipotoxicity) or glucose plus lipids (e.g., glucolipotoxicity) results in a significant metabolic dysregulation eventually leading to cell demise [for a review see ref. 1]. Published evidence also suggests a marked increase in the generation of ROS, which manifests in increased oxidative stress in cells under the conditions of glucotoxicity [for a review see refs. 2 and 3]. Several mechanisms have been put forth in this context, including depletion of intracellular redox state via the oxidation of reducing equivalents (e.g., reduced glutathione) and activation of superoxide-generating enzymatic machinery.^{1,3}

One of the enzymatic steps involved in the increased generation of ROS and associated induction of intracellular oxidative stress in the pancreatic B-cell includes activation of the phagocytic NADPHoxidase (Nox2) system.2.3 Nox2 is a highly regulated membrane-associated protein complex that catalyzes the one electron reduction of oxygen to superoxide anion involving oxidation of cytosolic NADPH. The phagocytic NOX is a multicomponent system comprised of membrane as well as cytosolic components. The membrane-associated catalytic core is a complex comprising gp91phox, p22phox and the small G protein Rap1. The cytosolic regulatory components include p47phat, p67phat and the small G protein Rac. After stimulation, the cytosolic components of NOX translocate to the membrane fraction for association with the catalytic core for holoenzyme assembly. Available evidence suggests that a protein kinase Cζ-sensitive phosphorylation of p47phox leads to its translocation to the membrane fraction. It has also been shown that functional activation of Rac (i.e., GTP-Rac) is vital for





Figure 1. Exposure of INS-1 832/13 cells leads to activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase activity. INS-1-832-13 cells were incubated with low glucose (LG) and high glucose (HG) in presence and absence of apocynin (Apo; 100 μ M) for 48 h and NADPH oxidase enzyme activity was measured for 15 min. The data are expressed as percent of control. Nox2 enzyme activity was expressed as chemiluminescence units per mg lysate protein per minute. *p < 0.05 vs. LG; *p < 0.05 vs. HG.

the holoenzyme assembly and activation of NOX.³

Several recent studies have demonstrated localization and functional activation of the NOX in clonal B-cells, normal rat islets and human islets under the duress of various stimuli known to cause metabolic dysregulation.2,4 Some of these stimuli include, but are not limited to, high glucose, saturated fatty acids and proinflammatory cytokines.5,6 Recently, we have reported increased ROS generation in islets from the diabetic Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rat and type 2DM human islets.7 In that study, we also provided evidence to implicate Racl-Nox2-ROS-JNK1/2 signaling cascade in glucose-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet. However, we have not directly quantitated Nox2 activity in isolated β-cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions to conclusively demonstrate that Nox2-derived ROS generation is critical for high glucose-mediated effects on β-cell dysfunction. Therefore, a brief study was undertaken to quantitate NADPH oxidase activity in INS-1 832/13

cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions. To further demonstrate that such an activity represents Nox2, we included apocynin, a selective inhibitor of Nox2, in the assay. We provide evidence below to demonstrate a significant increase in apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase activity in INS-1 832/13 cells exposed to glucotoxic conditions.

Results and Discussion

As stated above, Nox2 is comprised of cytosolic and membrane core of proteins. Following stimulation, cytosolic components of the enzyme translocate to the membrane for association with the membranous components to form the holoenzyme culminating in the functional activation of the enzyme. Since earlier studies have demonstrated significant increase in ROS generation in β-cells exposed to high glucose,⁷ we aimed here to quantitate Nox2 activity in INS-1 832/13 cells, and then to determine potential regulatory effects of glucotoxic conditions. Data in Figure 1 suggested no clear

Islets

effects of apocynin on NADPH oxidase activity in INS-1 832/13 cells under basal (low-glucose) conditions (bar 1 vs. bar 2). However, exposure of these cells to high glucose resulted in a significant increase (-2-fold) increase in the enzyme activity (bar 1 vs. bar 3). Furthermore, coprovision of apocynin to these cells markedly attenuated the ability of glucotoxic conditions to stimulate NADPH oxidase activity. These data suggest that glucotoxic conditions promote activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase activity in isolated β -cells.

Our findings provide further support to recently published evidence to suggest increased generation of ROS in cell culture models of glucotoxicity and in islets from T2DM animals and humans. Biochemical and cell biological studies have also demonstrated increased expression of p47phox, a member of the cytosolic core of Nox2 in these model systems.37 Furthermore, activation of Racl (GTP-bound conformation) has also been demonstrated in cells exposed to hyperglycemic conditions or in islets from animal models of T2DM.7 Lack of no effects of apocynin on basal (LG) NADPH oxidase activity suggests very little activation of this enzyme under basal conditions. Along these lines, recent studies by Koulajian and associates have demonstrated significant activation of NADPH oxidase activity in rat islets following prolonged exposure to non-saturated fatty acids, such as oleate. Furthermore, they have demonstrated a significant reduction in the activation of NADPH oxidase by apocynin,8 thus affirming critical regulatory roles for this enzyme in metabolic dysfunction induced by elevated glucose and lipids.

©2013 Landes Bioscience. Do not distribute.

Materials and Methods

Materials. N,N'-Dimethyl-9,9'biacridinium dinitrate (Lucigenin), 4'-Hydroxy-3'-methoxyacetophenone (Apocynin) and 50 mM phosphate buffer solution were from Sigma Aldrich Co. NADPH was from Calbiochem. IL-1β (201-LB-005) was purchased from R & D Systems.

Cell culture and Nox2 activity measurement. INS-1 832/13 cells were plated in a 6-well plate and starved overnight

Volume 5 Issue 3

2



with low serum and low glucose media in the presence and absence of apocynin (100 µM). Following this, cells were treated with either low (2.5 mM) or high glucose (20 mM) in the presence and absence of apocynin (100 µM) for 48 h. The NADPH oxidase enzyme activity was measured using the method described by Hwang et al.9 Treated cells were homogenized using 50 mM phosphate buffer solution (pH 7.0) containing 1 mM EDTA and 1 mM PMSF. The homogenates were centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 min. The cleared lysates (250 µg/ml of protein) were then incubated with N,N'-Dimethyl-9,9'-biacridinium dinitrate (Lucigenin) (5 uM) for 2 min followed by the addition of NADPH (100 µM). The chemiluminescence signal resulting from reaction of superoxide anion and lucigenin was recorded every 1 min for 15 min using BioTek Synergy HT, Gen5. Nox2 enzyme activity was expressed as chemiluminescence units per mg lysate protein per minute.

Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported in part by a Merit Review award (to A.K.; 1BX000469) from the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Research and Development (Biomedical Laboratory Research and Development) and an Innovative Grant from the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (to A.K.; 5-2012-257). A.K. is also the recipient of a Senior Research Career Scientist Award from the Department of VA. A.M. is the recipient of George Fuller Endowed Pre-Doctoral Fellowship from the Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences.

References

- Poitout V, Robertson RP. Glucolipotoxicity: fuel excess and beta-cell dysfunction. Endocr Rev 2008: 29:351-66: PMID:18048763: http://dx.doi. org/10.1210/er.2007-0023
- Newsholme P, Morgan D, Rebelato E, Oliveira-Emilio HC, Procopio J, Curi R, et al. Insights into the critical role of NADPH oxidase(s) in the normal and dystegulated pancreatic β cell. Diabetologia 2009: 52:2489-98: PMID:19809798: http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s00125-009-1536-z
 Kowkum A. Small C proteins in idet 8-cell func-
 - Kowluru A. Small G proteins in islet β-cell function. Endocr Rev 2010; 31:52-78; PMID:19890090; http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/er.2009-0022

- Graciano MFR, Santos LRB, Curi R, Carpinelli AR. NAD(P)H oxidase participates in the palmitateinduced superoxide production and insulin secretion by rat pancreatic islets. J Cell Physiol 2011; 226:1110-7: PMID:20857410: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ jcp.22432
- Subasinghe W, Syed I, Kowhuru A. Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells: evidence for regulation by Rac1. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2011; 300:R12-20: PMID:20943855: http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/japregu.00421.2010
- Syed I, Jayaram B, Subasinghe W, Kowluru A. Tiami/Ract signaling pathway mediates palmitateinduced, ceramide-sensitive generation of superoxides and lipid peroxides and the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in pancreatic β-cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2010: 80:874-83: PMID:20493824: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.kcp.2010.05.006
 - Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Jayaram B, Govind S, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru RA, et al. Increased phagocytelike NADPH oxidase and ROS generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-JNK 1/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in the diabetic islet. Diabetes 2011; 60:2843-52: PMID:21911753: http://dx.doi.org/10.2337/db11-0809
- Koulajian K, Desai T, Liu GC, Ivovic A, Patterson JN, Tang C, et al. NADPH oxidase inhibition prevents beta cell dysfunction induced by prolonged elevation of oleate in rodents. Diabetologia 2013: 56:1078-87: PMID:23429921: http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/s00125-013-2858-4
- Hwang SY, Siow YL, Au-Yeung KK, House J, O K. Folic acid supprotentiation inhibits NADPH oxidasmediated superoxide anion production in the kidney. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2011: 300:F189-98: PMID:20980407: http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/sjprenal.00272.2010



3

APPENDIX C ARORA ET AL 2013

Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8 DOI 10.1007/s10495-012-0763-9

ORIGINAL PAPER

Nifedipine prevents etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation, prenyl transferase degradation and loss in cell viability in pancreatic β -cells

Daleep K. Arora · Abiy M. Mohammed · Anjaneyulu Kowluru

Published online: 9 October 2012 © Springer Science+Business Media New York (outside the USA) 2012

Abstract Emerging evidence implicates novel roles for post-translational prenylation (i.e., farnesylation and geranylgeranylation) of various signaling proteins in a variety of cellular functions including hormone secretion, survival and apoptosis. In the context of cellular apoptosis, it has been shown previously that caspase-3 activation, a hallmark of mitochondrial dysregulation, promotes hydrolysis of several key cellular proteins. We report herein that exposure of insulin-secreting INS 832/13 cells or normal rat islets to etoposide leads to significant activation of caspase-3 and subsequent degradation of the common a-subunit of farnesyl/geranylgeranyl transferases (FTase/ GGTase). Furthermore, the above stated signaling steps were prevented by Z-DEVD-FMK, a known inhibitor of caspase-3. In addition, treatment of cell lysates with recombinant caspase-3 also caused FTase/GGTase α-subunit degradation. Moreover, nifedipine, a calcium channel blocker, markedly attenuated etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation, FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation in INS 832/13 cells and normal rat islets. Further, nifedipine significantly restored etoposide-induced loss in metabolic cell viability in INS 832/13 cells. Based on these findings, we conclude that etoposide induces loss in cell viability by inducing mitochondrial dysfunction, caspase-3 activation and degradation of FTase/GGTase a-subunit. Potential

D. K. Arora · A. M. Mohammed · A. Kowluru (🖾) Beta-Cell Biochemistry Laboratory, John D. Dingell VA Medical Center, 4646 John R, Detroit, MI 48201, USA e-mail: akowluru@med.wayne.edu

D. K. Arora - A. M. Mohammed - A. Kowluru Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI 48201, USA significance of these findings in the context of protein prenylation and β -cell survival are discussed.

Keywords Etoposide · Caspase-3 · Famesyl transferase · Geranylgeranyl transferase · Nifedipine

Abbre viations

CSP3	Caspase-3
ET	Etoposide
FTase α	Famesyltransferase a subunit
GGTase α	Geranylgeranyltransferase a subunit
Δ FTase/GGTase	Hydrolytic product of FTase/GGTase
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
Nif	Nifedipine

Introduction

A variety of signaling proteins including small G-proteins (e.g., Ras, Cdc42 and Rac1), the γ -subunits of trimeric G-proteins and nuclear lamins (e.g., lamin-B) undergo a series of post-translational modifications at their C-terminal cysteine residues including prenylation (i.e., farnesylation and geranylgeranylation) and carboxylmethylation [1]. Earlier studies have also demonstrated that such modification steps are necessary for the trafficking of prenylated proteins to appropriate cellular compartments for optimal interaction with and activation of their effector proteins leading to cellular activation [2–5]. Prenylation represents the first modification step in which either a 15-carbon (farnesyl) or a 20-carbon (geranylgeranyl) derivatives of mevalonic acid are incorporated into the substrate proteins. The farnesyl transferase (FTase) catalyzes the transfer of farnesyl



groups where as the geranylgeranyl transferase (GGTase) facilitates the incorporation of the geranylgeranyl groups in the presence of farnesyl pyrophosphate and geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate, respectively [6]. Examples of farnesylated proteins include H-Ras, lamin-B and geranylgeranylated proteins include small G-proteins such as Cdc42, Rac1, Rho and Rap1 [1]. FTase and GGTases are heterodimeric in nature comprising of a common a-subunit, but distinct β -subunits, and the later confer the substrate specificity for FTase and GGTases [7]. Using various pharmacological inhibitors of FTase and GGTases (e.g., FTI-277 and GGTI-2147), or dominant negative mutant of the FTase/GGTase-α subunit or siRNAs for FTase or GGTase β subunits, several recent studies have demonstrated novel roles for protein prenylation in nutrient-induced insulin secretion from clonal β -cells and normal rodent islets [8-12].

In the context of prenyltransferase-mediated regulation of cellular function, Kim et al. [13] have reported that the common α -subunit of FTase/GGTase undergoes caspase-3 mediated cleavage into a smaller peptide (~35 kDa) under conditions of cellular apoptosis. For example, they demonstrated caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation in a mouse lymphoma cell line (W4 cell expressing the *Fas* receptor) following exposure to anti-Fas antibodies. They also observed caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation in Rat-2/H-ras cells treated with an FTase inhibitor (LB42708) or in Rat-1 cells treated with etoposide. Based on these observations, these authors implicated key roles for caspase-3 mediated degradation of FTase/GGTase- α -subunit in cellul ar apoptosis [13].

Given the above mentioned regulatory roles of farnesylation and geranylgeranylation in islet function including insulin secretion and cell survival [1, 10], we undertook the current study to determine if FTase/GGTase α -subunit undergoes cleavage under conditions of caspase-3 activation and cellular apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells. Specifically, we have examined the effects of etoposide, a genotoxic agent, known to induce robust activation of caspase-3 in insulinsecreting cells on FTase/GGTase α -subunit cleavage and cell viability in isolated pancreatic β -cells [14]. Lastly, we also investigated potential roles of influx and intracellular accumulation of calcium as an intermediary signaling event in etoposide effects on caspase-3 activation, FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation steps in the cascade of events leading to loss in cell viability in these cells.

Materials and methods

Materials

Z-DEVD-FMK, a caspase inhibitor, was from R&D Systems, Inc. (Minneapolis, MN). Antisera directed against

Springer

cleaved caspase-3 (active form) and β -actin were from Cell Signalling (Danvers, MA). The antiserum against the FTase/GGTase- α subunit was from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA). Anti-mouse or anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase conjugates and Enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECL) kits were from Amersham Biosciences (Piscataway, NJ). All other reagents used in these studies were from Sigma Aldrich Co. (St. Louis, MO) unless stated otherwise.

Insulin-secreting cell culture and treatments

INS 832/13 cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10 % heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 IU/ml streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol, and 10 mM HEPES (pH 7.4). The medium was changed twice, and cells were subcloned weekly. Islets from normal 6 week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats (Harlan Laboratories, Oxford, MI) were isolated by collagenase digestion method. All protocols, including isolation of pancreatic islets from rats, were reviewed and approved by our Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. INS 832/13 cells or rat islets were incubated with diluents (DMSO and/or ethanol) or etoposide (60 µM) in presence or absence of nifedipine (10 µM) for 6-12 h as indicated in the text. In a separate experiment INS 832/13 cells were treated with either diluent or etoposide (60 µM) in the presence or absence of peptide inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (25 µM) for 6 h as stated in the text.

Recombinant caspase-3 studies

INS 832/13 cells were cultured to 80 % confluency and washed twice with PBS, harvested and resuspended in sample buffer [0.5 % Nonidet P-40, 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 100 mM NaCl and 20 mM DTT]. 50 μg of lysate proteins were treated with recombinant caspase-3 (0–0.1 unit/mg protein) and incubated at 25 °C for 1 h. Samples were processed and immunoprobed for caspase-3 and FTase/GGTase α.

Western blotting

Proteins from INS 832/13 cells or rat islets were separated by SDS-PAGE on 10 % (w/v) polyacrylamide mini gels and electrotransferred to nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were blocked with 5 % non fat dry milk in TBS-T (10 mM Tris-HCl; pH 7.4, 8.8 g/l NaCl, and 0.1 % Tween 20) for 2 h at room temperature. The membranes were then incubated overnight at 4 °C with antisera raised against the cleaved (active fragment) caspase-3 (1:250) or FTase/GGTase-α subunit (1:400) in TBS-T containing 5 %



Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8



Fig. 1 Etoposide induces caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase- α degradation in INS 832/13 cells: Protection of these signaling steps by Z-DEVD-FMK, an inhibitor of caspase 3. INS 832/13 cells were treated with either diluents (DMSO and/or ethanol) or etoposide (60 μ M) in the presence or absence of peptide inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (25 μ M; 6 h). Caspase-3 activation and FTase/CGTase- α degradation were determined by Western blotting. Equal amount of

lysates protein were resolved by SDS-PAGE (10 %). Protein loading was determined by actin content in individual lanes. A representative blot indicating the caspase-3 activation (a) and FTase/GGTase- α degradation (c) is provided Quantitative analysis of data obtained from three independent experiments for caspase-3 activation (b) and FTase/GGTase- α degradation (d) was carried out by densitometry. Results are shown as mean \pm SEM. *P < 0.05, ***P < 0.001

BSA. The membranes were washed 5 times for 5 min each with TBS-T and probed with appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies in 5 % non fat dry milk in TBS-T at room temperature for 1 h. After washing, the immune complexes comprising of the target proteins were detected using the ECL kit. The membranes then were stripped and reprobed with β -actin. The band intensity was quantified and protein expression levels were calculated relative to β -actin in the same sample.

Metabolic cell viability assays

INS 832/13 cells were seeded in 96-well plates and treated as described above. After 6 h cell viability was determined by using 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay which was carried out using manufacturer's instructions. The results are shown as relative optical density.

Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as means with their standard errors as indicated. Data are analyzed using one way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni posthoc test (GraphPad Prism 5; GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). Differences between control and treatment groups were considered significant if P < 0.05.

Results

Etoposide induces caspase-3 activation in INS 832/13 cells

At the outset, we quantitated etoposide-induced activation of caspase-3 in INS 832/13 cells. This was accomplished by incubating these cells with etoposide (60 µM for 6 h) followed by identification of the cleaved peptide of caspase-3 (active form) by Western blotting method. Data in Fig. 1a show that etoposide significantly increased the emergence of the active form of caspase-3 (lane 3 vs. lane 1). Further, coprovision of Z-DEDV-FMK, a known inhibitor of caspase-3, markedly attenuated etoposide-induced activation of caspase-3 (lane 4 vs. lane 3). Data from multiple experiments are provided in Fig. 1b suggesting that etoposide significantly augments caspase-3 activity in INS 832/13 cells.



4



(X 10⁻⁴ u/mg protein)

Fig. 2 Incubation of INS 832/13 cell lysates with human recombinant caspase-3 (CPP32) results in FTase/GGTase- α degradation in INS 832/13 cells. INS 832/13 cell lysates were treated with CPP32 (0–0.1 unit/mg protein) for 1 h as indicated in the figure followed by separation on SDS-PAGE (10 %). Separated proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and immunoblotted for Caspase-3 and FTase/GGTase- α . A representative Western blot for caspase-3 activation (a) and FTase/GGTase- α degradation (b) is shown here Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8

Etoposide induces FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation in INS 832/13 cells and normal rat islets

As stated above, earlier observations from Kim and associates have shown that the a-subunit of FTase/GGTase undergoes cleavage by caspase-3. We next determined if etoposideinduced caspase-3 activation culminates in the degradation of the FTase/GGTase α-subunit. To examine this, lysates from studies described under Fig. 1a, b were subjected to SDS-PAGE and relative abundance of the degraded product of FTase/GGTase α-subunit (~35 kDa) was determined by Western blotting. As depicted in Fig. 1c, d, a significant increase in the degradation of FTase/GGTase a-subunit was noticed in cells incubated with etoposide (Fig. 1c; lane 3 vs. lane 1). In a manner akin to caspase-3 activation (Fig. 1a, b), incubation of INS 832/13 cells with an inhibitor of caspase-3 markedly reduced etoposide-induced FTase/GGTase α-subunit degradation (Fig. 1c; lane 4 vs. lane 3). Data from multiple experiments are included in Fig. 1d.

Recombinant caspase-3 degrades FTase/GGTase α-subunit in INS 832/13 cells

To further demonstrate that caspase-3 mediates the hydrolysis of FTase/GGTase α -subunit, INS 832/13 cell lysates were incubated with human recombinant caspase-3 and the relative abundance of cleaved product of FTase/





tative of four independent experiments. A representative blot

indicating the caspase-3 activation (a) and FTase/GGTase-a degra-

dation (c) is shown here. Quantitation of the active caspase-3 (b) and

FTase/GGTase-a degradation (d) was carried out by densitometry.

Results are shown as mean ± SEM. ***P < 0.001

Fig. 3 Nifedipine prevents etoposide induced caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase- α degradation in INS 832/13 cells. INS 832/13 cells were treated with either diluents (DMSO and/or ethanol) or etoposide (ET) (60 µM) in the presence or absence of Nifedipine (Nif; 10 µM; 6 h). Caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase- α degradation were determined by Western blot analysis. Protein loading was



Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8

GGTase α -subunit was determined as above. Indeed, data is Fig. 2 show the emergence of the degradative product of FTase/GGTase α -subunit under conditions of caspase-3 activation. These data further support our observations in Fig. 1 suggesting that etoposide induces caspase-3 activation leading to cleavage of FTase/GGTase α -subunit in pancreatic β -cells.

Nifedipine protects etoposide-induced caspase-3mediated degradation of FTase/GGTase α-subunit in INS 832/13 cells and normal rodent islets

Existing evidence in other cell types implicates critical roles for intracellularly accumulated calcium in eliciting mitochondrial dysfunction and caspase-3 activation [15–18]. In addition, available data in many cell types indicated that etoposide-induced caspase activation may, in part, be due to accumulation of calcium intracellularly [19, 20]. Therefore, in the next set of experiments, we investigated if blocking the influx of extracellular calcium by nifedipine, a known blocker of voltage-gated calcium channels [21, 22], prevents etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α -subunit cleavage in INS 832/13 cells. Data depicted in Fig. 3a demonstrates a significant reduction in etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation in INS 832/13 cells following coprovision with nifedipine. Data from multiple experiments revealed ~70 % inhibition in etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation following incubation with nifedipine (Fig. 3b). We then investigated if nifedipine-treatment of pancreatic β -cells prevents etoposide-induced degradation of FTase/ GGTase- α -subunit. Data in Fig. 3c, d demonstrate a marked reduction in etoposide-induced FTase/GGTase α -subunit hydrolysis by nifedipine.

5

In a manner akin to INS 832/13 cells, we also observed protective effects of nifedipine against etoposide induced caspase 3 activation and FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation in normal rat islets. As shown in Fig. 4a, b coprovision of nifedipine markedly attenuated etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation in rat islets. Furthermore, nifedipinetreatment of rat islets resulted in marked reduction in etoposide-induced FTase/GGTase α -subunit hydrolysis (Fig. 4c, d).

Nifedipine protects etoposide-induced loss in cell viability in INS 832/13 cells

As mentioned above, several lines of evidence in multiple cell types including the islet β -cell implicate roles for prenylated G-proteins in cell survival [1, 10]. Therefore, in the last series of studies, we have examined if: etoposide induces loss in metabolic cell viability under conditions it induced caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase α -subunit degradation, and if so, whether nifedipine prevents such an



Fig. 4 Nifedipine prevents etoposide induced caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase- α degradation in rat islets. Rat islets were treated with either diluents (DMSO and/or ethanol) or etoposide (ET) (60 μ M) in the presence or absence of Nifedipine (Nif; 10 μ M; 12 h). Caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase- α degradation were determined by Western blot analysis. Protein loading was determined by

actin content in individual lanes. Data are representative of four independent experiments. A representative blot indicating the caspase-3 activation (a) and FTase/GGTase- α degradation (c) is shown here. Quantitation of the active caspase-3 (b) and FTase/GGTase- α degradation (d) was carried out by densitometry. Results are shown as mean \pm SEM. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01

ET + Nif





Con

Fig. 5 Nifedipine prevents etoposide induced reduction in metabolic cell viability in INS 832/13 cells. INS 832/13 cells were incubated with either diluents or etoposide (ET; 60 μ M) in the presence or absence of Nifedipine (Nif; 10 μ M; 6 h) as indicated in the figure. Cell viability was measured by MTT assay. Data represent mean \pm SEM from four independent experiments. ***P < 0.001

ET

ET + NI

Con + Nif

effect. To test this, cells were incubated with diluents or etoposide and/or nifedipine in different combinations followed by quantitation of viability of these cells using the MTT method (see "Materials and methods" section for additional details). Data in Fig. 5 indicate no significant effects of nifedipine on cell viability (bar 1 vs. bar 2); these data are in agreement with lack of effects of nifedipine on caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation in these cells. In a manner akin to its effects on caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation, etoposide significantly reduced cell viability in INS 832/13 cells (bar 3 vs. bar 1). Coprovision of nifedipine to these cells alongside etoposide markedly prevented loss in cell viability (bar 4 vs. bar 3). Together, these data suggest that nifedipine affords protective effects against etoposideinduced caspase-3 activation, FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation and loss in cell viability in pancreatic β -cells.

Discussion

It is well established that small molecular mass and heterotrimeric G-proteins play important roles in cellular signaling events leading to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [5, 12]. A growing body of evidence is also suggestive of novel roles for these signaling proteins in other β -cell functions including cell cycle progression, survival and apoptosis [1]. It is noteworthy that the majority of these proteins undergo post-translational modifications at their c-terminal cysteine residues (e.g., prenylation, methylation and acylation), which are essential for their trafficking to relevant cell membranes for optimal interaction with their respective effector proteins culminating in optimal regulation of β -cell function [1, 4, 5]. Despite the compelling evidence that FTase and GGTases are acutely regulated by glucose in the β -cell

Springer



Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8

[11, 12], and that they are critical for insulin secretion [1, 8, 9], very little is known with regard to potential alterations in these enzymes under conditions of cellular apoptosis. Along these lines, studies by Kim and associates have demonstrated degradation of the FTase/GGTase a-subunit under conditions of caspase-3 activation [13]. With this in mind, we quantitated caspase-3 activation, FTase/GGTase degradation and cellular dysfunction in isolated β -cells exposed to etoposide, a known inducer of apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells. Our findings suggested that: (i) etoposide-induces caspase-3 activation, which in turn, degrades the common α-subunit of FTase/GGTase; these signaling events are blocked by a peptide inhibitor of caspase-3; (ii) nifedipine, a known inhibitor of plasma membraneassociated calcium channels, markedly attenuates etoposide-mediated effects on caspase-3 activation and FTase/ GGTase a-subunit degradation in INS 832/13 cells and normal rat islets; and (iii) nifedipine protects pancreatic β -cells against etoposide-induced loss in metabolic viability. Based on these findings we speculate that influx and intracellular accumulation of calcium as one of the signaling events leading to etoposide-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell, leading to the activation of caspase-3 and FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation (see below). Given our observations, one might ask the question about the relevance and implications of these current findings in the context of β -cell survival and function. These aspects are discussed below.

Existing evidence suggests that inhibition of protein prenylation culminates in growth arrest, loss in cell viability and apoptosis, thus implicating regulatory roles for prenylated proteins, including small molecular mass and trimeric G-proteins as well as nuclear lamins in cell survival pathways [23, 24]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that functional inactivation of G-proteins or GTP-requiring signaling steps by depletion of intracellular GTP results in cell demise. For example, original studies by Li and associates [25] have suggested that prolonged depletion of intracellular GTP via inhibition of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase using mycophenolic acid, results in the apoptotic demise of the islet β -cell. These authors have also demonstrated that functional inactivation of Rho G-proteins by clostridial toxins further potentiated mycophenolic acid-induced β -cell apoptosis. These data raise an interesting possibility that functional inactivation of islet endogenous G-proteins either by GTP-depletion or functional inactivation via Clostridial toxins or FTase/GGTase inhibitors results in impaired cell viability. Lastly, it was also demonstrated that inhibition of protein farnesylation using selective inhibitors of FTases (FTI-277 and FTI-2628) or siRNA-mediated knockdown of the β -subunit of FTase, markedly reduced glucose-induced ERK1/2 phosphorylation, Rac1 activation and insulin secretion in clonal

Apoptosis (2013) 18:1-8

 β -cells and normal rat islets [11]. Our current findings indicating a potential causal relationship between the degradation of FTase/GGTase α -subunit and loss in cell viability further validates the above experimental models and postulations.

It is also noteworthy that our current observations also suggested regulatory roles for accumulation of cytosolic calcium in etoposide-mediated effects on caspase-3 activation and FTase/GGTase a-subunit degradation. These findings are in concert with recent observations by Wang et al. [26] who reported cytoprotective effects, by nifedipine, against endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis induced by glucotoxic conditions in pancreatic β -cells. Therefore, it is likely that such conditions could also promote β -cell dysfunction via a calcium-mediated mitochondrial dysregulation, caspase-3 activation and FTase/ GGTase α-subunit degradation pathways leading to loss in cell viability. This possibility needs to be verified experimentally. Indeed, recent observations from Shalev's laboratory [27] have provided compelling evidence to suggest a marked reduction by verapamil, a calcium channel blocker, of increased expression of pro-apototic thioredoxin-interacting protein expression and restoration of normal β -cell survival and function in the BTBR ob/ob mice. Our current findings provide further evidence in support of the formulation that influx of extracellular calcium and subsequent overload of mitochondrial calcium leads to dysregulation of cellular function. Thus, calcium channel blockers such as verapamil [27] and nifedipine (current study) appear to exert cytoprotective effects in β -cells against noxious stimuli and improve β -cell survival and function.

Our current findings form the basis for future investigations including determination of overall impact of degradation of FTase/GGTase a-subunit in the functional regulation of other key cellular proteins such as Probin, a novel farnesylated protein that has been shown to suppress the activation of survival proteins (e.g., Akt) in the islet β -cell [28]. Second, potential implications of our current findings on nuclear lamins and the assembly of nuclear envelope remains to be verified since inhibition of posttranslational prenylation of lamins is known to increase their susceptibility to degradation leading to the collapse of nuclear assembly [29, 30]. Along these lines, recent studies by Chang and associates have demonstrated that inhibition of farnesylation using FTIs led to a marked reduction in the biogenesis of mature lamin A culminating in the accumulation of prelamin-A intracellularly. Further, their data suggested a critical requirement for a geranylgeranylation signaling step in the conversion of farnesylated lamin A to its mature form mediated by a zinc metalloprotease [31]. Together, these findings implicate novel roles for posttranslational prenylation steps in the functional regulation



7

Fig. 6 Proposed model for etoposide-induced loss in viability of the β -cell. Based on the data accrued in the current study we speculate that exposure of pancreatic β -cells to etoposide leads to mitochondrial dysfunction mediated via intracellular accumulation of calcium, which is sensitive to nifedipine. Such a signaling step leads to increased activation of caspase-3, and peptidic cleavage of FTase/ GGTase a-subunit. While our current data do not provide direct evidence, existing data from multiple laboratories including our own suggests that pharmacological and molecular biological inhibition of FTase/GGTases lead to functional inactivation of G-proteins and abnormal lamin metabolism leading to defective nuclear assembly and cell demise (see text for additional details). Lastly, we cannot rule out the potential possibility that the cleavage product of FTase/ GGTase a-subunit could exert direct effects on inducing loss in metabolic cell viability in INS 832/13 cells. This remains to be verified experimentally

of lamins [23, 24]. Lastly, it is likely that the cleavage product of FTase/GGTase α -subunit could have direct effects on the induction of cell death. Indeed, findings by Kim and associates further substantiate this viewpoint. These investigators provided direct evidence to suggest that expression of p35, the cleavage product of FTase/ GGTase α markedly increased cell death probably by interfering with the prenylenzyme activities [13]. This remains to be confirmed in the β -cell.

In summary, we propose (Fig. 6) that etoposide-induced metabolic dysregulation and loss in cell viability may, in part, be due to calcium-mediated, caspase-3-induced degradation of FTase/GGTase α -subunit and associated downstream signaling events, which remain to be determined in the context of prenylation-dependent regulation of survival and function of the islet β -cell.



8

Acknowledgments This research was supported in part by a Merit Review award [to AK; 1BX000469] from the Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Office of Research and Development Biomedical Laboratory Research and Development], and by the NIH/NIDDK [RO1 DK74921]. AK is also the recipient of a Senior Research Career Scientist Award from the Department of VA. The authors would like to thank Prof. Chris Newgard for INS 832/13 cells. We thank Dr. Wasanthi Subasinghe for excellent technical assistance in these studies.

References

- Kowluru A (2010) Small G proteins in islet beta-cell function. Endocr Rev 31:52–78
- Robertson RP, Seaquist ER, Walseth TF (1991) G proteins and modulation of insulin secretion. Diabetes 40:1-6
- Cox AD, Der CJ (1992) Protein prenylation: more than just glue? Curr Opin Cell Biol 4:1008–1016
- Metz SA, Rabaglia ME, Stock JB, Kowluru A (1993) Modulation of insulin secretion from normal rat islets by inhibitors of the post-translational modifications of GTP-binding proteins. Biochem J. 295:31–40
- Kowluru A (2003) Regulatory roles for small G proteins in the pancreatic beta-cell: lessons from models of impaired insulin secretion. Am J Physiol: Endocrinol Metab 285:E669–E684
- Casey PJ, Seabra MC (1996) Protein prenyltransferases. J Biol Chem 271:5289–5292
- Lane KT, Beese LS (2006) Thematic review series: lipid posttranslational modifications. Structural biology of protein farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase type I. J Lipid Res 47:681–699
- Amin R, Chen HQ, Tannous M, Gibbs R, Kowhuru A (2002) Inhibition of glucose- and calcium-induced insulin secretion from betaTC3 cells by novel inhibitors of protein isoprenylation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 303:82–88
- Veluthakal R, Kaur H, Goalstone M, Kowluru A (2007) Dominant-negative alpha-subunit of farnesyl- and geranyltransferase inhibits glucose-stimulated, but not KCI-stimulated, insulin secretion in INS 832/13 cells. Diabetes 56:204–210
- Kowluru A (2008) Protein prenylation in glucose-induced insulin secretion from the pancreatic islet beta-cell: a perspective. J Cell Mol Med 12:164–173
- Kowluru A, Veluthakal R, Rhodes CJ, Kamath V, Syed I, Koch BJ (2010) Protein famesylation-dependent Raf/extracellular signal-related kinase signaling links to cytoskeletal remodeling to facilitate glucose-induced insulin secretion in pancreatic betacells. Diabetes 59:967–977
- Goalstone M, Kamath V, Kowluru A (2010) Glucose activates prenyltransferases in pancreatic islet beta-cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 391:895–898
- Kim KW, Chung HH, Chung CW et al (2001) Inactivation of farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase I by caspase-3: cleavage of the common alpha subunit during apoptosis. Oncogene 20:358–366
- Collier JJ, Fueger PT, Hohmeier HE, Newgard CB (2006) Proand antiapoptotic proteins regulate apoptosis but do not protect

against cytokine-mediated cytotoxicity in rat islets and beta-cell lines. Diabetes 55:1398-1406

- Duchen MR (2000) Mitochondria and calcium: from cell signalling to cell death. J Physiol 529:57–68
- Sharma AK, Rohrer B (2004) Calcium-induced calpain mediates apoptosis via caspase-3 in a mouse photoreceptor cell line. J Biol Chem 279:35564–35572
- Tripathi A, Chaube SK (2012) High cytosolic free calcium level signals apoptosis through mitochondria-caspase mediated pathway in rat eggs cultured in vitro. Apoptosis 17:439–448
- Smith MA, Schnellmann RG (2012) Calpains mitochondria and apoptosis. Cardiovasc Res. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs163
- Robertson JD, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S (2000) Distinct pathways for stimulation of cytochrome c release by etoposide. J Biol Chem 275:32438–32443
- Parihar A, Parihar MS, Ghafourifar P (2008) Significance of mitochondrial calcium and nitric oxide for apoptosis of human breast cancer cells induced by tamoxifen and etoposide. Int J Mol Med 21:317–324
- Sorkin EM, Clissold SP, Brogden RN (1985) Nifedipine. A review of its pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties, and therapeutic efficacy, in ischaemic heart disease, hypertension and related cardiovascular disorders. Drugs. 30:182–274
- Bean BP (1989) Classes of calcium channels in vertebrate cells. Annu Rev Physiol 51:367–384
- Sane KM, Mynderse M, LaLonde DT et al (2010) A novel geranylgeranyl transferase inhibitor in combination with lovastatin inhibits proliferation and induces autophagy in STS-26T MPNST cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 333:23–33
- Geryk-Hall M, Yang Y, Hughes DP (2010) Driven to death: inhibition of famesylation increases ras activity in osteosarcoma and promotes growth arrest and cell death. Mol Cancer Ther 9:1111–1119
- Li G, Segu VB, Rabaglia ME, Luo RH, Kowluru A, Metz SA (1998) Prolonged depletion of guanosine triphosphate induces death of insulin-secreting cells by apoptosis. Endocrinology 139:3752–3762
- Wang Y, Gao L, Li Y, Chen H, Sun Z (2011) Nifedipine protects INS-1 beta-cell from high glucose-induced ER Stress and apoptosis. Int J Mol Sci 12:7569–7580
- Xu G, Chen J, Jing G, Shalev A (2012) Preventing β-cell loss and diabetes with calcium channel blockers. Diabetes 61:848–856
- Kyathanahalli CN, Kowluru A (2011) A farnesylated G-protein suppresses Akt phosphorylation in INS 832/13 cells and normal rat islets: regulation by pertussis toxin and PGE(2). Biochem Pharmacol 81:1237–1247
- Lutz RJ, Trujillo MA, Denham KS, Wenger L, Sinensky M (1992) Nucleoplasmic localization of prelamin A: implications for prenylation-dependent lamin A assembly into the nuclear lamina. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:3000–3004
- Prokocimer M, Davidovich M, Nissim-Rafinia M et al (2009) Nuclear lamins: key regulators of nuclear structure and activities. J Cell Mol Med 13:1059–1085
- Chang SY, Hudon-Miller SE, Yang SH et al (2012) Inhibitors of protein geranylgeranyltransferase-I lead to prelamin A accumulation in cells by inhibiting ZMPSTE24. J Lipid Res 53: 1176–1182



APPENDIX D MOHAMMED ET AL 2013

Send Orders for Reprints to reprints@benthamscience.net

Recent Patents on Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Drug Discovery 2013, 7, 000-000

The Two Faces of Protein Palmitoylation in Isletβ-Cell Function: Potential Implications in the Pathophysiology of Islet Metabolic Dysregulation and Diabetes

Abiy M. Mohammed^{1,2}, Fei Chen² and Anjaneyulu Kowluru^{1,2*}

¹Beta-Cell Biochemistry Laboratory, John D. Dingell VA Medical Center and ²Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI 48201, USA

Received: May 2, 2013; Accepted: June 28, 2013; Revised: July 1, 2013

Abstract: Several cellular proteins undergo post-translational lipidation, including prenylation, palmitoylation and myristoylation, which are felt to promote intracellular targeting, membrane association and interaction with effector partner proteins. Recent findings implicate definitive roles for isoprenylation in islet β -cell function including glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [GSIS]. Published evidence also suggests novel regulatory roles for protein palmitoylation not only in GSIS but also in the metabolic dysfunction induced by proinflammatory cytokines and lipotoxic conditions. Herein, we overviewed the existing evidence on the regulatory roles of protein palmitoylation in the metabolic [dys]regulation of the islet β -cell and highlighted the developments in this area, specifically on potential identity of palmitoyated proteins, and on the utility of two structurally distinct inhibitors of palmitoylation [e.g., cerulenin and 2-bromopalmitate] in halting the metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell known to occur following exposure to proinflammatory cytokines and lipotoxic conditions. Potential avenues for future research, including the immediate need for discovery novel small molecule compounds as inhibitors of palmitoyl transferases to attenuate deleterious consequences of proinflammatory cytokines and glucolipotoxicity are discussed. Furthermore, some relevant patents are also highlighted in this review.

Keywords: 2-bromo-palmitate, cerulenin, palmitoyl transferase, palmitoyl esterase, palmitoylation, pancreatic β-cells, proinflammatory cytokines, therapeutic targets, type 1 diabetes, and type 2 diabetes.

INTRODUCTION

Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion: A Simplified Model

It is well established that glucose-stimulated insulin secretion [GSIS] is mediated largely due to the generation of soluble second messengers, such as cyclic nucleotides, hydrolytic products of phospholipasesA₂, C and D [1, 2]. The principal signaling cascade involved in GSIS is initiated by-Glut-2-mediated entry of glucose into the β -cell followed by an increase in the intra-islet ATP/ADP ratio as a consequence of glucose metabolism. Such an increase in ATP levels culminates in the closure of ATP-sensitive potassium channels localized on the plasma membrane resulting in membrane depolarization, and the influx of extra-cellular calcium through the voltage-sensitive calcium channels. A net increase in intracellular calcium has been shown to be critical for the transport of insulin-laden secretory granules to the plasma membrane for fusion and release of insulin [1-6].

Gtp-Binding Proteins In Gsis

In addition to the regulatory roles of ATPinGSIS, previous studies have examined possible contributory roles for

*Address correspondence to this author at the B-4237 Research Service, John D. Dingell VA Medical Center, 4646 John R, Detroit, MI 48201; Tel: 313-576-4478; Fax: 313-576-1112; E-mail: akowluru@med.wayne.edu

1872-2148/13 \$100.00+.00

guanine nucleotides [i.e. GTP] in GSIS. For example, using selective inhibitors of GTP biosynthetic pathway (e.g., mycophenolic acid), a permissive role for GTP in GSIS was established [7,8]. Although the precise molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying the roles of GTP in GSIS remain tobe defined, compelling evidence indicates that it might involve activation of one (or more) G-proteins endogenous to the islet β-cell. In this context, at least two major groups of G-proteins have been identified within the islet β-cell [9, 10]. The first group consists of heterotrimeric G-proteins, which are composed of a [39-43 kD], \$ [35-37 kD] and y [5-10 kD] subunits. These signaling proteins are involved in the coupling of various G-protein-coupled receptors [GPCRs] to their intracellular effector proteins, including adenylate cyclase, phosphodiesterase and phospholipases. The second group of G-proteins is composed of small Gproteins [20-25 kD], which are involved in cytoskeletal remodeling and trafficking of secretory vesicles [10].

Original observations from multiple laboratories, including our own, demonstrated involvement of small G-proteins [e.g., Rac1, Cdc42, Rap1 andARF6] in GSIS from normal rat islets, human islets and clonal β -cell preparations [9-11]. Such conclusions were drawn primarily based on data from three complementary experimental approaches. The first approach involved use of *Clostridial* toxins (e.g. toxin A or B), which mono-glucosylate and inactivate specific Gproteins. The second experimental manipulation involved molecular biological approaches, including expression of

© 2013 Bentham Science Publishers




Mohammed et al.



Fig. (1). G-protein-mediated regulation of GSIS

A schematic representation of potential involvement of small G-proteins in GSIS, based on the experimental evidence we propose that GSIS involves precise interplay between specific G-proteins [e.g., Cdc42, Rac1 and Arf6] and their regulatory factors [e.g., GEFs and GDIs]. Sequential activation of Arf6, Cdc42 and Rac1 leads to increased Nox2-mediated generation of ROS, which, in turn, facilitates cytoskeletal remodeling culminating in insulin secretion. In addition to regulation by GEFs and GDIs, some of these G-proteins undergo requisite post-translational modifications (see below; Fig. 2) including prenylation, carboxylmethylation and palmitoylation, which are critical for their targeting to the respective membranous compartment for optimal interaction with their effector proteins. Not included in this schematic are other small G-proteins, including Rap1, Rab3A, Rab5, and Rab27A etc. which also exert direct regulatory roles in the signaling events leading to GSIS [9, 10]. In a manner akin to Cdc42 and Rac1 the Rap and Rab G-proteins are also modulated by their respective regulatory proteins and post-translational prenylation signaling steps [10 for reviews]. Additional details on this proposed working model can be found in [15]. Nox2: phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and ROS: reactive oxygen species.

dominant negative mutants and/or selective knockdown [i.e., siRNA methodology] of the candidate G-proteins. The third approach involved the use of pharmacological inhibitors ofG-protein activationto further deciphers their regulatory roles in GSIS [9-12].

Several recent studies, most notably from the Thurmond and the authors' laboratories, have explored regulatory roles for small G-proteins [e.g., Cdc42, Rac1 and Arf-6] in GSIS [9-12]. Time course studies by Jayaram *et al* [11] have suggested that GSIS involves sequential activation of Arf-6 [~1 min], Cdc42 [~3 min] and Rac1 [~15 min]. Recent studies have also identified and characterized regulatory factors for these G-proteins [9, 10]. They include guanine nucleotide exchange factors [GEFs], which promote GTP/GDP exchange into candidate G-proteins. Studies by Kepner and coworkers have identified Cool-1/βPIX as a GEF for Cdc42 in insulin-secreting cells [13]. Veluthakal and associates have demonstrated Tiam1 as the GEF for Rac1 activation in the islet β-cell. Jayaram and collegues reported ARNO as the GEF for Arf-6 in the islet [14]. In addition to GEFs, several recent studies have demonstrated expression and regulation of G-protein function by specific GDP-dissociation inhibitors [GDIs] in the pancreatic islet. These include Rho GDI for the regulation of Cdc42 and Rac1 and cavolin-1 as the GDI for Cdc42 [9, 10]. Based on the available evidence thus far, we propose a model for the regulation of GSIS by small G-proteins in the islet (Fig. 1). Glucose metabolism leads to ARNO-mediated activation of Arf6, which, in turn, regulates its downstream signaling events including phosphorylation and activation of ERK1/2. Arf6 activation also leads to activation of phospholipase D, leading to the generation of biologically-active lipids [15]. Evidence is also available to suggest increased dissociation of specific G-proteins [e.g., Racl] from their GDIs by lipid second messengers leading to their functional activation [16]. Sequential activation of





99

Recent Patents on Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Drug Discovery 2013, Vol. 7, No. 3 3

Fig. (2). Post-translational modifications of small G proteins

Palmitoylation in Islet [dys]Function

The first of the four-step reaction is incorporation of either a 15 [farnesyl]- or a 20 [geranylgeranyl]-carbon derivative of mevalonic acid into the COOH-terminal cysteine via a thioether linkage. This reaction is catalyzed by either the farnesyl or geranylgeranyl transferases, respectively. Following this, the three amino acids after the prenylated cysteine are removed by a protease, thereby exposing the carboxylate anion. This site is then methylated by a carboxyl methyl transferase, which transfers a methyl group onto the carboxylate group using S-adenosyl methionine [SAM] as the methyl donor. Numerous studies from our laboratory have shown carboxyl methylation of specific G proteins (e.g., Cdc42, Rap1 and γ -submits of trimeric G-proteins), which are critical islet function and insulin secretion [10]. In addition to these, a growing body of evidence suggests that certain G proteins [e.g., H-Ras, Cdc42 and Rac1] undergo palmitoylation at a cysteine residue, which is upstream to the prenylated cysteine. It is thought that palmitoylation provides a "firm" anchoring for the modified protein into the cell membrane for optimal interaction with its respective effector proteins. Unlike prenylation, the carboxylmethylation and palmitoylation steps are acutely regulated via regulation by carboxylmethyl and palmitoyl estenses [taken from 12]. FPP: farnesyl pyrophosphate; FTase: farnesyl transferase; CMT: carboxyl methyl transferase; SAM: S-adenosyl methionine; and PMT, palmitoyl transferase.

Arf6, Cdc42 and Racl leads to increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase [Nox2] resulting in a tonic increase in reactive oxygen species [ROS] in the glucose-stimulated islet [15]. This, in turn, leads to cytoskeletal remodeling and fusion of insulin granules with the plasma membrane and exocytotic secretion of insulin ((Fig. 1); see ref. 15 for additional details].

G-Proteins Undergo Post-Translational Modifications

The majority of small G-proteins and the γ -subunits of heterotrimeric G-proteins undergo post-translational modifications at their C-terminal cysteine residue (Fig. 2). The first of a four-step modification sequence involves incorporation of a mevalonic acid-derived 15-carbon [farnesyl] or 20carbon [geranylgeranyl] isoprenoid moiety onto a cysteine residue toward the C-terminus of the candidate G-proteins. This is followed by proteolysis of several amino acids (up to a maximum of three) mediated by a protease of microsomal origin. A carboxyl methylation step then modifies the newly exposed carboxylate anion of the cysteine. In some cases, the covalent addition of a long-chain fatty acid, typically palmitate, at cysteine residues, which are upstream to the CAAX motif, completes the cascade [10, 12]. It is well established that the above mentioned modification steps increase the hydrophobicity to the modified G-proteins thereby enabling them to translocate to relevant membranous compartments for interaction with their respective effectors [10, 12]. Because the isoprenylation of G-proteins occurs shortly after their synthesis, and because "half-lives" of prenylated proteins are rather long, this is not likely to be an acute regulatory step. However, in many cases, prenylation is necessary to allow prenylated G-proteins to intercalate into the membrane [10, 12]. In contrast, the methylation and palmitoylation steps are subject to acute regulation at the level of addition or deletion of methyl or palmitoyl groups [9, 10]. The addition and removal of methyl groups are catalyzed by carboxyl methyl transferase and esterase, respectively. The addition and deletion of palmitoyl groups are facilitated by palmitoyl transferase and esterase, respectively. Studies from our laboratory and those of others have demonstrated the requisite nature and roles of posttranslational prenylation and carboxylmethylation of small G-proteins and the y-subunits of trimeric G-proteins in the cascade of events leading to



GSIS [10, 12]. In the following section, we will highlight putative regulatory roles of protein palmitoylationdepalmitoylation steps in islet β-cell function.

Protein Palmitoylation-Depalmitoylation Cycle

Existing body of evidence clearly implicates novel regulatory roles for protein palmitoylation in cellular function [17, 18]. The protein palmitoyltransferases [PATs] catalyze the transfer of palmitate into the cysteine residues of proteins containing DHHC [Asp-His-His-Cys] cysteine-rich domains [CRD]viaa thioester linkage. Typically, these reactions are known to occur at the cytoplasmic face of membranes in the secretory pathway [e.g., endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi] and the plasma membrane [17, 18]. At least two types of PAT activities have been reported. The first group catalyzes palmitoylation of farnesylated proteins including Ras GTPases [e.g., H-Ras and N-Ras], whereas the second group of PATs mediates palmitoylation of Src family of tyrosine kinases [17, 18]. A distinct class of palmitoyl thioesterases, namely protein palmitoyl thioesterases 1 and 2 and acyl palmitoylesterase 1 mediate depalmitoylation via hydrolysis of the ester bonds to complete the palmitoylationdepalmitoylation [i.e., activation-inactivation] cycle. As stated above, protein palmitoylation plays key regulatory roles in cellular function including subcellular localization of proteins, trafficking and stability [17-19]. It is widely felt that palmitoylation dictates interaction of peripheral membrane proteins. Potential regulatory roles of palmitoylation of integral membrane proteins still remain unclear. Several cellular proteins have been demonstrated to undergo palmitoylation. Some of these include, but not limited to, A-kinase anchoring protein 79/150 [20], phospholipase scramblase [21], ankyrin-g [22], glutamic acid decarboxylase [23], cytoskeletal-associated protein 4 [24], integrin α6β4 [25], and calnexin [26]. In addition, several GPCRs, including µopioid receptor [27], protease-activated recpetor-2 [28], β2 adrenergic receptor [29] somatostatin receptor [30], regulator of G-protein signaling (RGS4)[31], neurotensin receptor [32], and p63Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor [33] appear to be regulated by palmitoylation-depalmitoylation signaling steps.

Pharmacological Inhibitors of Protein Palmitoylation

Advancement in the area of regulatory roles of protein palmitoylation is hampered due to the unavailability of specific inhibitors for PATs. Original studies have utilized cerulenin [CER], an antifungal antibiotic, to decipher the roles of protein palmitoylation in cellular function in many cell types including the islet β-cell [see below]. However, use of CER is limited due to the fact that it has been shown to exhibit non-specific effects including inhibition of fatty acid and steroid biosynthesis as well as lipoprotein lipase [34]. Other studies have employed tunicamycin as an inhibitor to study roles of protein palmitoylation in cell function, but again, as in the case of CER, tunicamycin has been shown to inhibit fatty acid synthesis and N-glycosylation of proteins [35]. In addition, tunicamycin induces endoplasmic reticulum stress [36]. Several recent studies have utilized 2-bromopalmitate [2BP] to study roles of protein palmitoylation in cellular function [37, 38]. Even though 2BP appears to be a relatively

selective inhibitor of palmitoylation, it has been shown to inhibit several signaling steps/enzymes involved in intracellular lipid metabolism including inhibition of fatty acyl CoA ligase [39]. Therefore, data accrued from CER, tunicamycin and 2BP experiments should be interpreted with some degree of caution [see below]. Along these lines, more recent studies by Jennings and associates [40] compared inhibitory effects of 2BP and Compound V [2-(2-hydroxy-5-nitrobenzylidene)benzo[b]thiophen-3-one] on DHHC-mediated palmitoylation in vitro. Data from these investigations have suggested that the inhibitory effects of Compound V on palmitoylation are reversible in contrast to the irreversible inhibitory effects of 2BP.Based on the above discussion it appears that additional studies, including the development of novel inhibitors of PATs, is necessary to further decipher the roles of protein palmitoylation in cellular function.

Positive Modulatory Roles of Palmitoylation in Islet Function

Despite considerable experimental evidence the identity and functional properties including subcellular distribution of PATs and palmitoylesterases are described in a variety of cell types, very little is known about the identity and regulation of palmitoyl transferases and esterases in the islet β-cell. However, pharmacological evidence appears to support key roles for these signaling steps in islet β-cell function. For example, CER has been shown to inhibit insulin secretion induced by glucose, α-ketoiso-caproic acid, and long chain acyl CoAs [41-44]. CER also inhibits glucose-induced incorporation of radio labeled palmitate into islet proteins and inhibition of palmitoylation of a 24 kDa protein [45], and palmitate-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor [46]. Interestingly, studies by Metz and associates have demonstrated that CER failed to inhibit insulin secretion facilitated by non-nutrient secretagogues, such as a membrane-depolarizing concentration of potassium, activators of protein kinase A, or mastoparan [41]. More recent studies by Abdel-Ghany and associates [47] have demonstrated significant incorporation of [³H] palmitate into islet β-cell proteins, which was stimulated by glucose. Furthermore, 2-aminobicyclo heptane-3-carboxylic acid, a non-metabolizable analog of leucine and an insulin secretagogue, also promoted incorporation of labeled palmitate into β-cell proteins. Auradiographic analysis of lysate proteins separated by gel electrophoresis demonstrated glucose-mediated increase in palmitoylation of at least four β-cell proteins with apparent molecular weights of 30, 44, 48 and 76 kDa. More importantly, CER inhibited incorporation of labeled palmitate into these proteins under basal as well as glucose-stimulated conditions. Based on these findings the authors concluded that protein acylation plays regulatory roles in islet function [47].

In addition to CER, some studies utilized 2BP to understand the roles of acylation/lipid metabolism in islet function including insulin secretion. For example, original studies by Warnotte and associates demonstrated partial inhibition of palmitate-induced potentiation of glucose-induced insulin secretion [48]. Studies by Parker and coworkers [49] have suggested significant inhibition, by 2BP, of palmitate esterification into cellular lipids in isolated rat islets. Furthermore, they also demonstrated partial inhibition of palmitatemediated potentiation of GSIS. Cheng and associates [50]



Palmitoylation in Islet [dys]Function

reported significant protection of distal inhibitory effects of norepinephrine on physiological insulin secretion by CER and 2BP. Based on these observations these investigators proposed novel roles for protein acylation signaling steps in exocytotic secretion of insulin. Together, pharmacological evidence suggests that protein acylation, specifically palmitoylation, plays critical regulatory roles in islet β -cell function, including insulin secretion.

As indicated above, recent studies have implicated novel roles for small G-proteins [Arf6, Cdc42 and Rac1] in GSIS [9-12]. Furthermore, using various pharmacological and molecular biological approaches, we and others documented a requirement for post-translational prenylation and carboxylmethylation of G-proteins [e.g., Cdc42. Rho, Rac1] for physiological insulin secretion [10, 12]. More importantly, despite the above described pharmacological evidence to indicate inhibition of GSIS by CER and 2BP, very little is known if Rac1 and Cdc42 also require palmitoylation to facilitate GSIS. In this context, recently published evidence suggests that Rac1 and bCdc42 [a splice variant of Cdc42 with predominant localization in the brain] undergo palmitoyaltion. For example, Navarro-Lerida and associates have recently demonstrated that Rac1 undergoes palmitovlation at cysteine 178 to facilitate its targeting for stabilization at actin cytoskeleton-linked ordered membrane regions [51]. Interestingly, they observed that palmitoylation of Rac1 requires its prior prenylation and the intact C-terminal polybasic region and is regulated by the triproline-rich motif. In addition, palmitoylation step appears to be required for Racl activation [i.e., GTP-binding] since non-palmitoylated Rac1 exhibited decreased GTP loading and lower association with detergent-resistant membranes. Further proof that palmitoylation of Rac1 is critical for cellular function was afforded in these studies since cells lacking Rac1 exhibited spreading and migration defects. Based on this compelling evidence, the authors concluded that palmitoylation of Rac1 is requisite for its role in actin cytoskeleton remodeling and regulation of membrane organization. Along these lines, Kang et al. [52] have demonstrated palmitoylation of a brain-specific Cdc42 splice variant [bCdc42]. Additional studies by Nishimura and Linder have documented that bCdc42 undergoes classical CAAX processing as well as prenylation and palmitoylation at the CCAX motif [53]. Interestingly, the prenylated and palmitoylated bCdc42 interacted less efficiently with RhoGDI [a signaling step critical for Cdc42 activationdeactivation cycles] when compared to canonical Cdc42, which is only prenylated and carboxylmethylated, but not palmitoylated. Additional studies are required to determine if palmitoylation of Racland/or Cdc42 is necessary for GSIS to occur.

In addition to small G-proteins, heterotrimeric G-proteins also control islet function including GSIS [10, 12]. Along these lines, we have demonstrated non-receptor dependent activation of trimeric G-proteins by glucose. For example, we have reported phosphorylation of G^{β} subunits at critical histidine residues in clonal β -cells, normal rat islets and human islets, which, in turn, is transferred to $G_{\alpha GDP}$ to yield biologically active GTP-bound G_{α} subunits [54, 55]. In addition, previous studies have also demonstrated glucosemediated activation of the carboxylmethylation of G_{γ} subunits [56]. Together, these observations provided the first evidence to indicate activation of trimeric GTPase via signaling steps generated during glucose metabolism culminating in insulin secretion. It is noteworthy that recent findings from the laboratory of Gautam [57, 58] have suggested critical roles for protein palmitoylation in the shuttling of trimeric G-protein subunits between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes, which is inhibited by 2BP. Potential involvement of protein palmitoylation in glucoseinduced activation of trimeric-proteins in the islet β-cell remains to be verified experimentally.

Negative Modulatory Roles of Protein Palmitoylation in Islet Function

In addition to their positive modulatory roles, accumulating evidence supports the view point that protein palmitoylation plays negative modulatory roles in the induction of metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell under the duress of noxious stimuli such as proinflammatory cytokines and saturated fatty acids. Along these lines, we first reported that functional inactivation of H-Ras, a small G-protein, and results in significant reduction in IL 1β-mediated effects on isolated β-cells [59]. Our findings in clonal β-cells [HIT-T15 and INS-1 cells] also showed a significant inhibition of IL-1 β-induced inducible nitric oxide synthase and NO release by CER and 2BP. 2-hydroxymyristic acid, an inhibitor of protein myristoylation, failed to affect IL-induced NO release suggesting the relevance of palmitoylation, but not myristoylation, in these signaling steps. Further, we demonstrated significant accumulation of H-Ras in the cytosolic fraction in cells incubated with CER; these data supported our original proposal that inhibition of palmitoylation leads to mistargeting of G-proteins in islet β-cells. Interestingly, we noted that depletion of membrane-bound cholesterol using methyl-β-cyclodextrin, which also disrupts caveolar organization within the plasma membrane, abolished IL-1 βinduced NO release suggesting that IL-1β-mediated Rasdependent signaling in these cells involves the intermediacy of caveolae and their key constituents [e.g. caveolin-1] in isolated 8-cells. Confocal light microscopic evidence indicated significant co-localization of Ras with caveolin-1. Based on this evidence we concluded that palmitoylation of Ras is essential for IL-1 β-induced cytotoxic effects on the islet β-cell [59]. A follow-up study investigated [60] potential cross-talk between H-Ras and caveolin-1 in the signaling events leading to cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β-cell. Using immunologic and confocal microscopic approaches we demonstrated a transient but significant stimulation of tyrosine phosphorylation of Cav-1 in βcells briefly [~15 min] exposed to IL-18; three structurally distinct inhibitors of protein tyrosine phosphorylation markedly attenuated tyrosine phosphorylation of Cav-1. Over expression of an inactive mutant of Cav-1 lacking the tyrosine phosphorylation site (Y14F) or siRNA-mediated Cav-1 knock down also resulted in marked attenuation of IL-1 βinduced iNOS gene expression and NO release from these cells, thus further implicating Cav-1 in this signaling cascade. IL-1 ß treatment also increased (within 20 min) the translocation of H-Ras into lipid rafts. Based on this evidence we proposed that tyrosine phosphorylation of Cav-1 and subsequent interaction among members of the Ras signaling pathway within the membrane lipid microdomains



represent early signaling mechanisms of IL-1 β in β -cells [60]. It is noteworthy that earlier studies by Di Vizio and associates have proposed potential involvement of palmitoylation of caveolin-1 for its interaction with fatty acid synthase in the lipid rafts [61]. The reader is referred to a recent review by Eisenberg and associates [62] on contributory roles of palmitoylation in subcellular localization and function of Ras. It will be interesting to determine if CER or 2BP-mediated inhibition of iNOS gene expression and associated NO release is due to disruption in the interaction/cross-talk between Caveolin-1 and H-Ras.

More recent observations from our laboratory have suggested novel regulatory roles for phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase [Nox2] in the induction of metabolic dysfunction of the islet β-cell under the duress of glucolipotoxic conditions and exposure to proinflammatory cytokines [63, 64]. In an attempt to further understand the signaling mechanisms underlying the activation of Nox2 and the associated increases in superoxide generation and metabolic dysfunction in βcells exposed to proinflammatory cytokines, we reported that 2-BPmarkedly attenuated cytokine-induced, Nox2-mediated ROS generation and iNOS-mediated NO generation. Although it needs to be confirmed experimentally, the observed inhibition of Nox2 activation and associated ROS generation by 2BP may, in part, be due to inhibition of palmitoylation of Rac1 [see above]. Based on these observations we conclude that cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the βcell involves 2BP-sensitive signaling steps that control iNOS-induced NO release and NOX2-induced ROS generation leading to mitochondrial dysregulation [caspase 3 activation] and apoptotic demise of the islet β-cell. We also conclude that palmitoylation of small G-proteins [e.g., H-Ras, Racl] may represent an upstream signaling step in the cascade of events leading to the generation of nitrosative and oxidative stress induced by proinflammatory cytokines in the islet β-cell (Fig. 3).

Besides cytokine-induced dysfunction, recent evidence appears to support key roles for protein palmitoylation in free fatty acid [FFA]-induced dysregulation of the islet. For example, using RINm5F cells and normal rat islets, Baldwin and associates have proposed a role for palmitoylation in FFA-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress and β -cell death [69]. Data from their studies suggested concentrationdependent loss in β -cell viability by palmitate, which was attenuated by 2BP. The latter also inhibited incorporation of [³H]palmitate into RINm5F cell proteins. Lastly, 2BP also reduced palmitate-induced inhibition of insulin secretion, ER stress and caspase activation. Based on this evidence they postulated key roles for protein palmitoylation in FFAinduced ER stress activation and loss of β -cell viability [69].

CURRENT & FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

From the above discussion, at least based on the pharmacological evidence [CER and 2BP], we conclude that palmitoylation plays a significant role in GSIS. Potential pleotropic effects of the pharmacologic inhibitors remain a significant concern. Furthermore, potential identity of the palmitoylated proteins remains to be a subject of immediate investigation. This is critical, at least for Racl since it has been shown to play both positive and negative modulatory roles in islet function [65]. For example, it has been shown to be involved in cytoskeletal rearrangement, vesicular transport and insulin secretion in clonal β -cells, normal rat islets and human islets [9, 10, 12]. Besides, it has been shown to play regulatory roles in the generation of oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and demise of the β -cell under the duress of glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity, and exposure to cytokines [63-67]. Additional studies are needed to conclusively demonstrate that palmitoylation of specific Gproteins [e.g., H-Ras, Rac1 and Cdc42] is critical for islet function and insulin secretion under normal physiological conditions [68], and pathophysiological conditions such as glucolipotoxicity and cytokine exposure [63-67].

In addition to proinflammatory cytokines, several recent studies have implicated novel regulatory roles for chemokines as mediators of apoptotic demise of the islet β -cell in diabetes. Chemokines are small molecular weight [~8-10 kDa] glycoproteins that chemo-attracts a variety of cells expressing appropriate GPCRs [70]. Accumulating evidence suggests increased expression of specific chemokines [e.g., CXCL10] in the serum and in tissues of models of autoimmune diseases like Type 1DM [70-72]. Recent studies by Sarkar and coworkers have demonstrated significantly high levels of CXCL10 expression in the islet environment of prediabetic animals as well as Type 1DM humans compared to other chemokines such as CCL5, CCL8, CXCL9 and CX3CL1 [72]. Recent studies by Burke et al. have suggested novel mechanisms for the increased expression of the CXCL10 gene by proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-18 and IFNy; these include NF-kB activation, tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT1 and acetylation of histones H3 and H4 [73]. Studies along these lines by Paroni and associates have identifies the Toll like receptor 4 as the cognate receptor for CXCL10-induced cytotoxic effects on the islet β-cell [74]. Despite the compelling evidence on CXCL10-mediated regulation of islet β-cell death, very little is known thus far with regard to potential intracellular down-stream signaling steps, including G-protein activation. This represents a promising area of research in the future.

It should be kept in mind that while the pharmacological data are encouraging, it is necessary to confirm these observations in these model systems using molecular biological approaches [siRNAs and/or adenoviral] to specifically knockdown individual PATs to further deduce regulatory roles for these signaling steps in the onset of metabolic dysfunction of the β -cell. Furthermore, as discussed in the above section, there is a critical need for the development of more specific inhibitors of PATs, especially in light of the known pleotropic effects of CER and 2BP that could negate other cellular functions. In addition to the development of specific inhibitors for PATs, it may be worthwhile to develop methodologies/probes to augment palmitoyl esterase activities in β -cells under the duress of chronic hyperglycemia, lipidemia or inflammatory cytokine exposure conditions.

Lastly, it is well established that glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity contribute significantly to the metabolic impairment of the islet [75]. Convincing observations from multiple laboratories have provided evidence to suggest significant defects in the transcription of genes [e.g., insulin gene] relevant to islet function. Such defects could come from exces-





Fig. (3). Model depicting potential regulatory roles for protein palmitoylation in the metabolic dysregulation and demise of the islet β-cell under the duress of exposure to proinflammatory cytokines

Existing evidence suggests that exposure of isolated β -cells to proinflammatory cytokines [e.g., IL-1 β , TNF α and IFN γ] results in a significant increase in the oxidative and nitrosative stress. Increase in oxidative stress may, in part, be due to increased activation of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase [Nox2]. The holoenzyme assembly and functional activation depends on *transient* activation of Rac1, which has been shown to be mediated via activation of Tiam1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac1 [63]. Inhibition of activation of this pathway by NSC23766 has been shown to prevent Nox2 activation and ROS generation [63]. Recent findings from our laboratory demonstratethat cytokine-induced ROS generation is inhibited by 2-BP [64], indicating the role of protein palmitoylation in this signaling cascade. Based on above discussion, it is likely that palmitoylation of Rac1 may be necessary for cytokine-induced Nox2 activation. In addition, cytokine exposure leads to increased nitrosative stress, which is mediated via activationof iNOS. Earlier studies involving radiometric measurements and CER have identified H-Ras as one of the palmitoylated G-proteins involved in cytokine-induced NO release. Requirement for protein palmitoylation plays a key modulatory role in cytokine-induced β -cell dysregulation and demise. It must be noted that similar palmitoylation-mediated defects in islet β -cell function might be occurring in other pathophysiological conditions such as gluco- and lipotoxicity since increased Tiam1-Rac1-mediated activation of Nox2 and ROS generation have been reported in β -cells under these conditions [65-68]. Nox2: phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase; iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthetase; ROS: reactive oxygen species; and NO: nitric oxide.

sive palmitoylation of cellular proteins/factors involved in transcriptional regulation of proteins. Along these lines, recent studies by Kang and associates [76] provided compelling evidence to suggest significant reduction in the expression of incretin receptors and associated signaling steps in islets under the duress of elevated glucose and lipids. More importantly, administration of lipid lowering drugs alongside DPP4 inhibitors or GLP-1 agonist to diabetic animals markedly improved glucose tolerance and prevented loss in β -cell mass. Based on these observations, the authors concluded that restoration of circulating levels of lipids to normal levels in T2DM diabetics could significantly augment the therapeutic efficiency of incretin hormones [76]. However, it remains to be seen if alterations [i.e., excessive] in palmitoylation of

🏅 للاستشارات

Palmitovlation in Islet [dvs]Function

candidate proteins under glucolipotoxic conditions contributes to reduced expression of incretin receptor expression.

It should be noted that inhibitors of HMG-CoA reductase [e.g., statins] have been used in many early studies to inhibit protein prenylation [77-80] since mevalonic acid is the precursor for the biosynthesis of farnesyl and geranygeranyl pyrophosphates, which are incorporated into C-terminal cysteines of candidate proteins by farnesyl and geranylgeranyltransferases (Fig. 2). A growing body of evidence appears to establish a clear link between incident diabetes and statin therapy [81-83]. It is likely that the "diabetogenic" effects of statins may, in part, be due to inhibition of glucose metabolic events [e.g., inhibition of requisite prenylation of G-proteins]

Recent Patents on Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Drug Discovery 2013, Vol. 7, No. 3 7



leading to impaired insulin secretion ultimately leading to loss in β-cell viability culminating in the onset of diabetes. In the context of this article, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors are not expected to inhibit affect islet function via inhibition of protein palmitoylation although it remains to be verified experimentally.

RECENTPATENTS FOR DEVELOPMENTOF PALMITOYLTRANSFERASES TO PREVENT DIABETES AND ITS COMPLICATIONS

It is important to note that a significant amount of work has been carried out in the development of inhibitors for palmitoyltransferases such as carnitine palmitoyltransferases e.g., patent publications USRE41226; USRE40861: US6444701; US6369073 [84] and serine palmitoyltransferases US20080287479; TW200831487; W02008084300; CA2671138 [85, 86]. Inhibitors of carnitine palmitoyltransferas have been patented for the induction of apoptosis, inhibition of cell proliferation, for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, impaired glucose tolerance, Cushing's disease, cardiovascular diseasehyperglycemia, obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, fatty liver disease, renal failure, diabetes, inflammatory diseases, sepsis syndrome, malaria, Crohn's disease, cachexia, inflammatory bowel diseases, mycobacterial infection, retinitis pigmentosa and especially for the treatment of cancer [87-93]. However, very little has been done in the area of development of small molecule compounds with greater efficacy to inhibit palmitoylation of proteins at cystiene residues of DHHC class of proteins; such compounds could have potential utility including the prevention of loss of β-cell mass, onset of diabetes and its associated complications. In conclusion, we are hopeful that data reviewed in this article will form the basis for future investigations to conclusively demonstrate the therapeutic utility of PAT inhibitors and/or palmitoylesterase activators in the prevention islet metabolic dysfunction in inflammation and diabetes.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A.M.M conducted some of the research work described herein. F.C. contributed to the scientific discussion and collaborated in studies conducted by A.M.M. A.K. contributed to the design, writing and editing of the manuscript. No conflict of interests is declared by the authors. A.K. is an employee of the U.S. Government [Department of Veterans Administration].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported in part by a Merit Review award [to AK; 1BX000469] from the Department of Veterans Affairs, Office of Research and Development [Biomedical Laboratory Research and Development], an Innovative Grant from the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation [to AK; 5-2012-257], NIH [RO1 DK74921 to AK; R01 ES017217 and R01 ES020137 to FC]. AK is also the recipient of a Senior Research Career Scientist Award from the Department of VA. AM is the recipient of George Fuller Endowed Pre-Doctoral Fellowship from the Eugene Applebaum College of Pharmacy and Health Sciences.

REFERENCES

- Prentki M, Matschinsky FM. Ca2+, cAMP, and phospholipidderived messengers in coupling mechanisms of insulin secretion. Physiol Rev 1987; 67(4):1185-1248.
- MacDonald MJ. Elusive proximal signals of beta-cells for insulin secretion. Diabetes 1990; 39(12):1461-6.
- Jitrapakdee S, Wutthisathapomchai A, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ. Regulation of insulin secretion: role of mitochondrial signaling. Diabetologia 2010; 53(6):1019-32.
 Henquin JC. The dual control of insulin secretion by glucose in-
- [4] Henquin JC. The dual control of insulin secretion by glucose involves triggering and amplifying pathways in beta-cells. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2011; 93 (Suppl. 1): S27-31.
- [5] Seino S. Cell signalling in insulin secretion: the molecular targets of ATP, cAMP and sulfonylurea. Diabetologia 2012; 55(8):2096-2108.
- [6] Fu Z, Gilbert ER, Liu D. Regulation of insulin synthesis and secretion and pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction in diabetes. Curr Diabetes Rev 2013; 9(1):25-53.
- [7] Metz SA, Rabaglia ME, Pintar TJ. Selective inhibitors of GTP synthesis impede exocytotic insulin release from intact rat islets. J Biol Chem 1992; 267(18):12517-27.
- [8] Metz SA, Meredith M, Rabaglia ME, Kowhuru A. Small elevations of glucose concentration redirect and amplify the synthesis of guanosine 5'-triphosphate in rat islets. J Clin Invest 1993; 92(2):872-82.
- [9] Wang Z, Thurmond DC. Mechanisms of biphasic insulin-granule exocytosis -roles of the cytoskeleton, small GTPases and SNARE proteins. J Cell Sci 2009; 122(Pt7):893-903.
- [10] Kowhuru A. Small G proteins in islet beta-cell function. Endocr Rev 2010; 31(1):52-78.
- [11] Jayaram B, Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Rhodes CJ, Kowhuru A. Arf nucleotide binding site opener [ARNO] promotes sequential activation of Arf6, Cdc42 and Rac1 and insulin secretion in INS 832/13 β-cells and rat islets. Biochem Pharmacol 2011; 81(8):1016-27.
- [12] Kowhuru A. Regulatory roles for small G proteins in the pancreatic beta-cell: lessons from models of impaired insulin secretion. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2003; 285(4):E669-84.
- [13] Kepner EM, Yoder SM, Oh E, Kalwat MA, Wang Z, Quilliam LA, et al. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2011; 301(6):E1072-80.
- [14] Veluthakal R, Madathilperambil SV, McDonald P, Olson LK, Kowluru A. Regulatory roles for Tiam1, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rac1, in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic beta-cells Biochem Pharmacol 2009;77(1):101-13.
- [15] Jayaram B, Kowluru A. Phagocytic NADPH oxidase links ARNO-Arf6 signaling pathway in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from the pancreatic beta-cell. Cell Physiol Biochem 2012; 30(6):1351-62.
- [16] McDonald P, Veluthakal R, Kaur H, Kowhuru A. Biologically active lipids promote trafficking and membrane association of Rac1 in insulin-secreting INS 832/13 cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2007; 292(3):C1216-20.
- [17] Munday AD, López JA. Posttranslational protein palmitoylation: promoting platelet purpose. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27(7):1496-9.
- [18] Blaskovic S, Blanc M, van der Goot FG. What does Spalmitoylation do to membrane proteins? FEBS J 2013; 280(12):2766-74.
- [19] Bijlmakers MJ, Marsh M. The on-off story of protein palmitoylation. Trends Cell Biol 2003; 13(1):32-42.
- [20] Keith DJ, Sanderson JL, Gibson ÉS, Woolfrey KM, Robertson HR, Olszewski K, et al. Palmitoylation of A-kinase anchoring protein 79/150 regulates dendritic endosomal targeting and synaptic plasticity mechanisms. J Neurosci 2012; 32(21):7119-36.
- [21] Sahu SK, Gummadi SN, Manoj N, Aradhyam GK. Phospholipid scramblases: an overview. Arch Biochem Biophys 2007; 462(1):103-14.
- [22] He M, Jenkins P, Bennett V. Cysteine 70 of ankyrin-g is spalmitoylated and is required for function of ankyrin-g in membrane domain assembly. J Biol Chem 2012; 287(52):43995-44005.
- [23] Christgau S, Aanstoot HJ, Schierbeck H, Begley K, Tullin S, Hejnaes K, et al. Membrane anchoring of the autoantigen GAD65 to microvesicles in pancreatic beta-cells by palmitoylation in the NH2-terminal domain. J Cell Biol 1992; 118(2):309-20.
- [24] Zacharias DA, Mullen M, Planey SL. Antiproliferative factorinduced changes in phosphorylation and palmitoylation of cy-



Palmitoylation in Islet [dys]Function

toskeleton-associated protein-4 regulate its nuclear translocation and DNA binding.Int J Cell Biol 2012; 2012:150918.

- [25] Sharma C, Rabinovitz I, Hemler ME. Palmitoylation by DHHC3 is critical for the function, expression, and stability of integrin αδβ4. Cell Mol Life Sci 2012; 69(13):2233-44.
- [26] Lakkaraju AK, Abrami L, Lemmin T, Blaskovic S, Kunz B, Kihara A, et al. Palmitoylated calnexin is a key component of the ribosome-translocon complex. EMBO J 2012; 31(7):1823-35.
- [27] Zheng H, Pearsall EA, Hurst DP, Zhang Y, Chu J, Zhou Y, et al. Palmitoylation and membrane cholesterol stabilize μ-opioid receptor homodimerization and G protein coupling. BMC Cell Biol 2012; 13:6.
- [28] Botham A, Guo X, Xiao YP, Morice AH, Compton SJ, Sadofsky LR. Palmitoylation of human proteinase-activated receptor-2 differentially regulates receptor-triggered ERK1/2 activation, calcium signalling and endocytosis. Biochem J 2011; 438(2):359-67.
- [29] Zückerman DM, Hicks SW, Charron G, Hang HC, Machamer CE. Differential regulation of two palmitoylation sites in the cytoplasmic tail of the beta1-adrenergic receptor. J Biol Chem 2011; 286(21):19014-23.
- [30] Kokkola T, Kruse C, Roy-Pogodzik EM, Pekkinen J, Bauch C, Hönck HH, et al. Somatostatin receptor 5 is palmitoylated by the interacting ZDHHC5 palmitoyltransferase. FEBS Lett 2011; 585(17):2665-70.
- [31] Bastin G, Singh K, Dissanayake K, Mighiu AS, Nurmohamed A, Heximer SP. Amino-terminal cysteine residues differentially influence RGS4 protein plasma membrane targeting, intracellular trafficking, and function. J Biol Chem 2012; 287(34):28966-74.
- [32] Heakal Y, Woll MP, Fox T, Seaton K, Levenson R, Kester M. Neurotensin receptor-linducible palmitoylation is required for efficient receptor-mediated mitogenic-signaling withinstructured membrane microdomains. Cancer Biol Ther 2011; 12(5):427-35.
- [33] Aittaleb M, Nishimura A, Linder ME, Tesmer JJ. Plasma membrane association of p63 Rhoguanine nucleotide exchange factor (p63RhoGEF) is mediated by palmitoylation and is required for basal activity in cells. J Biol Chem 2011; 286(39):34448-56.
- [34] Falo LD Jr, Benacerraf B, Rothstein L, Rock KL. Cerulenin is a potent inhibitor of antigen processing by antigen-presenting cells. J Immunol 1987; 139(12):3918-23.
- [35] Gabius HJ, van de Wouwer M, André S, Villalobo A. Downregulation of the epidermal growth factorreceptor by altering Nglycosylation: emerging role of β1, 4-galactosyltransferases. Anticancer Res 2012; 32(5):1565-72.
- [36] Roe ND, Ren J. Oxidative activation of Ca2+/calmodulin-activated kinase II mediates ER stress-induced cardiac dysfunction and apoptosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2013; 304(6):H828-39.
- [37] Mikic I, Planey S, Zhang J, Ceballos C, Seron T, von Massenbach B, et al. A live cell, image-based approach to understanding the enzymology and pharmacology of 2-bromopalmitate and palmitoylation. Methods Enzymol 2006; 414:150-87.
- [38] Resh MD. Use of analogs and inhibitors to study the functional significance of protein palmitoylation. Methods 2006; 40(2):191-7.
- [39] Chase JF, Tubbs PK. Specific inhibition of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation by 2-bromopalmitate and its coenzyme A and carnitine esters. Biochem J 1972; 129(1):55-65.
- [40] Jennings BC, Nadolski MJ, Ling Y, Baker MB, Harrison ML, Deschenes RJ, et al. 2-Bromopalmitate and 2-(2-hydroxy-5-nirobenzo[b]thiophen-3-one inhibit DHHC-mediated palmitoylation in vitro. J Lipid Res 2009; 50(2):233-42.
- [41] Metz SA, Rabaglia ME, Stock JB, Kowhiru A. Modulation of insulin secretion from normal rat islets by inhibitors of the posttranslational modifications of GTP-binding proteins. Biochem J 1993; 295(Pt1):31-40.
- [42] Straub SG, Yajima H, Komatsu M, Aizawa T, Sharp GW. The effects of cerulenin, an inhibitor of protein acylation, on the two phases of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Diabetes 2002; 51(Suppl. 1):S91-5.
- [43] Yajima H, Komatsu M, Yamada S, Straub SG, Kaneko T, Sato Y, et al. Cerulenin, an inhibitor of protein acylation, selectively attenuates nutrient stimulation of insulin release: a study in rat pancreatic islets Diabetes 2000; 49(5):712-7.
- [44] Deeney JT, Gromada J, Høy M, Olsen HL, Rhodes CJ, Prentki M, et al.Acute stimulation with long chain acyl-CoA enhances exocytosis in insulin-secreting cells (HIT T-15 and NMRI beta-cells). J Biol Chem 2000; 275(13):9363-8.

المسلمة للاستشارات

- Yamada S, Komatsu M, Sato Y, Yamauchi K, Aizawa T, Kojima I. Nutrient modulation of palmitoylated 24-kilodalton protein in rat pancreatic islets. Endocrinology 2003; 144(12):5232-41.
 Haber EP, Hirabara SM, Gomes AD, Curi R, Carpinelli AR, Car-
- [46] Haber EP, Hirabara SM, Gomes AD, Curi R, Carpinelli AR, Carvalho CR. Palmitate modulates the early steps of insulin signalling pathway in pancreatic islets. FEBS Lett 2003; 544(1-3):185-8.
- [47] Abdel-Ghany M, Sharp GW, Straub SG. Glucose stimulation of protein acylation in pancreatic beta-cells. Life Sci 2010; 87(23-26):667-71.
- [48] Warnotte C, Gilon P, Nenquin M, Henquin JC. Mechanisms of the stimulation of insulin releaseby saturated fatty acids. A study of palmitate effects in mouse beta-cells. Diabetes 1994; 43(5):703-11.
- [49] Parker SM, Moore PC, Johnson LM, Poitout V. Palmitate potentiation of glucose-induced insulin release: a study using 2bromopalmitate. Metabolism 2003; 52(10):1367-71.
- [50] Cheng H, Straub SG, Sharp GW. Protein acylation in the inhibition of insulin secretion by norepinephrine, somatostatin, galanin, and PGE2. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab2003; 285(2):E287-94.
- [51] Navarro-Lérida I, Sánchez-Perales S, Calvo M, Rentero C, Zheng Y, Enrich C, et al. A palmitoylation switch mechanism regulates Rac1 function and membrane organization. EMBO J2012; 31(3):534-51.
- [52] Kang R, Wan J, Arstikaitis P, Takahashi H, Huang K, Bailey AO, et al. Neural palmitoyl-proteomics reveals dynamic synaptic palmitoylation. Nature 2008; 456(7224):904-9.
- [53] Nishimura A, Linder ME. Identification of a novel prenyl, palmitoyl CaaX modification of Cdc42 that regulates RhoGDI binding. Mol Cell Biol 2013; 33(7):1417-29.
- [54] Kowhuru A, Seavey SE, Rhodes CJ, Metz SA. A novel regulatory mechanism for trimeric GTP-binding proteins in the membrane and secretory granule fractions of human and rodent beta cells. Biochem J 1996; 313 (Pt1):97-107.
- [55] Kowhuru A. Emerging roles for protein histidine phosphorylation in cellular signal transduction: lessons from the islet beta-cell. J Cell Mol Med 2008; 12(5B):1885-1908.
- [56] Kowhuru A, Li G, Metz SA. Glucose activates the carboxyl methylation of gamma subunits of trimeric GTP-binding proteins in pancreatic beta cells. Modulation in vivo by calcium, GTP, and pertussis toxin. J Clin Invest 1997; 100(6):1596-1610.
- [57] Chisari M, Saini DK, Kalyanaraman V, Gautam N. Shuttling of G protein subunits between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes. J Biol Chem2007; 282(33):24092-8.
- [58] Saini DK, Chisari M, Gautam N. Shuttling and translocation of heterotrimeric G proteins and Ras. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2009; 30(6):278-86.
- [59] Chen HQ, Tannous M, Veluthakal R, Amin R, Kowhuru A. Novel roles for palmitoylation of Ras in IL-1β-induced nitric oxide release and caspase-3 activation in insulin-secreting β-cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2003; 66(9):1681-94.
- [60] Veluthakal R, Chvyrkova I, Tannous M, McDonald P, Amin R, Hadden T, et al. Essential role for membrane lipid rafts in interleukin-1beta-induced nitric oxide release from insulin-secreting cells: potential regulation by caveolin-1+Diabetes 2005; 54(9):2576-85.
- [61] Di Vizio D, Adam RM, Kim J, Kim R, Sotgia F, Williams T, et al. Caveolin-1 interacts with a lipid raft-associated population of fatty acid synthase. Cell Cycle 2008; 7(14):2257-67.
- [62] Eisenberg S, Laude AJ, Beckett AJ, Mageean CJ, Aran V, Hernandez-Valladares M, et al. The role of palmitoylation in regulating Ras localization and function. Biochem Soc Trans2013; 41(1):79-83.
- [63] Subasinghe W, Syed I, Kowhuru A. Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells: evidence for regulation by Racl. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2011; 300(1):R12-20.
 [64] Mohammed AM, Syeda K, Hadden T, Kowhuru A. Upregulation of
- [64] Mohammed AM, Syeda K, Hadden T, Kowhuru A. Upregulation of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase by cytokines in pancreatic betacells: attenuation of oxidative and nitrosative stress by 2bromopalmitate. Biochem Pharmacol 2013; 85(1):109-14.
- [65] Kowhuru A. Friendly, and not so friendly, roles of Rac1 in islet βcell function: lessons learnt from pharmacological and molecular biological approaches. Biochem Pharmacol 2011; 81(8):965-75.
- [66] Syed I, Jayaram B, Subasinghe W, Kowhuru A. Tiaml/Racl signaling pathway mediates palmitate-induced, ceramide-sensitive generation of superoxides and lipid peroxides and the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in pancreatic beta-cells. Biochem Pharmacol 2010; 80(6):874-83.



- [67] Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Jayaram B, Govind S, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru RA, et al. Increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and ROS generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-JNKI/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in thediabetic islet.Diabetes 2011; 60(11):2843-52.
- [68] Kowluru A, Veluthakal R, Rhodes CJ, Kamath V, Syed I, Koch BJ. Protein famesylation-dependent Raffextracelhular signal-related kinase signaling links to cytoskeletal remodeling to facilitate glucose-induced insulin secretion in pancreatic beta-cells. Diabetes 2010; 59(4):967-77.
- [69] Baldwin AC, Green CD, Olson LK, Moxley MA, Corbett JA. A role for aberrant protein palmitoylation in FFA-induced ER stress and β-cell death. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2010; 302(11):E1390-8.
- [70] Ahmadi Z, Arababadi MK, Hassanshahi G. CXCL10 activities, biological structure, and source along with its significant role played in pathophysiology of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Inflammation 2013; 36 (2):364-71.
- [71] Ryden A, Faresjo M. Altered immune profile from pre-diabetes to manifestation of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2013; 100(1):74-84.
- [72] Sarkar SA, Lee CE, Victorino F, Nguyen TT, Walters JA, Burrack A, et al. Expression and regulation of chemokines in murine and human type 1 diabetes Diabetes 2012; 61(2):436-46.
- Burke SJ, Goff MR, Lu D, Proud D, Karlstad MD, Collier JJ. Synergistic expression of the CXCL10 gene in response to IL-1β and IFN-γ involves NF-κB, phosphorylation of STAT1 at Tyr701, and acetylation of histones H3 and H4.J Immunol 2013 [epub ahead of print] PMID: 23740952.
 Paroni F, Domsgen E, Maedler K. CXCL10-a path to beta-cell
- [74] Paroni F, Domsgen E, Maedler K. CXCL10-a path to beta-cell death. Islets 2009; 1(3):256-9.
- [75] Poitout V, Robertson RP. Glucolipotoxicity: fuel excess and betacell dysfunction. Endocr Rev 2008; 29(3):351-66.
- [76] Kang ZF, Deng Y, Zhou Y, Fan RR, Chan JC, Laybutt DR, et al. Pharmacological reduction of NEFA restores the efficacy of incretin-based therapies through GLP-1 receptor signalling in the beta cell in mouse models of diabetes. Diabetologia 2013; 56(2):423-33.
- [77] Metz SA, Rabaglia ME, Stock JB, Kowhuru A. Modulation of insulin secretion from normal rat islets by inhibitors of the posttranslational modifications of GTP-binding proteins. Biochem J 1993; 295(Pt1):31-40.
- [78] Stark WW jr, Blaskovich MA, Johnson BA, Qian Y, Vasudevan A, Pitt B, et al. Inhibiting geranylgeranylation blocks growth and promotes apoptosis in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 1998; 275(1 Pt1):L55-63.

- [79] Nakagami H, Jensen KS, Liao JK. A novel pleotropic effect of statins: prevention of cardiac hypertrophy by cholesterolindependent mechanisms. Ann Med 2003; 35(6):398-403.
- [80] Khwaja A, Sharpe CC, Noor M, Hendry BM. The role of geranylgeranylated proteins in human mesangial cell proliferation. Kidney Int 2006; 70(7):1296-1304.
- [81] Mascitelli L, Goldstein MR. Statins, cholesterol depletion and risk of incident diabetes. Int J Cardiol 2011; 152(2):275-6.
- [82] Colbret JD, Stone JA. Statin use and risk of incident diabetes mellitus: a review of the literature. Can J Cardiol 2012; 28(5):581-9.
- [83] Jahangir E, Fazio S, Sampson UK. Incident diabetes and statins: the blemish of an undisputed heavy weight champion? Br J Clin Pharmacol 2013; 75(4):955-8.
- [84] Giannessi, F.,Marzi, M.,Minetti, P.,De Angelis, F.,Tinti, Maria O.,Chiodi, P.,Arduini, A.Compounds having reversible inhibiting activity of carnitine palmitoyl-transferase. USRE41226 (2010), USRE40861 (2009), US6444701 (2002) & US6369073 (2002).
- [85] Hutchings, R. Park, W. Bolton, G. Van Huis, C. Kohrt, J. Inhibitors of serine palmitoyl transferase. US20080287479 (2008).
- [86] Bolton, G.L., Hutchings, R.H., Kohrt, J.T., Park, W.K.C., Van Huis, C.A.Inhibitors of serine palmitoyltransferase. TW200831487 (2008), W02008084300 (2008) & CA2671138 (2008).
- [87] University Health Network Inhibitors of carnitine palmitoyltransferase and treating cancer. US8410150 (2013).
- [88] Ghidoni, R., Strettoi, E., Gargini, M.C., Gasco, P. Serine palmitoyltransferase inhibitors for preventing and delaying retinitis pigmentosa. US20120040007 (2012).
- [89] Mak, T.W., Pan, G.Yao, Y. Zaugg, K.Induction of apoptosis and inhibition of cell proliferation through modulation of camitine palmitoyltransferase 1c activity. US20100292302 (2010).
- [90] Akkermann, Z., Blajkher, K., Chekkarelli-Grents, S.M., Shom Enn, O., Mattej, P., Shul, T.-G.T. Heteroaryl-substituted piperidine derivatives as hepatic carnitine palmitoyltransferase (L-CPT1) inhibitors. RU2396269C2 (2010).
- [91] Pauls, H.W., Forrest, B.T., Sampson, P.B., Liu, Y., Laufer, R. Lang, Y., Feher, M., Yao, Y., Pan, G.Inhibitors of carnitine palmitoyltransferase and treating cancer. US20100105900 US20110015174 (2011).
- [92] Pauls, H.W., Forrest, B.T., Sampson, P.B., Liu, Y., Laufer, R., Lang, Y., Feher, M., Yao, Y., Pan, G.Cyclic inhibitors of carnitine palmitoyltransferase and treating cancer. WO2009015485 (2009).
 [93] Yoo, H.S., Lee, Y.S., Lee, Y.M., Yun, Y.P. Anti-cancer composition
- [93] Yoo, H.S.,Lee, Y.S.,Lee, Y.M.,Yun, Y.P.Anti-cancer composition comprising an inhibitor for serine-palmitoyltransferase as active ingredient. KR2012090733 (2012).

المتسارات

Mohammed et al.

REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2010; 33(1):S62-S69.
- 2. Scully T. Diabetes in numbers. Nature. 2012; 485(7398):S2-S3.
- Whiting DR, Guariguata L, Weil C, Shaw J. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2011; 94(3): 311-321.
- 4. MacLean H. Insulin. Supplement to Nature. 1924; 2853:33-40.
- De Meyts P. Insulin and its receptor: structure, function and evolution. BioEssays. 2004; 26(12):1351-1362.
- Saltiel AR, Kahn R. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Nature. 2001; 414(6865):799-806.
- Taniguchi CM, Emanuelli B, Kahn CR. Critical nodes in signalling pathways: insights into insulin action. Nature Reviews. 2006; 7(2):85-96.
- Menting JG, Whittaker J, Margetts MB, Whittaker LJ, Kong GK, Smith BJ, Watson CJ, Záková L, Kletvíková E, Jiráček J, Chan SJ, Steiner DF, Dodson GG, Brzozowski AM, Weiss MA, Ward CW, Lawrence MC. How insulin engages its primary binding site on the insulin receptor. Nature. 2013; 493(7431):241-245.
- von Herrath M, Sanda S, Herold K. Type 1 diabetes as a relapsing-remitting disease? Nature Reviews Immunology. 2007; 7(12):988-994.
- von Herrath M . Immunology: Insulin trigger for diabetes. Nature. 2005; 435(7039):151-152.
- Mandrup-Poulsen T. β-cell death and protection. Annals New York Academy of Sciences.
 2003; 1005: 32-42.



- 12. Eizirik DL, Mandrup-Poulsen T. A choice of death--the signal-transduction of immunemediated beta-cell apoptosis. Diabetologia. 2001; 44(12): 2115-2133.
- Mathis D, Vence L, Benoist C. β-Cell death during progression to diabetes. Nature. 2001;
 414(6865): 792-798.
- Rabinovitch A, Suarez-Pinzon WL. Cytokines and their roles in pancreatic islet β-cell destruction and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1998; 55(8):1139-1149.
- 15. Kang MH, Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 inhibitors: Targeting Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathway in Cancer Therapy. Clinical Cancer Research. 2009; 15 (4): 1126-1132.
- Donath MY, Storling J, Maedler K, Mandrup-Poulson T. Inflammatory mediators and islet β-cell failure: a link between type I and type II diabetes. Journal of Molecular Medicine. 2003; 81(8): 455-470.
- 17. Mehmeti I, Lenzen S, Lortz S. Modulation of Bcl-2 related proteins expression in pancreatic β-cells by pro-inflammatory cytokines and its dependence on antioxidant defense status. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2011; 332(1-2): 88-96.
- 18. Wachlin G, Augstein P, Schroder D, Kuttler B, Kloting I, Heinke P, Schmidt S. IL1β, TNFα and INFγ increase vulnerability of pancreatic β-cells to autoimmune destruction. Journal of Autoimmunity. 2003; 20(4): 303-312.
- 19. Nakhooda AF, Like AA, Chappel CI, Murray FT, Marliss EB. The spontaneously diabetic Wistar rat. Metabolic and morphologic studies. Diabetes. 1977; 26(2):100-112.
- 20. Colle E, Guttmann RD, Seemayer T. Spontaneous diabetes mellitus syndrome in the rat.
 I. Association with the major histocompatibility complex. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1981; 154(4):1237-1242.
- 21. Lehuen A, Diana J, Zaccone P, Cooke A. Immune cell crosstalk in type 1 diabetes. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2010; 10(7):501-513.



- 22. Wallet MA, Tisch R. Type I diabetes, inflammation and dendritic cells. Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms. 2006; 3(3):373-379.
- 23. Anderson MS, Bluestone JA. The NOD mouse: a model of immune dysregulation. Annual Review of Immunology. 2005; 23:447-485.
- 24. Bluestone JA, Herold K, Eisenbarth G. Genetics, pathogenesis and clinical interventions in type 1 diabetes. Nature. 2010; 464(7293):1293-1300.
- 25. Kowluru A. Small G proteins in islet β function. Endocrine Reviews. 2010; 31(1): 52-78.
- Takai Y, Sasaki T, Matozaki T. Small GTP-binding proteins. Physiological Reviews.2001; 81(1):153–208.
- 27. Kowluru A. Regulatory roles for small G-proteins in the pancreatic β cell: lessons from models of impaired insulin secretion. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2003; 285(4): E669–E684.
- Casey PJ, Seabra MC. Protein prenyltransferases. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1996;
 271(10):5289–5292.
- 29. Maurer-Stroh S, Washietl S, Eisenhaber F. Protein prenyltransferases. Genome Biology. 2003; 4(4): 212.
- 30. Kowluru A. Protein prenylation in glucose-induced insulin secretion from the pancreatic islet β-cell: a perspective. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 2008; 12(1):164– 173.
- 31. Amin R, Chen HQ, Tannous M, Gibbs R, Kowluru A. Inhibition of glucose- and calciuminduced insulin secretion from βTC3 cells by novel inhibitors of protein isoprenylation. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. 2002; 303(1): 82–88.
- 32. Kowluru A, Seavey SE, Li G, Sorenson RL, Weinhaus AJ, Nesher R, Rabaglia ME, Vadakekalam J, Metz SA. Glucose- and GTP-dependent stimulation of the carboxylmethylation of Cdc42 in rodent and human pancreatic islets and pure β cells:



evidence for an essential role for GTP-binding proteins in nutrient-induced insulin secretion. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1996; 98(2): 540–555.

- 33. Kowluru A, Li G, Metz SA. Glucose activates the carboxyl methylation of gamma subunits of trimeric GTP-binding proteins in pancreatic beta cell. Modulation in vivo by calcium, GTP, and pertussis toxin. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1997; 100(6):1596–1610.
- 34. Metz SA, Rabaglia ME, Stock JB, Kowluru A. Modulation of insulin secretion from normal rat islets by inhibitors of the post-translational modifications of GTP binding Proteins. Biochemical Journal. 1993; 295(1): 31–40.
- 35. Veluthakal R, Kaur H, Goalstone M, Kowluru A. Dominant negative alpha-subunit of farnesyl-and geranyl geranyltransferase inhibits glucose-stimulated, but not KCl-stimulated, insulin secretion in INS 832/13 cells. Diabetes. 2007; 56(1); 204–210.
- 36. Kowluru A, Li G, Rabaglia ME, Segu VB, Hofmann F, Aktories K, Metz SA. Evidence for differential roles of the Rho subfamily of GTP-binding proteins in glucose- and calciuminduced insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 1997; 54(10):1097–1108.
- 37. Rabuazzo AM, Buscema M, Caltabiano V, Anello M, Degano C, Patane G, Vigneri R, Purrello F. IL-1β inhibition of insulin release in rat pancreatic islets: possible involvement of G-proteins in the signal transduction pathway. Diabetologia. 1995; 38(7): 779-784.
- 38. Kowluru A, Morgan NG. GTP-binding proteins in cell survival and demise: the emerging pictures in pancreatic β-cell. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2002; 63(6):1027-1035.
- 39. Kowluru A. Friendly, and not so friendly, roles of Rac1 in islet β-cell function: Lessons learnt from pharmacological and molecular biological approaches. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2011; 81(8): 965-975.



- 40. Tannous M, Amin R, Popoff MR, Fiorentini C, Kowluru A. Positive modulation by Ras of interleukin-1β-mediated nitric oxide generation in insulin-secreting clonal β (HIT-T15) cells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2001; 62(11):1459-1468.
- 41. Arora DK, Syed I, Machhadieh B, McKenna CE, Kowluru A. Rab-geranylgeranyl transferase regulates glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells. Islets. 2012; 4(5):354-358.
- 42. Chen HQ, Tannous M, Veluthakal R, Amin R, Kowluru A. Novel roles for palmitoylation of Ras in IL-1β-induced nitric oxide release and caspase-3 activation in insulin-secreting βcells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2003; 66(9):1681-1694.
- 43. Babior BM. NADPH oxidase: An update. Blood. 1999; 93(5):1464-1476.
- 44. Newsholme P, Morgan D, Rebelato E, Oliveira-Emilio HC, Procopio J, Curi R, Carpinelli
 A. Insights in to the critical role of NADPH oxidase(s) in the normal and deregulated pancreatic β-cell. Diabetologia. 2009; 52(12): 2489-2498.
- 45. Taylor-Fishwick DA. NOX, NOX Who is there? The Contribution of NADPH Oxidase One to Beta Cell Dysfunction. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2013; 4:40.
- Jiang F, Zhang Y, Dusting GJ. NADPH oxidase-mediated redox signaling: role in cellular stress response, stress tolerance, and tissue repair. Pharmacological Reviews. 2011; 63(1): 218-242.
- 47. Subasinghe W, Syed I, Kowluru A. Phagocyte like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokineinduced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells: evidence for regulation by Rac1. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2011; 300(1):R12-R20.
- 48. Montalvo-Ortiz BL, Castillo-Pichardo L, Hernández E, Humphries-Bickley T, De la Mota-Peynado A, Cubano LA, Vlaar CP, Dharmawardhane S. Characterization of EHop-016,



novel small molecule inhibitor of Rac GTPase. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2012; 287(16):13228-13238.

- 49. Lenzen S. Oxidative stress: the vulnerable beta-cell. Biochemical Society Transactions. 2008; 36(3): 343-347.
- 50. Drews G, Krippeit-Drews P, Dufer M. Oxidative stress and β-cell dysfunction. Pflugers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology. 2010; 460(4): 703-718.
- 51. Syed I, Kyathanahalli, CN, Kowluru A. Phagocyte like NADPH oxidase generates ROS in INS 832/13 cells and rat islets: role of protein prenylation. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2011; 300(3): R756-R762.
- 52. Newsholme P, Rebelato E, Abdulkader F, Krause M, Carpinelli A, Curi R. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species generation, antioxidant defenses, and β-cell function: a critical role for amino acids. Journal of Endocrinology. 2012; 214(1):11-20.
- 53. Oliveira HR, Verlengia R, Carvalho CR, Britto LR, Curi R, Carpinelli AR. Pancreatic betacells express phagocyte like NADPH oxidase. Diabetes. 2003; 52(6): 1457-1463.
- 54. Newsholme P, Haber EP, Hirabara SM, Rebelato ELO, Procopio J, Morgan D, Oliveira-Emilio HC, Carpinelli AR, Curi R. Diabetes associated cell stress and dysfunction: role of mitochondrial and non-mitochondrial ROS production and activity. Journal of Physiology. 2007; 583 (1): 9-24.
- 55. Weaver JR, Holman TR, Imai Y, Jadhav A, Kenyon V, Maloney DJ, Nadler JL, Rai G, Simeonov A, Taylor-Fishwick DA. Integration of pro-inflammatory cytokines, 12lipoxygenase and NOX-1 in pancreatic islet beta cell dysfunction. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2012; 358(1):88-95.



- 56. Kim WH, Lee JW, Goa B, Jung MH. Synergistic activation of JNK/SAPK induced by TNFα and IFN-γ: Apoptosis of pancreatic beta-cells via the p53 and ROS pathway. Cellular Signalling. 2005; 17(12): 1516-1532.
- 57. Morgan D, Oliveira-Emilio HR, Keane D, Hirata AE, Santos da Rocha M, Bordin S, Curi R, Newsholme P, Carpinelli AR. Glucose, palmitate and pro-inflammatory cytokines modulate production and activity of a phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase in rat pancreatic islets and a clonal beta-cell line. Diabetologia. 2007; 50(2): 359-369.
- 58. Kim EK, Kwon KB, Koo BS, Han MJ, Song MY, Song EK, Han MK, Park JW, Ryu DG, Park BH. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ protects pancreatic βcells from cytokine-induced cytotoxicity via NFκB pathway. The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology. 2007; 39(6):1260–1275.
- 59. Barbu A, Welsh N, Saldeen J. Cytokine-induced apoptosis and necrosis are preceded by disruption of the mitochondrial membrane potential (Δψm) in pancreatic RINm5F cells: prevention by Bcl-2. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2002; 190(1-2):75-82.
- 60. Kuttler B, Steveling A, Kloting N, Morgenstern O, Wanka H. Aminoguanidine down regulates expression of cytokine-induced Fas and inducible nitric oxide synthase but not cytokine-enhanced surface antigens of rat islet cells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2003; 66(12):2437–2448.
- 61. Jeong GS, Lee DS, Park BH, Kwon KB, Kim YC. Sauchinone protects pancreatic β cells against cytokine-mediated toxicity. Toxicology In Vitro. 2011; 25(2): 505-512.
- 62. Kim EK, Kwon KB, Song MY, Seo SW, Park SJ, Ka SO, Na L, Kim KA, Ryu DG, So HS, Park R, Park JW, Park BH. Genistein protects pancreatic β cells against cytokinemediated toxicity. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2007; 278(1-2): 18–28.



- 63. Cetkovic-Cvrlje M, Eizirik DL. TNFα and INFγ potentiate the deleterious effects of IL1β on mouse pancreatic islets mainly via generation of nitric oxide. Cytokines. 1994; 4(6): 399-406.
- 64. Lv N, Song MY, Kim EK, Park JW, Kwon KB, Park BH. Guggulsterone, a plant sterol, inhibits NF-κB activation and protects pancreatic β cells from cytokine toxicity. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2008; 289(1-2): 49-59.
- 65. Souza KLA, Gurgul-Convey E, Elsner M, Lenzen S. Interaction between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in insulin-producing cells. Journal of Endocrinology. 2008; 197(1): 139-150.
- 66. Kacheva S, Lenzen S, Gurgul-Concey E. Differential effects of proinflammatory cytokines on cell death and ER stress in insulin-secreting INS1E cells and the involvement of nitric oxide. Cytokine. 2011; 55(2): 195–201.
- 67. Bai-Feng L, Yong-Feng L, Ying C. Silencing inducible nitric oxide synthase protects rat pancreatic islet. Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. 2010; 89(3): 268-275.
- 68. Zaitseva I, Sharoyko V, Størling J, Efendic S, Guerin C, Mandrup-Poulsen T, Nicotera P, Berggren PO, Zaitsev SV. RX871024 reduces NO production but does not protect against pancreatic β-cell death induced by proinflammatory cytokines. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2006; 347(4):1121–1128.
- 69. Blixt M, Niklasson B, Sandler S. Suppression of bank vole pancreatic islet function by proinflammatory cytokines. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2009; 305(1-2): 1–5.
- 70. Andersson AK, Flodstrom M, Sandler S. Cytokine-Induced Inhibition of Insulin Release from Mouse Pancreatic β-Cells Deficient in Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2001; 281(2):396–403.



- 71. Gurgul-Convey E, Mehmeti I, Lortz S, Lenzen S. Cytokine toxicity in insulin-producing cells is mediated by nitro-oxidative stress-induced hydroxyl radical formation in mitochondria. Journal of Molecular Medicine. 2011; 89(8): 785-798.
- 72. Michalska M, Wolf G, Walther R, Newsholme P. Effects of pharmacological inhibition of NADPH oxidase or iNOS on pro-inflammatory cytokine, palmitic acid or H2O2-induced mouse islet or clonal pancreatic β-cell dysfunction. Bioscience Report. 2010: 30(6): 445-453.
- 73. Zhang Z, Ding Y, Dai X, Wang J, Li Y. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate protects proinflammatory cytokine induced injuries in insulin-producing cells through the mitochondrial pathway. European Journal of Pharmacology. 2011; 670(1): 311-316.
- 74. Lakey JR, Suarez-Pinzon W L, Strynadka K, Korbutt G S, Rajotte RV, Mabley JG, Szabó C, Rabinovitch A. Peroxynitrite is a mediator of cytokine-induced destruction of human pancreatic islet beta cells. Lab Investigation. 2001; 81(12): 1683-1692.
- 75. Fonseca SG, Gromada J, Urano F. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and pancreatic β-cell death. Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2011; 22(7):266-274.
- 76. Eizirik DL, Cardozo AK, Cnop M. The role for endoplasmic reticulum stress in diabetes mellitus. Endocrine Reviews. 2008; 29(1):42-61.
- 77. Fonseca SG, Burcin M, Gromada J, Urano F. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in beta-cells and development of diabetes. Current Opinion Pharmacology. 2009; 9(6):763-770.
- 78. Basha B, Samuel SM, Triggle CR, Ding H. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus: possible involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress? Experimental Diabetes Research. 2012; 2012:481840.
- 79. Cardozo AK, Ortis F, Storling J, Feng YM, Rasschaert J, Tonnesen M, Van Eylen F, Mandrup- Poulsen T, Herchuelz A, Eizirik DL. Cytokines down regulate the sarcoendoplasmic reticulum pump Ca2+ ATPase 2b and deplete endoplasmic reticulum



Ca2+, leading to induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in pancreatic beta-cells. Diabetes 2005; 54(2):452–461.

- 80. Kim BC, Kim HG, Lee SA, Lim S, Park EH, Kim SJ, Lim CJ. Genipin-induced apoptosis in hepatoma cells is mediated by reactive oxygen species/c-Jun NH2-terminal kinasedependent activation of mitochondrial pathway. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2005; 70(9):1398-1407.
- 81. Pearson G, Robinson F, Beers Gibson T, Xu BE, Karandikar M, Berman K, Cobb MH. Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. Endocrine Reviews. 2001; 22(2):153-183.
- Kyriakis JM, Avruch J. Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiological Reviews. 2001; 81(2):807-869.
- 83. Verma G, Datta M. The critical role of JNK in the ER-mitochondrial cross talk during apoptotic cell death. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 2012; 227(5):1791-1795.
- 84. Tang G, Minemoto Y, Dibling B, Purcell NH, Li Z, Karin M, Lin A. Inhibition of JNK activation through NF-kappa B target genes. Nature. 2001; 414(6861):313-317.
- 85. Storling J, Juntii-Berggren L, Olivecrona G, Prause MC, Berggren PO, Mandrup-Poulsen
 T. Apolipoprotein C III reduced proinflammatory cytokines-induced apoptosis in rat pancreatic islet via the Akt prosurvival pathway. Endocrinology. 2011; 152(8): 3040-3048.
- 86. Abdelli S, Abderrahmani A, Hering BJ, Beckmann JS, Bonny C. The c-Jun N-terminal kinase JNK participates in cytokine- and isolation stress-induced rat pancreatic islet apoptosis. Diabetologia. 2007; 50(8):1660-1669.
- 87. Abdelli S, Ansite J, Roduit R, Borsello T, Matsumoto I, Sawada TAllaman-Pillet N, HenryH, Beckmann JS, Hering BJ, Bonny C. Intracellular stress signaling pathways activated



during human islet preparation and following acute cytokine exposure. Diabetes. 2004; 53(11):2815-2823.

- Saldeen J, Lee JC, Welsh N. Role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK) in cytokine-induced rat islet cell apoptosis. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2001; 61(12):1561-1569.
- 89. Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Jayaram B, Govind S, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru RA, Kowluru A. Increased phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase and ROS generation in type 2 diabetic ZDF rat and human islets: role of Rac1-JNK1/2 signaling pathway in mitochondrial dysregulation in the diabetic islet. Diabetes. 2011; 60(11):2843-2852.
- 90. Hwang SY, Siow YL, Au-Yeung KK, House J, O K. Folic acid supplementation inhibits NADPH oxidase-mediated superoxide anion production in the kidney. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology. 2011; 300(1): F189-F198.
- 91. Kaminitz A, Stein J, Yaniv I, Askenasy N. The vicious cycle of apoptotic beta-cell death in type 1 diabetes. Immunology Cell Biology. 2007; 85(8):582-589.
- 92. Collier JJ, Fueger PT, Hohmeier HE, Newgard CB. Pro- and antiapoptotic proteins regulate apoptosis but do not protect against cytokine-mediated cytotoxicity in rat islets and beta-cell lines. Diabetes. 2006; 55(5):1398-1406.
- 93. Flodström M, Eizirik DL. Interferon-gamma-induced interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) expression in rodent and human islet cells precedes nitric oxide production. Endocrinology. 1997; 138(7):2747-2753.
- 94. Graciano MF, Santos LR, Curi R, Carpinelli AR. NAD(P)H oxidase participates in the palmitate-induced superoxide production and insulin secretion by rat pancreatic islets. Journal of Cellular Physiology. 2011; 226(4):1110-1117.
- 95. Syed I, Jayaram B, Subasinghe W, Kowluru A. Tiam1/Rac1 signaling pathway mediates palmitate-induced, ceramide-sensitive generation of superoxides and lipid peroxides and



the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in pancreatic beta-cells. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2010; 80(6):874-883.

- 96. Jastroch M. Unraveling the molecular machinery that promotes pancreatic β-cell dysfunction during oxidative stress: focus on "Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase promotes cytokine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic β-cells: evidence for regulation by Rac1". American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 2011; 300(1):R9-R11.
- 97. Leverence JT, Medhora M, Konduri GG, Sampath V. Lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine expression in alveolar epithelial cells: role of PKCζ-mediated p47phox phosphorylation. Chemico-Biological Interaction. 2011; 189(1-2):72-81.
- 98. Li JM, Fan LM, Christie MR, Shah AM. Acute tumor necrosis factor alpha signaling via NADPH oxidase in microvascular endothelial cells: role of p47phox phosphorylation and binding to TRAF4. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2005; 25(6):2320-2330.
- 99. Park GB, Kim YS, Lee HK, Song H, Cho DH, Lee WJ, Hur DY. Endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis of EBV-transformed B cells by cross-linking of CD70 is dependent upon generation of reactive oxygen species and activation of p38 MAPK and JNK pathway. Journal of Immunology. 2010; 185(12):7274-7284.
- 100.Beach A, Burstein MT, Richard VR, Leonov A, Levy S, Titorenko VI. Integration of peroxisomes into an endomembrane system that governs cellular aging. Frontiers in Physiology. 2012; 3:283.
- 101. Manivannan S, Scheckhuber CQ, Veenhuis M, van der Klei IJ. The impact of peroxisomes on cellular aging and death. Frontiers in Oncology. 2012; 2:50.
- 102.Ferreiro E, Baldeiras I, Ferreira IL, Costa RO, Rego AC, Pereira CF, Oliveira CR. Mitochondrial- and endoplasmic reticulum-associated oxidative stress in Alzheimer's



disease: from pathogenesis to biomarkers. International Journal of Cell Biology. 2012; 2012:735206.

- 103.Poitout V, Robertson RP. Glucolipotoxicity: fuel excess and beta-cell dysfunction. Endocrine Review. 2008; 29(3):351-366.
- 104. Koulajian K, Desai T, Liu GC, Ivovic A, Patterson JN, Tang C, El-Benna J, Joseph JW, Scholey JW, Giacca A. NADPH oxidase inhibition prevents beta cell dysfunction induced by prolonged elevation of oleate in rodents. Diabetologia. 2013; 56(5):1078-1087.
- 105. Davis RJ. Signal transduction by the JNK group of MAP kinases. Cell. 2000; 103(2):239-252.
- 106.Pang T, Wang J, Benicky J, Sánchez-Lemus E, Saavedra JM. Telmisartan directly ameliorates the neuronal inflammatory response to IL-1β partly through the JNK/c-Jun and NADPH oxidase pathways. Journal of Neuroinflammation. 2012; 9:102.
- 107.Jin S, Ray RM, Johnson LR. TNF-alpha/cycloheximide-induced apoptosis in intestinal epithelial cells requires Rac1-regulated reactive oxygen species. American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2008; 294(4):G928-G937.
- 108. Minden A, Lin A, Claret FX, Abo A, Karin M. Selective activation of the JNK signaling cascade and c-Jun transcriptional activity by the small GTPases Rac and Cdc42Hs. Cell.1995; 81(7):1147-1157.
- 109.Jin S, Ray RM, Johnson LR. Rac1 mediates intestinal epithelial cell apoptosis via JNK. American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. 2006; 291(6):G1137-G1147.
- 110.Gregg D, Rauscher FM, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ. Rac regulates cardiovascular superoxide through diverse molecular interactions: more than a binary GTP switch. American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology. 2003; 285(4):C723-C734.



- 111.Baldwin AC, Green CD, Olson LK, Moxley MA, Corbett JA. A role for aberrant protein palmitoylation in FFA-induced ER stress and β-cell death. American Journal of Physiology- Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2012; 302(11):E1390-E1398.
- 112.Grunnet LG, Aikin R, Tonnesen MF, Paraskevas S, Blaabjerg L, Størling J, Rosenberg L, Billestrup N, Maysinger D, Mandrup-Poulsen T. Proinflammatory cytokines activate the intrinsic apoptotic pathway in beta-cells. Diabetes. 2009; 58(8):1807-1815.
- 113.Goffeau A, Barrell BG, Bussey H, Davis RW, Dujon B, Feldmann H, Galibert F, Hoheisel JD, Ja cq C, Johnston M, Louis EJ, Mewes HW, Murakami Y, Philippsen P, Tettelin H, Oliver SG. Life with 6000 genes. Science. 1996; 274(5287):546-567.
- 114.Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature. 2001; 409(6822):860-921.
- 115.Olavarría VH, Figueroa JE, Mulero V. Prolactin-induced activation of phagocyte NADPH oxidase in the teleost fish gilthead seabream involves the phosphorylation of p47phox by protein kinase C. Developmental and Comparative Immunology. 2012; 36(1):216-221.
- 116.Cantley J, Boslem E, Laybutt DR, Cordery DV, Pearson G, Carpenter L, Leitges M, Biden TJ. Deletion of protein kinase Cδ in mice modulates stability of inflammatory genes and protects against cytokine-stimulated beta cell death in vitro and in vivo. Diabetologia. 2011; 54(2):380-389.
- 117. Munday AD, López JA. Posttranslational protein palmitoylation: promoting platelet purpose. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology. 2007; 27(7):1496-1499.
- 118.Blaskovic S, Blanc M, van der Goot FG. What does S-palmitoylation do to membrane proteins? The FEBS Journal. 2013; 280(12):2766-2774.
- 119.Bijlmakers MJ, Marsh M. The on-off story of protein palmitoylation. Trends in Cell Biology. 2003; 13(1):32-42.



- 120. Keith DJ, Sanderson JL, Gibson ES, Woolfrey KM, Robertson HR, Olszewski K, Kang R, El-Husseini A, Dell'acqua ML. Palmitoylation of A-kinase anchoring protein 79/150 regulates dendritic endosomal targeting and synaptic plasticity mechanisms. The Journal of Neuroscience. 2012; 32(21):7119-7136.
- 121.Sahu SK, Gummadi SN, Manoj N, Aradhyam GK. Phospholipid scramblases: an overview. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 2007; 462(1):103-114.
- 122. He M, Jenkins P, Bennett V. Cysteine 70 of ankyrin-g is s-palmitoylated and is required for function of ankyrin-g in membrane domain assembly. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2012; 287(52):43995-44005.
- 123. Christgau S, Aanstoot HJ, Schierbeck H, Begley K, Tullin S, Hejnaes K, Baekkeskov S. Membrane anchoring of the autoantigen GAD65 to microvesicles in pancreatic beta-cells by palmitoylation in the NH2-terminal domain. The Journal of Cell Biology. 1992; 118(2):309-320.
- 124.Zacharias DA, Mullen M, Planey SL. Antiproliferative factor-induced changes in phosphorylation and palmitoylation of cytoskeleton-associated protein-4 regulate its nuclear translocation and DNA binding. International Journal of Cell Biology. 2012; 2012:150918.
- 125. Sharma C, Rabinovitz I, Hemler ME. Palmitoylation by DHHC3 is critical for the function, expression, and stability of integrin α6β4. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 2012; 69(13):2233-44.
- 126.Lakkaraju AK, Abrami L, Lemmin T, Blaskovic S, Kunz B, Kihara A, Dal Peraro M, van der Goot FG. Palmitoylated calnexin is a key component of the ribosome-translocon complex. The EMBO Journal. 2012; 31(7):1823-1835.



- 127. Zheng H, Pearsall EA, Hurst DP, Zhang Y, Chu J, Zhou Y, Reggio PH, Loh HH, Law PY. Palmitoylation and membrane cholesterol stabilize μ-opioid receptor homodimerization and G protein coupling. BMC Cell Biology. 2012; 13:6.
- 128. Botham A, Guo X, Xiao YP, Morice AH, Compton SJ, Sadofsky LR. Palmitoylation of human proteinase-activated receptor-2 differentially regulates receptor-triggered ERK1/2 activation, calcium signalling and endocytosis. The Biochemical Journal. 2011; 438(2):359-367.
- 129.Zuckerman DM, Hicks SW, Charron G, Hang HC, Machamer CE. Differential regulation of two palmitoylation sites in the cytoplasmic tail of the beta1-adrenergic receptor. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2011; 286(21):19014-19023.
- 130. Kokkola T, Kruse C, Roy-Pogodzik EM, Pekkinen J, Bauch C, Hönck HH, Hennemann H, Kreienkamp HJ. Somatostatin receptor 5 is palmitoylated by the interacting ZDHHC5 palmitoyltransferase. FEBS Letters. 2011; 585(17):2665-2670.
- 131.Bastin G, Singh K, Dissanayake K, Mighiu AS, Nurmohamed A, Heximer SP. Aminoterminal cysteine residues differentially influence RGS4 protein plasma membrane targeting, intracellular trafficking, and function. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2012; 287(34):28966-28974.
- 132. Heakal Y, Woll MP, Fox T, Seaton K, Levenson R, Kester M. Neurotensin receptor-1 inducible palmitoylation is required for efficient receptor-mediated mitogenic-signaling within structured membrane microdomains. Cancer Biology and Therapy. 2011; 12(5):427-435.
- 133. Aittaleb M, Nishimura A, Linder ME, Tesmer JJ. Plasma membrane association of p63 Rhoguanine nucleotide exchange factor (p63RhoGEF) is mediated by palmitoylation and



is required for basal activity in cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2011; 286(39):34448-34456.

- 134. Straub SG, Yajima H, Komatsu M, Aizawa T, Sharp GW. The effects of cerulenin, an inhibitor of protein acylation, on the two phases of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. Diabetes. 2002; 51(Suppl. 1):S91-S95.
- 135. Yajima H, Komatsu M, Yamada S, Straub SG, Kaneko T, Sato Y, Yamauchi K, Hashizume K, Sharp GW, Aizawa T. Cerulenin, an inhibitor of protein acylation, selectively attenuates nutrient stimulation of insulin release: a study in rat pancreatic islets. Diabetes. 2000; 49(5):712-717.
- 136. Deeney JT, Gromada J, Høy M, Olsen HL, Rhodes CJ, Prentki M, Berggren PO, Corkey BE. Acute stimulation with long chain acyl-CoA enhances exocytosis in insulin-secreting cells (HIT T-15 and NMRI beta-cells). The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000; 275(13):9363-9368.
- 137. Yamada S, Komatsu M, Sato Y, Yamauchi K, Aizawa T, Kojima I. Nutrient modulation of palmitoylated 24-kilodalton protein in rat pancreatic islets. Endocrinology. 2003; 144(12):5232-5241.
- 138.Haber EP, Hirabara SM, Gomes AD, Curi R, Carpinelli AR, Carvalho CR. Palmitate modulates the early steps of insulin signalling pathway in pancreatic islets. FEBS Letters. 2003; 544(1-3):185-188.
- 139. Abdel-Ghany M, Sharp GW, Straub SG. Glucose stimulation of protein acylation in pancreatic beta-cells. Life Sciences. 2010; 87(23-26):667-671.
- 140. Warnotte C, Gilon P, Nenquin M, Henquin JC. Mechanisms of the stimulation of insulin release by saturated fatty acids. A study of palmitate effects in mouse beta-cells. Diabetes. 1994; 43(5):703-711.



- 141.Parker SM, Moore PC, Johnson LM, Poitout V. Palmitate potentiation of glucoseinduced insulin release: a study using 2-bromopalmitate. Metabolism. 2003; 52(10):1367-1371.
- 142. Cheng H, Straub SG, Sharp GW. Protein acylation in the inhibition of insulin secretion by norepinephrine, somatostatin, galanin, and PGE2. American Journal of Physiology, Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2003; 285(2):E287-E294.
- 143. Wang Z, Thurmond DC. Mechanisms of biphasic insulin-granule exocytosis roles of the cytoskeleton, small GTPases and SNARE proteins. Journal of Cell Sciences. 2009; 122(Pt7):893-903.
- 144. Jayaram B, Syed I, Kyathanahalli CN, Rhodes CJ, Kowluru A. Arf nucleotide binding site opener [ARNO] promotes sequential activation of Arf6, Cdc42 and Rac1 and insulin secretion in INS 832/13 β-cells and rat islets. Biochemical Pharmacology. 2011; 81(8):1016-1027.
- 145. Navarro-Lérida I, Sánchez-Perales S, Calvo M, Rentero C, Zheng Y, Enrich C, Del Pozo MA. A palmitoylation switch mechanism regulates Rac1 function and membrane organization. The EMBO Journal. 2012; 31(3):534-551.
- 146.Kang R, Wan J, Arstikaitis P, Takahashi H, Huang K, Bailey AO, Thompson JX, Roth AF, Drisdel RC, Mastro R, Green WN, Yates JR 3rd, Davis NG, El-Husseini A. Neural palmitoyl-proteomics reveals dynamic synaptic palmitoylation. Nature. 2008; 456(7224):904-909.
- 147. Nishimura A, Linder ME. Identification of a novel prenyl, palmitoyl CaaX modification of Cdc42 that regulates RhoGDI binding. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2013; 33(7):1417-1429.



- 148. Kowluru A, Seavey SE, Rhodes CJ, Metz SA. A novel regulatory mechanism for trimeric GTP-binding proteins in the membrane and secretory granule fractions of human and rodent beta cells. The Biochemical Journal. 1996; 313(Pt1):97-107.
- 149. Kowluru A. Emerging roles for protein histidine phosphorylation in cellular signal transduction: lessons from the islet beta-cell. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 2008; 12(5B):1885-1908.
- 150. Chisari M, Saini DK, Kalyanaraman V, Gautam N. Shuttling of G protein subunits between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2007; 282(33):24092-24098.
- 151. Saini DK, Chisari M, Gautam N. Shuttling and translocation of heterotrimeric G proteins and Ras. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 2009; 30(6):278-286.
- 152. Veluthakal R, Chvyrkova I, Tannous M, McDonald P, Amin R, Hadden T, Thurmond DC, Quon MJ, Kowluru A. Essential role for membrane lipid rafts in interleukin-1beta-induced nitric oxide release from insulin-secreting cells: potential regulation by caveolin-1+. Diabetes. 2005; 54(9):2576-2585.
- 153. Aicart-Ramos C, Valero RA, Rodriguez-Crespo I. Protein palmitoylation and subcellular trafficking. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 2011; 1808(12):2981-2994.
- 154. Yang G, Liu Y, Yang K, Liu R, Zhu S, Coquinco A, Wen W, Kojic L, Jia W, Cynader M. Isoform-specific palmitoylation of JNK regulates axonal development. Cell Death and Differentiation. 2012; 19(4):553-561.
- 155. Desai LP, White SR, Waters CM. Cyclic mechanical stretch decreases cell migration by inhibiting phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-and focal adhesion kinase-mediated JNK1 activation. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2010; 285(7):4511-4519.



- 156. Goalstone M, Kamath V, Kowluru A. Glucose activates prenyltransferases in pancreatic islet beta-cells. Biochemical Biophysical Research Communication. 2010; 391(1):895-898.
- 157. Kowluru A, Veluthakal R, Rhodes CJ, Kamath V, Syed I, Koch BJ. Protein farnesylationdependent Raf/extracellular signal-related kinase signaling links to cytoskeletal remodeling to facilitate glucose-induced insulin secretion in pancreatic beta-cells. Diabetes. 2010; 59(4):967-977.
- 158. Kim KW, Chung HH, Chung CW, Kim IK, Miura M, Wang S, Zhu H, Moon KD, Rha GB, Park JH, Jo DG, Woo HN, Song YH, Kim BJ, Yuan J, Jung YK. Inactivation of farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase I by caspase-3: cleavage of the common alpha subunit during apoptosis. Oncogene. 2001; 20(3):358-366.



ABSTRACT

MECHANISMS OF CYTOKINE-INDUCED METABOLIC DYSFUNCTION OF THE PANCREATIC BETA-CELL

by

ABIY MUSSA MOHAMMED

August 2013

Advisor: Dr. Anjaneyulu Kowluru

Major: Pharmaceutical Sciences

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Type I diabetes is characterized by an absolute insulin deficiency due to loss of pancreatic β -cell mass by autoimmune aggression. During the progression of the disease proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF α and INF γ are secreted by infiltrated and activated T-cells and macrophages which ultimately damage the pancreatic β -cell. However, the signaling mechanisms involved in cytokine-induced damage are only partially understood. Phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase [NOX2] has been shown to play regulatory roles in the metabolic dysfunction of the islet β -cell under the duress of glucolipotoxic conditions and exposure to proinflammatory cytokines. However, the precise mechanisms underlying NOX2 activation by these stimuli remain less understood. Herein, I determined some of the putative cellular mechanisms underlying proinflammatory cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction and demise of the islet β -cell. Some of the novel findings of my study are: [i] cytokines induce ROS generation and oxidative stress *via* activation of phagocyte-like NADPH-oxidase [NOX2] such effects are comprised of Rac1 activation, p47phox phosphorylation, and gp91phox expression. I further confirmed that NOX2 is one of the sources for ROS generation under proinflammatory cytokines and glucotoxic conditions as



demonstrated by activation of NOX2 activity which is sensitive to apocynin under those conditions; [ii] 2-Bromopalmitate, a classic inhibitor of protein palmitoylation, markedly attenuated cytokine-induced Rac1 activation, NOX2-mediated reactive oxygen species generation and inducible nitric oxide synthase-mediated nitric oxide release indicating that palmitoylation of specific G-proteins [e.g., H-Ras and Rac1] is a key regulatory step involved in cytokine-induced nitrosative and oxidative stress.

In addition to oxidative and nitrosative stress, the effect of cytokines in other stress related signaling pathways were also examined. Cytokines activated JNK1/2 and p38 MAPK kinases. They also increased CHOP [C/EBP homologous protein] expression, a marker for endoplasmic reticulum stress, caused caspase-3 activation and FTase and GGTase degradation which leads to defective activation of key G-proteins, defective nuclear membrane assembly and loss in cell viability. Pharmacological inhibitors such as 2-bromopalmitate [inhibitor of palmitoylation], EHop-016 [inhibitor of Vav2-Rac1 axis] and NSC23766 [inhibitor of Tiam1-Rac1 axis] attenuated cytokine-induced JNK1/2 activation implying that Rac1 is upstream to cytokine-induced JNK1/2 activation. Based on the results obtained from my studies, I propose that protein palmitoyl transferase is a novel therapeutic target for the prevention of cytokine-induced metabolic dysfunction of the islet β-cell.

As a logical extension of the *in vitro* studies, a preliminary work has been done in the NOD [non obese diabetic] mice, an animal model of Type I diabetes, and the results showed that both the islets of NOD and control mice express the NOX2 subunits namely, $p47^{phox}$, $p67^{phox}$, Rac1 and $gp91^{phox}$.

المنسارات للاستشارات

AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

EDUCATION:

•	PhD Pharmaceutical sciences	s, Wayne	State University,	Detroit, MI	2009-2013
---	-----------------------------	----------	-------------------	-------------	-----------

- MSc Neuropharmacology, National University of Ireland, Galway 2008-2009
- MSc Pharmacology, Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia 2004-2007
- **DVM** Addis Ababa University, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia 1995-2002

AWARDS:

- Summer Dissertation Fellowship, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Wayne State University, 2013.
- Thomas C. Rumble University Graduate Fellowship, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Wayne State University, 2012-2013.
- George Fuller Endowed Scholarship, Department of Pharmaceutical sciences, Wayne State University, 2012.
- Graduate Research Assistantship 2009-2011.
- International Scholarship Award, National University of Ireland, Galway, 2008/2009.

PUBLICATIONS:

- Syeda K, Mohammed AM, Kowluru A. Glucotoxic conditions promote caspase-3 mediated lamin B degradation in the pancreatic β-cells: Protection by nifedipine [2013: Submitted]
- Mohammed AM, Chen F, Kowluru A. The Two Faces of Protein Palmitoylation in Islet β-Cell Function: Potential Implications in the Pathophysiology of Islet Metabolic Dysregulation and Diabetes. Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov. 2013. [Epub ahead of print]
- 3. **Mohammed AM**, Kowluru A. Activation of apocynin-sensitive NADPH oxidase [Nox2] activity in INS-1 832/13 cells under glucotoxic conditions. Islets. 2013; 5(3).
- 4. **Mohammed AM**, Syeda K, Hadden T, Kowluru A. Upregulation of phagocyte-like NADPH oxidase by cytokines in pancreatic beta-cells: attenuation of oxidative and nitrosative stress by 2-bromopalmitate. Biochem Pharmacol. 2013; 85(1):109-14.
- 5. Arora DK, **Mohammed AM**, Kowluru A. Nifedipine prevents etoposide-induced caspase-3 activation, prenyl transferase degradation and loss in cell viability in pancreatic β-cells. Apoptosis. 2013; 18(1):1-8.
- 6. Angoa-Pérez M, Kane MJ, Francescutti DM, Sykes KE, Shah MM, **Mohammed AM**, Thomas DM, Kuhn DM. Mephedrone, an abused psychoactive component of 'bath salts' and methamphetamine congener, does not cause neurotoxicity to dopamine nerve endings of the striatum. J Neurochem. 2012; 120(6):1097-107.

